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Excellent

Execution

For Qur
Shareholders

Avalon Chrystie Place, NY

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

We enjoyed a number of accomplishments in 2007, accomplishments that became more
meaningful and noteworthy during the year as the public real estate and capital markets

adjusted to reflect increased uncertainty in the economic cutlock.

The year began on a pesitive note with our entry into the S&P 500 Index and completion
of an opportunistic equity offering. By mid-year, market volatilicy sparked by the sub-prime
crisis became the tipping point for a global re-pricing of risk. Although our operating funda-
mentals remained solid throughout the year, the impact of this re-pricing was felt by all asset

classes, including public valuation of our apartment assets.

At a time of increased volatility in the financial markets, we remain committed to building
value through Excellent Execution, adjusting our plans to aptimize performance in an uncer-
tain market climate. In this letter, we'll look back at 2007 and forward to 2008 and beyond,
discussing the economic outlook and its impact on the fundamentals of our business chart sup-
port earnings growth and mirigate risk. We'll also highlight Exceflens Execution in several areas
of our business which over time have supported a business model that consistently delivers

sector leading operating and investment returns to investors.
2007 IN REVIEW

In lasc year's reporr, Building Value was the theme we established to recognize the multiple
growth platforms — new development, redevelopment, operations, and investment management

— that create value for sharehalders. Much was accomplished in 2007 through these platforms:

* Net Operating Income (NOI) from our Same Store portfolio

TOTAL SHAREHOLDER HETURN® increased 7.2%, driven by revenue growth of 5.5% and modest

30.0%

25.0%

15.0%

Compound Annual Growth Rare

expense growth of 2.1%.

* Funds from Operations (FFQ) increased 8.7% or 13.4% after
adjusting for land sales. This was our third consecutive year of 10%+

growth in FFO after adjusting for land sales.

* We delivered eight communities containing over 1,700 apartment
homes with a Total Capital Cost of $440 million. Development

underway and in planning grew to $6 billion.

"

3 year
@® AVB @ Muliifamily Sector Avg. @ S&P .
Source: SNI. Financial

2 AvalonBay Communities, Inc.

5 year

10 year

We selectively sold $275 million in assets, generating an Economic
Gain of $145 million and an 18% Unleveraged IRR on our invest-

ment, confirming the value created through our investment acrivities.




Annual Operating Expense Growth

* We acquired $325 million in new communities, and expanded our redevelopment
activity, completing the renovation of five communities and starting redevelopment of

four communities.

* We completed the initial investment of capital sourced from our discretionary institutional

investment management fund.
These results provide the support for our actions aimed at returning value to our shareholders:

* In 2007, our Board of Directors raised the dividend 9.0% and in February of this year
approved an increase of 5.0% in our dividend. Over the last ten years, our dividend has

increased over 100%, more than twice the Multifamily Sector Average.

» We opportunistically expanded our share repurchasing program, acquiring $300 million
in the latter half of 2007 and early 2008.

* The strong headwinds faced by the REIT

CONTROLLING EXPENSESH . .
sector in 2007 were reflected in our

:.:: returns for 2007. We experienced the first

decline in Total Sharcholder Return since
0% 2002: -25%. Longer term, Total Shareholder
30% Rerurn has been outstanding, with average
0% % annual returns of 11%, 24% and 15%
1.0% over a 3, 5 and 10 year period, respectively.
0.0% These returns reflect the value and dura-

2004 2005 2006 2007
® AVE O Muhifamily Sector Avg,
Source: Green Streer Advisors, SNIL Financial

bility of a business model that has delivered
ousized risk adjusted returns over an entire

business cycle.

And finally, AvalonBay was recognized for its success in taking care of the residents who call our
communities their home. We were honored with the “Property Management Company of the
Year” award by the National Association of Home Builders. This award recognizes that financial
success in our industry is built on well managed properties tended by first-class associates pro-

viding an ourtstanding living experience to our residents.

‘Turning to the economy and capital markets, weakness in the for-sale housing market is impact-
ing economic growth. Unsold inventory reached record levels and home prices are declining in
most markets. As expected, job growth - a key driver of renter demand - slowed steadily during
2007, driven by the loss of 400,000 jobs in housing related industries.

€ /4NN 3

Avzlon Danvers, MA

AvalonBay Communities, inc. 3



Excellent

Execution

Finding Extraordinary
Opportunities to Create
Unique Communities

The redevelopment of a
prominent historic landmark
on Boston's North Shore
showcased our develop-
ment talents. By adaptively
reusing the historic build-
ing and adding a variety

of building and apartment
styles targeted to different
demographic segments, we
created both an attractive
community and an attractive
investment. Since comple-
tian, Avalon Danvers has
garnered considerable local,
regional and natiocnal atten-
tion and added to our repu-
tation as a market leader.

d ArvafonBay Communities, e,

The weakness in housing spread to the capital markers, as rising delinquencies in lower qual-
ity mortgage loans led o a broad re-pricing of risk among many asset classes. The “sub-prime
mottgage” was a new term for many of us - a little known but large segment of the mort-
gage markee thar became the big story in 2007, Credic markets contracted, liquidity became
constrained and the cost of credit as measured by spreads widened. Our financial flexibiliry
enabled us to respond to tightening capital markets by expanding our existing unsecured

credir facilicy by $350 million to $1 billion, providing additional cost effective capiral.

THE APARTMENT MARKET: CURRENT FUNDAMENTALS AND OUTLOOK

Going into 2008, third parry forecasts suggest that GDP and job growth will be at levels below
long-term averages, While a slower economy metits caution in our outlook for 2008, other

factors work in favor of apartment demand in our markets:

* We expect the economics of renting vs. buying will continue to favor rental aparements
for the next several years. While falling home prices should marginally improve affordabil-
ity, the cost of home ownership will remain higher in our markets compared to elsewhere
in the U.S. Further, tighrer tending restricrions are likely to limit the number of current

renters that are able to qualify for a mortgage and purchase a home.

* Demographic changes will

ensure a steady increase in ACCELERATING RENTER POPULATION®
new tenters, as the age
segmenes with the greatest
propensity to rent are
expected to grow. According
to the National Multi-
Housing Council, demo-
graphic  changes  should
add 150,000 renters annu-

ally over the next five years.

US Populations Age 20-34 (millions)

2005 20068 2007 20088 2009E 2030E 2019E 2012€ 2013E

. Apar[mcn t construction Seurce: National Multi-Housing Counvil

levels will remain at or below

historic levels in most of our markets in 2008. Some unsold housing inventory is being
converted to rental housing by their owners. However, this ‘shadow’ supply is less of a factos
in our markets compared to overbuilt matkets in the Southwest and Florida, supporting

our strategy of choosing supply-constrained markets.

201aE 20156
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U.S. Homeownetship Rate
{Dara Through 40Q 2007}

DECLINING HOMEOWNERSHIP®
695% e Over the last 24 months,
the homeownership rate
69.0% .
has declined from over
68.5% 69% 10 approximately
68% and is predicred

to continue falling. For

68.0%

B25% every 1% decline in

67.0% L L L L L 1 b home ownership, an
2000 2000 2002 2003 2004 2005 2008 2007 estimated 500,000 rent-

Source: Censur Bureau €rs emerge.

RESPONDING TO CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES:
EXCELLENT EXECUTION

Embedded in our continuous focus on Excellent Execution is the practical reality that what
we do is hard. Whar follows are examples of value creation through Fxcellent Execution by
AvalonBay: in our high barrier-to-entry markets, in the diversity of the product we deliver,
in our intense focus on our customer and in our flexible capiral structure, all of which creare,

preserve and enhance value,

Excellent Execution in Our High Barrier-to-Entry Markets

The markets in which we operate are very competitive markets to secure land, difficule
markets to secure entitlements and expensive markets in which o build. Here are a few
examples of how our development teams around the country respond to the challenges

imposed by our markets:

« In New York Ciry, we acquired a development site with spectacular views along the East
River. The site required a clean-up plan to remove contaminated soil. Executed under
the direction of AvalonBay's construction division, all excavation and soil removal was
carried out under a tent thar covered an area bigger than a football field. Recently
completed, our Avalon Riverview North high-rise community is leasing at rental rates well

above projected levels.

In che San Francisco Bay Area, we agreed to manage construction of a 1,500-car,
$45 million parking structure for the BART transit agency to secure approval for our
Avalon ac Dublin Station apartment community located adjacent to a key BART
station. The challenges imposed by this construction effectively eliminated most of
our competitors, and our efforts directly resulted in our winning conrol of development
opportunities adjacent to two other BART stations. [n rotal, these three sites represent

$469 million of development opportunities at three of the regions key transit nodes.

Excellent

Execution

2007 Property Management
Company of theYear

—
o ———

Atards
2007
ProperTy Max !
CoMpANY OF THE YEAR

O Avalon

Luve in an Award Winning Community”

e — e e b —

Qver the years, we've
implemented a series of
initiatives to build a “culiure
of service” within both our
communities and the orga-
nization: cusiomer research,
full-service call centers,
advance training for associ-
ates and innovative recruit-
ing. We're proud AvalonBay
was cited for our ability to
employ “strategic cutting
edge technologies to control
operating expenses’ while
at the same time providing
an unparalleled living expe-
rience for our residents.

Avaton Bty Commmnnites, e,




Excellent

Execution

Focusing on our Customer

To ensure that we continue
delivering great service

to our residents, we have
opened a new, state-of-the-
art Customer Care Center
(CCC). Certain accounting
and administrative func-
tions, once the responsibility
of the Community Manager
at each of our 184 communi-
ties, are being centralized
and transferred to special-
ists at the CCC.This frees up
more time for associates at
our communities to focus
on leasing and meeting

the needs of our residents.
Functions are being trans-
ferred by region and we
expect the CCC to be fully
operational by mid-2009.

8 AvalonBay Commmnities, e,

* Over the years, we've built entire utility infrastructures (roads, water treatment plants),
redeveloped hospirals int apartments and built a golf course, marina and ball fields as

part of the approval process.
Through Excellent Execution, challenges become opportunities.

Excellent Execution in the Product We Deliver
To meet the needs of our customers, we've developed an expertise in both building and oper-

ating a broad range of apartment communities.

* From parden apartments to 50-story high rise buildings, our integrated in-house
construction and development plarform allows us to achieve berter control over qualiry, cost
and schedule. Centralized support for design, estimating and purchasing, and established
processes help optimize value creation while mitigating risk. It's why we have delivered over

$3 billion of new construction within + 3% of the original budgets over the pasr ten years.

* A retail component is often PROVEN TRACK RECORDE

required for new develop- 800 12.0%
ment to compete SuUCcess- w150 10.0%
fully in urban markets. By 8.0%
incorporating inte  our g B 8.0%
.. . 2 4.0%

communities quality gro- 3 swo
2.0%

-] &
cers such as Whole Foods E e J 0%
and Safeway®, and other o 0%
retailers such as Starbucks® -4.0%
and Panera®, we create 18300 - B.0%
1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
veni fe i-

convenience tor our res ® Development Completed = Total Capical Cost Over/(Under) Budgeted Cost

dents and add value to our
communities, Over the

eats, we've added experienced retail professionals and new systems to supporr retail.
y P p Y Pp

Excellent Execution through Focus en Our Customer
Our residents pay the highest average rent in our sector and they expect grear service. We con-
tinucusly seek to improve the way we do business on-site, minimizing administrative efforc and

providing more time for customer focused activities:

* Our new Customer Care Center in Virginia Beach, VA is the result of a major iniriative to
centralize on-site operations such as processing lease applications, rent checks, invoices,
lease renewals and resident inquiries. Adding other corporate functions in accounting,

paytoll and accounts payable adds critical mass in a lower cost location.
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* Using new technology, we implemented an online survey process o gauge resident
satisfaction. We receive real-time feedback from residents at three critical touchpoints
- move-in, renewal and meve-out - allowing our onsite teams to address customer

concerns and promptly make changes to our daily operarions.

b33 1)

Excellent Execution in Qur Capital Structure

Our balance sheet provides flexibility to match the most attractive source of capital with our

LTEN WAVER ™S

investment activity, as evidenced by these impressive metrics (as of December 31, 2007):

”
A4
v
%
A
1
-
o

*» A Fixed Charge Ratio of 4.1 supports our ability to service debt obligations.

* Unencumbered assets exceed 80%, providing financial Aexibility for uncertain capital

marker conditions,
* Debre to Total Marker Capiralization is just 30%.

* Floating rate debt makes up just 10% of our capital structure, providing modest interest

rate risk while better matching interest rate trends with revenue trends.
* A Dividend Payout Ratio of 74% supports a safe and growing dividend.

Whether through our $1 billion credit facility,
FLEXIBLE CAPITAL STRUCTURE®

Total Fixed-Rate
Dcbt 20%

selling assets at artractive prices, or harvesting

value through the sale of parinership interests,
financial flexibility allows us to access a variety of

Total Variable-Rate

capital sources ar a time when the capital markets Dbt 10%

are volatile and liquidiry is constrained.

LOOKING FORWARD Equity
70%

Excellent Execution is both a timely and timeless
element of our successful strategy of more deeply
penetrating our chosen markets with a broad range of producis and services and with an intense
Jocus on our customer. In a time of increased economic volatility, our plan for 2008 provides

us with the flexibility to create value from several growth platforms:

AvalonWilshire, CA

10 AvalonBay Communities, Inc.




10-Year Compound Annua! Growth Rate

* We add value through development. We have $6 billion either under construction or in
planning. With our recent initial development yields approximately 150 basis points
above marker Cap Rartes, the implied initial profit margin on our new investment activity

is attractive.

 We add value by redeveloping existing assets. We reorganized our investments and construc-
tion groups to create a team of associates solely dedicated to redeveloping existing assets.

We anticipate 19 communities will be in redevelopment during 2008.

* We add value through our existing portfolio of operating apartments. We anticipate NOI
growth of 3.0% to 4.5% in 2008, providing cash flow and value growth from a large base of

stabilized assets.
=1

Avalon Shrewsbury, MA
Qur extended track record of out-performance

in such key metrics as NAV, FFO and dividend

LONG-TERM OUTPERFORMANCE"2¥

25.0%
growth could only be accomplished through a
20.0% sustained level of Exrelfent Execution. We have a
seasoned management team that understands how

15.0%
to maximize value during all phases of a real estace
10.0% cycle. Our time tested straregy has delivered long-
term performance near the top of the sector in the

5.0% . . .
most important atcributes investors value — earn-
0.0% . ; ings growth, NAV, dividends and Total Sharcholder
FFO NAV Toral Return. A durable seracegy thar, through Excellent
Shareholder . . ,
Return Execution, will support value creation for years
® AVE  © Muliifamily Sector Avg. to come.

Source: SNL Financial, Green Streer Advisors

As always, we thank our shareholders for their continued support, our associares for their out-

standing results and our residents for making an AvalonBay community their home.

BRYCE BLAIR
CHAIRMAN & CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Avalon on the Sound East, NY

AvalonBay Communisies, Inc. 11



NOTES & NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES AND OTH :M

NOTES

Total Shareholder Return: The change in value over the period
stated with all dividends reinvested. Total Shareholder Return
is sometimes presented as the compound annual growth rate.
The Total Shareholder Return for ¢ach year within the time-
frame presented may vary.

Estimated NAV per Share Growth: The compound annual
growth rare of Estimated NAV per Share as estimated by Green
Streer Advisors, Inc, during the periods indicated. Estimated
NAV per Share Growth for each year within the timeframe
presented may vary,

FFO per Share Growth: The compound annual growth rate of
FFO per Shate as reperted duting rhe period stated. FFO per
Share Growth for each year within the timeframe ptesented
may vary.

Operating Expense Growth: Operating expense growth for
the same-unit pool was compiled from individual company
documents and published by Green Streer Advisors, Inc. Full
year change is based on the average of the four quarters for
each year, o reflect the changes in properties included in
same-unit results.

Accelerating Renter Population: Assumes 60% renter pro-
pensity within 20-34 year old age cohort, per National
Multi-Housing Council estimartes.

Homeownership Rate: Defined as percentage of total occu-
pied U.S. households that are owner-occupied. Latest data as
of Fourth Quarter 2007.

Development Completed represents Total Capital Cost of
annual completions.

Percentages for Equity and Fixed and Variable Rate Debe
represent the dollar amounts for each as a percentage of the
Company’s Total Market Capitalization at December 31,
2007 (see "Leverage™).

12 AvalonBay Conmntunities, Inc.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES AND OTHER TERMS

The following non-GAAT financial measures and other terms, as
used in this Annual Report, including the Letter to Sharehold-
ers, are defined and further explained herein on pages 61-65 in
the section titled “Definitions and Reconciliations of Non-GAAD
Financial Measures and Other Terms” and in the notes above:

Met Asser Value (NAV)

Fixed Charge Coverage (Interest Coverage)

Funds from Operations (FFQO)

Inirial Year Marker Capitalization Rate (Cap Rate)

Leverage

Mukifamily REIT Sector Average

Net Operating Income (NOI)
Projecred NOI

.

Toral Capital Cost

-

Economic Gain

»

Same Store (Established) Communities

Srabilized/Restabilized Operations

Dividend Payout Ratio
Unleveraged IRR

* Stock Performance Graph

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report, including the Letter to Sharcholders, con-
tain; “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the
Securities Acr of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
Please see our discussion titled “Forward-Looking Statements™ on
page 28 of this report for a discussion regarding risks associated
with these statements.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table provides historical consolidated financial, operating and other data for AvalonBay Communities, Inc. You should read che
table with our Censolidated Financial Statements and the Notes included in chis repor:.

For the year ended

{Deollars in thousands, except per share information) 12-31-07 12-31-06 12-31-035 12-31-04 12-31-03
Revenue:
Rental and other income $ 806,599 § 715,170 $ 650,907 $ 598,656 $ 545,794
Management, development: and other fees 6,142 6,259 4,304 604 896
Total revenue 812,741 721,429 655,211 599,260 546,690
Expenses;
Operaring expenses, excluding property taxes 242,702 217,134 137,990 187,804 169,039
Property taxes 74,912 606,786 63,975 57.907 32,215
Interest expense, net 97,545 169,184 125,171 129,106 128,183
Depreciation expense 179,549 160,442 156,455 149,721 137,311
General and administrative expense 28,494 24,767 25,761 18,074 14,830
Total expenses 623,202 578,313 569,352 542,612 501,578
Equity in income of unconsolidared enticies 59,169 7,455 7,198 1,100 25,535
Venture partner interest in profit-sharing — — — (1,178) (1,688)
Minority interest in consolidated partnerships {1,583) (573) (1,481) (150} (950)
Gain on sale of communities 545 13,519 4,479 1,138 1,234
Income from continuing operations before
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 247,668 163,517 96,055 57,558 69,243
Discontinued operations:
Income from discontinued operations 4,005 5,618 19,126 24,387 33,504
(Gain on sale of communities 106,487 97.411 195,287 121,287 159,756
Total discontinued operations 110,492 103,029 214,413 145,674 193,260
[ncome before cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle 358,160 266,546 310,468 203,232 262,503
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — — — 4,547 —
Net income 358,160 266,546 310,468 207,779 262,503
Dividends attributable to preferred stock (8,700 (8,700} (8,700} (8,700) (10,744)
Net income available to commeon stockholders $ 349,460 § 257,846 $ 301,768 $ 199,079 $ 251,759

Per Commen Share and Share [nformation:

Earnings per common share—basic:
Income from continuing operations
(net of dividends atcributable to preferred stock) $ 3.04 § 2.09 $ 1.20 $ 0.75 3 0.85
Discontinued operations 140 1.39 2.94 2.03 2.82

Net income available to commen stockholders $ 4.44 § 3.48 $ 4.14 $ 2.78 $ 3.67

Weighted average common shares

outstanding—basic 78,680,043 74,125,795 72,952,492 71,564,202 68,559,657

Earnings per common share—dilured:
Income from continuing operations
(net of dividends atributable to preferred stock) $ 3.00 $ 2.06 $ 1.18 $ 0.75 $ 0.84

Discontinued operations 1.38 1.36 2.87 2.060 2.76
Net income available to common stockholders $ 4.38 §i 3.42 $ 4.05 $ 2.75 3 3.60
Weighted average common shares
outstanding—dilured 79,856,927 75,586,898 74,759,318 73,354,956 70,203,467
Cash dividends declared $ 3.40 § 3.12 % 2.84 $ 280 § 2.80

14 AvalonBay Communities, Inc.




For the year ended

{Dollars in thousands, except per share information) 12-38-07 12-31-06 12-31-035 12-31-04 12-31-03
Other Informatien:
Net income 3 358,160 $ 266,546 $ 310,408 $ 207,779 $ 262,503
Depreciation—continuing operations 179,549 160,442 156,455 149,721 137,311
Depreciatien—discontinued operations 2,176 3,687 6,842 14,179 17,414
Interest expentse, net—continuing operations 97,545 109,184 125,171 129,106 128,183
Interest expense, nec—discontinued operations 687 1,862 1,927 2,522 4,394
EBITDAM $ 638,117 $ 541,721 $§ 600,863 $ 503,307 § 549,805
Funds from Operations® $ 368,057 $ 320,199 § 271,096 $ 235514 ¥ 222473
Number of Current Communities™ 163 150 143 138 131
Number of apartment homes 45,932 43,141 41,412 40,142 38,504
Balance Sheet [nformation:
Real estate, before accumulated depreciation $7,556,740 $6,615,593 $5,940,146 $5,734,122 $5.468,735
Total assets §6,736,484 $5.,848,507 $5,198,598 $5,116,019 $4,945,585
Notes payable and unsecured credit facilities $3,208,202 $2,866,433 $2,334,017 $2,451,354 $2,337,817
Cash Flow Information:
Net cash flows provided by operating activities $ 455,825 $ 351,660 $ 306,248 $ 275,617 $ 239,677
Net cash flows provided by (used in)
investing activities $ (809,247) $ {511,371) $ (19,761) $ (251,683) $ 33,935
Net cash flows provided by (used in)
financing activities $ 366,360 $ 162,280 $ (282,299) § (29,471) § (279,465)

Notes to Selected Financial Data

(1

(2)

(3

EBITDA is defined as net income before interest income and expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization from both centinuing and discontinued
operations. Under this definition, EBITDA includes gains on sale of assets and gain on sale of partnership intetests. Management generally considers EBITDA
10 be an appropriate supplemental measure to net income of our operating performance because it helps investors to understand our ability to incur and service
debr and to make capital expenditures. EBITDA should net be considered as an alternative to net income (as derermined in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, or “GAAP™), as an indicator of cur operating performance, or ro cash flows from operaring activities (as determined in accordance with
GAAP) a5 a measure of liquidity. Our calculation of EBITDA may not be comparable to EBITDA as calculated by other companies.

We generally consider Funds from Operations, o “FFQ,” as defined below, to be an appropriate supplemental measure of our operating and firancial
performance because, by excluding gains or losses related to dispositions of previously depreciated property and excluding real estate depreciation, which can
vary among owners of identical assets in similar condition based on historical cost accaunting and usefut life estimates, FFO can help one compare the operating
performance of a real estate company berween periods or as compared to different companies. We believe that in order ta understand our aperating results,
FFQ should be examined with net income as presented in the Consolidared Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income included elsewhere
in this report.

Current Cammunities consist of all communities other than those which are still under construction and have not received a certificate of accupancy.

Consistent with the definition adopred by the Board of Governors of the National Association of Real Estate Investment Truses® (*“NAREIT”), we calculate
FFQ as ner income or loss computed in accordance with GAAP, adjusted for:

gains or losses on sales of previously depreciated operating communities;

-

extraordinary gains or losses (as defined by GAAP),

+

cumulative effect of change in accounting principle;

depreciation of real estate assets; and

adjustments for uncansolidared partnerships and joinc ventures.

FFO does nat represent net income in accordance with GAAD, and therefore it should not be considered an alternative ro net income, which remains the
primary measure, 45 an indication of our performance. In addition, FFO as calculared by other REITs may not be comparable to eur caleulation of FFO.

FFO also does nat represent cash generated from operating activities in accordance with GAAD, and thercfore should not be considered an alternative to net
cash flows from operating acrivities, as determined by GAAD as a measure of liquidity. Additionally, it is not necessarily indicarive of cash available to fund cash
needs. A presentation of GAAP based cash flow metrics is provided in “Cash Flow information” in the table above.
The following is a reconciliation of net income to FFQ {dollars in thousands, except per share data)

For the year ended

(Doltars in thousands, except per share data) 12-31-07 12-31-06 12-31-05 12-31-04 12-31-03
Net income $358,160 $266,546 $310,468 $207,779 $262,503
Dividends attributable to preferred stock (8,700) (8,700) (8,700) (8,700) (10,744)

Depreciation—rea! estate assets,
including discontinued operations and

joint venture adjustments 184,731 165,982 163,252 159,221 129,207
Minority interest expense,

including discontinued operations 280 391 1,363 3,048 1,263
Gain on sale of unconsolidated entities

holding previously depreciated real estate assets (59,927) (6,609) — — —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — —_ — (4,547) —
Gain on sale of previously depreciated

real estate assets (106,487) {97.411) (195,287) {121,287) (159,756)
Funds from Operations

atrributable to common stockholders $368,057 $320,199 $271,096 $235,514 $222,473
Weighted average common shares

outstanding—diluted 79,856,927 75,586,898 74,759,318 73,354,956 70,203,467
FFO per common share—diluted 3 401 3 424 $ 363 § 321 $ 317
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A™) is intended to help provide an
understanding of our business and results of operations. This MD&A should be read in conjunction with our Consalidated Financial
Statements and the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Stazements included elsewhere in this report. This report, including the
following MD&A, contains forward-lacking statements regarding future events or trends as described more fully under “Forward-Looking
Statements” included in this report. Actual resules or developments could differ materially from these projected in such statements.

Executive Overview

Business Description W are primarily engaged in developing, acquiring, owning and operating apartment communities in high barrier-
to-entty markets of the United Stares. We believe thar apartment communities are an attractive long-term investment oppottunity compared
to other real estare investments because a broad potential resident base should help reduce demand volarility over a real estate cycle, However,
throughout the real estate cycle, apartment market fundamentals, and therefore operating cash flows, are affected by overall economic
conditions, We seek to create tong-term sharcholder value by accessing capital on cost effective terms; deploying that capital o develop,
redevelop and acquire zpartment communities in high barrier-to-entry markets; operating apartment communities; and selling communities
when they no longer meer our leng-term investment strategy or when pricing is attractive, Bartiers-to-entry in our markets generally include
a difficult and lengthy entitlement process wich local jurisdictions and dense urban or suburban areas where zoned and entitled land is in

limired supply.

We regularly evaluate the allocation of our investments by the amount of invested capical and by product type within our individual markets,
which are located in che Norcheast, Mid-Atlantic, Midwest, Pacific Northwesz, and Northern and Southern California regions of the United
States. Our strategy is to more deeply penetrate these markets with a broad range of products and services and an intense focus on our
customer, Qur communities are predominately upscale, which generally command among the highest rents in their markets. However, we
also pursue the ownership and operation of apartment communities that target a variety of customer segments and price points, consistent

with our goal of offering a broad range of products and services.

Financial Highlights and Outlook Net income available 1o common stockholders for the quarter ended Decenber 3t, 2007 was
$129,644,000, as compared to $44,138,000 for the quarcer ended December 31, 2006, an increase of 193.7%. For the year ended December
31, 2007, net income available ro common stockholders was $349,460,000 compared 1o $257,846,000 for 2006, an increase of 35.5%. These
increases are primarily attriburable to an increase in gains from the sale of communities and joint venture real estate investments in 2007 as

compared to 2006 and growth in income from existing and newly developed communiries in 2007,

Apartment fundamentals remained positive in 2007 as evidenced by full year-over-year rencal revenue growth of 5.5% achieved within our
Established Community portfolio (as defined later in this report), comprised of an increase in rental raes of 5.8% and a decrease in occupancy
of 0.3%. This revenue growth combined with constrained expense growth contributed to our Established Community portfolio achieving
year-aver-year growth in net operating income {"NOI”) of 7.2% in 2007. For the fourth quarter of 2007, our Established Communities
experienced an increase in rental revenue of 4.4% and a corresponding increase in NOI of 4.9% over the prior year period, evidencing the

mederating, but continued growth in operations.

Projected growth in earnings per share — diluted (“EPS”) in our current financia! outlook is expected to be between 48.4% and 94.1% driven
primarily by gains on the sale of communities that may occur under our expanded disposition program, In addition, we expect that our
Established Communities will continue to show revenue and net operating in.come growth in 2008, but at a lesser rate relative to growth levels
in 2007. Despite third party forecasts of a weaker economic environment, we anticipate positive renter demand resulting from a continued
recuction in homeownership rates and a general increase in the propensity 1o rent. Declining home ownership rates are the result of a number
of factors, including concetns regarding home prices and economic growth, demographic growth in chose age groups that have historically
demeonstrated a higher propensity to rent as well as tighter underwriting standards for moregages. Management expects the level of new rental
completions in the Company’s markets will decline modestly during 2008 from 2007 levels and competition from unsold housing inventory
made available for rent will remain modest relative to more aversupplied residential markets in the U.S. Overall we expect apartment market
fundamentals will be balanced in our markets, supporting mederate growth in earnings. Qur current financial outlook provides for 2008
rental growth of 2.5% to 4.0% in our established communiry portfolio and projected NOI growth of 3.0% w0 4.5%

We expect that our development activity will continue to create long-term value. We currently have approximately $2,162,500,000 under
construction {measured by total projected capitalized cost of the communities at completion, including the portions in which joint venture
partners hold an equity or economic interest}, For 2008, we expect new development starts in the range of $900,000,000 o $1,100,000,000
measured at projected cost of compledion, including projects that may be developed through joint ventures. This is a decrease in new
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activity from 2007 reflecting the current economic and capital market conditions. We continue to be selective in pursuing new development
opportnities. Land prices generally have not re-set in most of our markets, bur we are sesing construction cost increases stabilizing,
Construction costs for certain marerials have begun to decline while prices for other mazerials remain high given strong global demand. There
is also greater availability of experienced subcontracrors and trade professionals as a result of slowing construction in both the condominium
and single-family housing markets. We continue to selectively secure new Development Righes, including the acquisition of land for future
development. We currently have Development Righrs for construction of new apartment communities that would, if developed as expecred,
total approximarely $3,918,000,000 based on total projected capitalized costs at December 31, 2007. We also expect to increase our
redevelopment activities in 2008, for both wholly owned and Fund (as defined below) related assets, While current market conditions with
respect to liquidity may impact the types of funding sources used, we believe that our current level of indebredness, our current ability to
service interest and other fixed charges and our current limited use of financial encumbrances (such as secured financing} on our assets provide
us with the financial position and financial flexibility ro access the capiral necessary 1o fund our development and redevelopmenr activities.
We expect to meer these needs from both secured and unsecured debt, as well as asset sales and retained cash.

AvalonBay Value Added Fund, L. {the “Fund”) is a discretionary investment fund in which we hold a 15% interest. The Fund has been our
principal vehicle for acquiting apartment communities subject to certain exceptions, since its formation in March 2005. The Fund acquired
seven communities for an aggregate purchase price of $305,450,000 during 2007. As of January 31, 2008, the total amount invested by che
Fund is $779,318,000. Management of the Fund expects to invest approximately $39,000,000 of additional funds to redevelop the assers
zcquired, at which time, the Fund will become fully invested. We are exploring various potential sources and vehicles for funding future
acquisitions after the Fund is fully invested.

We continue to see real estate capital lows from income investors. In 2007, we completed the disposition of four communities and one
partnership interest for an aggregate gross sales price of $268,096,000. Given the current levels of demand from investors for high quality
multifamily real estate assets, we anticipate increasing our level of disposition activity to a range of $700,000,000 to $1,000,000,000 in 2008.
Actual disposition activity will depend on vartous factors including market and economic cenditions.

Communities Overview Our real estate investments consist primarily of current operating apartment communities, communities in
various stages of development (“Development Communities™ and Development Rights (i.e.. land or options to purchase land held for
development). Qur current operating communities are further distinguished as Established Communities, Other Stabilized Communities,
Lease-Up Communities and Redevelopment Communities. Established Communities are generally operating communities that are
consolidated for financial reporting purposes and were owned and had stabilized occupancy and operating expenses as of the beginning of
the prior year, which allows the performance of these communities and the markets in which they are locared 1o be compared and monitored
berween years. Other Stabilized Communiries are generally all other consolidated operating communities that have stabilized occupancy and
operating expenses during the current year, but had not achieved stabilization as of the beginning of the prior year. Lease-Up Communities
consist of communities where construction is complete bur stabilization has not been achieved. Redevelopment Communities consist of
communities where substantial redevelopment is in progress or is planned to begin during the current year. A more detailed descripdon
of our reportable segments and other related operating information can be found in Norte 9, “Segment Reporting,” of our Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Although each of these categories is important to our business, we generally evaluate overall operating, industry and marker trends based
on the operating results of Established Communities, for which a detailed discussion can be found in “Results of Operations” as part of our
discussion of overall operating results. We evaluate our current and furure cash needs and furure operating potential based on acquisition,
disposition, development, redevelopment and financing activites within Other Stabilized, Redevelopment and Development Communities,
and discussions related to these segments of our business can be found in “Liquidity and Capiral Resources.”

The net operating income of our current operating communities, as defined later in this report, is one of the financial measures that we use 10
evaluate community performance. Net operating income is affected by the demand and supply dynamics within our markets, our rental rates
and occupancy levels, and our ability to control operating costs, Qur overall financial performance is also impacted by the general availabiliry
and cost of capiral and the performance of newly developed and acquired apartment communities.

As of December 31, 2007, we owned or held a direct or indirect ownership interest in 184 apartment communities containing 52,748
apartment homes in ten states and the Districr of Columbia, of which 21 communities were under construction and eight communicies were
under reconstruction. Of these communities, 23 were owned by encities that were not consolidated for financial reporting purposes, including
20 owned by the Fund. In addition, we owned a direct or indirect ownership interest in Development Rights to develop an additional 48
communities that, if developed in the manner expected, will contain an estimated 13,656 apartment homes.
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MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

Results of Operations

Qur year-over-year operating performance is primarily affected by individual geographic market conditions and apartment fundamentals
as measured by changes in net operating income of our Established Communities; net operating income derived from acquisitions and
development complerions; the loss of net operating income related to dispeszd communities; and capital market, disposition and financing
activity. A comparison of our operating results for the years 2007, 2006 and 2005 follows:

Change Change
{Dollars in thousands) 2007 2006 $ % 2006 2005 g %
Revenue:
Rental and other income $806,599 | $715,170 891,429  12.8%  $715,170 $650.507 564263  9.9%
Management, development
and other fees 6,142 6,259 {117) {1.9%) 6,259 4,304 1,955  45.4%
Total revenue 812,741 | 721,429 91,312 12.7% 721,429 655,211 66,218  10.1%
Expenses:
Direct property operating expenses,
excluding property taxes 192,338 | 175,927 16,411 9.3% 175,927 161913 14014  87%
Property taxes 74912 66,786 8,126 12.2% 66,786 63,975 2,811 4.4%

Total community operating expenses 267,250 | 242,713 24,537 10.1% 242,713 225,888 16,825 7.4%

Corporate-level propercy management

and other indirect operating expenses 38,627 | 34,177 4,450 13.0% 34,177 31,243 2,934 9.4%
Investments and investment
management 11,737 7,030 4,707  67.0% 7,030 4,834 2,196 45.4%
Interest expense, net 97,545 | 109,184 (11,639 (10.7%) 109,184 125,171 (15,987) (12.8%)
Deprectation expense 179,549 | 160,442 19,107 11.9% 160,442 156,455 3.987 2.5%
General and administrative expense 28,494 | 24,767 3,727 15.0% 24,767 25,761 (994)  (3.9%)
Total other expenses 355,952 [ 335,600 20,352 6.1% 335,600 343,464  (7,864) (2.3%)
Equity in income of
unconsolidated entities 59,169 7455 51,714 693.7% 7,455 7.198 257 3.6%
Minority interest in
consolidated partnerships (1,585) {573y (1,012} 176.6% (573)  (1,481) 908 (61.3%)
Gain on sale of land 545 13,519 (12,974) (96.0%) 13,519 4,479 2,040 201.8%
Income from continuing operations 247,668 | 163,517 84,151 51.5% 163,517 96,055 67,462 70.2%
Discontinued operations:
Income from discontinued operations 4,005 5018 (1,613}  (28.7%) 5,618 19,126  (13,508) {(70.6%)
Gain on sale of communities 106,487 97.411 9076 9.3% 97,411 195,287  (97,876) (50.1%)
Total discontinued operations 110,492 | 103,029 7,463 7.2% 103,029 214,413 (111,384) {51.9%)
Net income 358,160 | 266,546 91,614 34.4% 266,546 310,468 (43,922) (14.1%)
Dividends attributable to
preferred stock (8,700) (8,700) — —_ (8,700)  (8,700) - —

Net income available to
common stockholdets $349,460 | $257,846  $91,614 35.5% $257,846 $301,768 $(43,922) (14.6%)

Net income available to common stockholders increased $91,614,000 or 35.5%, to $349,460,000 in 2007 due primarily to sales of
consolidated operating communities and investments in unconsolidated entiti¢s and related gains occurring in 2007 combined with growth
in net operating income from Established Communities and contributions to net operating income from newly developed communities in
2007, Net income available 1o common stackhaolders decreased $43,922,000, or 14.6%, to $257,846,000 in 2006, primarily acributable to
reduced asser sales and the relaced gains, partially offset by growth in net operating income from Established Communities and contributions
to net operating income from newly developed communiries.

Net operating income (“NOI") is considered by management to be an impertant and appropriate supplemental performance measure to
net income because it helps both investors and management o understand the core operations of a community or communities prior to the
allocation of any corporate-level or financing-related costs. NOI reflects the operating performance of a community and allows for an easy
comparison of the operating performance of individual assets or groups of asse:s. In addition, because prospective buyers of real estate have
different financing and overhead structures, with varying marginal impacts to overhead by acquiring real estate, NOU is considered by many
in the real estate industry to be a useful measure for determining the value of a real estate asset or group of assets. We define NOI as rotal

property revenue less direct property operating expenses, including property taxes.
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NOI does not represent cash generated from operating activities in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAD”).
Therefore, NOT should not be considered an alternative to net income as an indication of our performance. NOI should also not be
considered an alternative to net cash flow from operating activities, as determined by GAAP as a measure of liquidity, nor is NOT necessarily
indicative of cash available to fund cash needs. A calculation of NOI for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, along with
reconciliation to net income for each year, is as follows:

For the year ended

(Dollars in thousands) 12-31-07 12-31-06 12-31-05
Net income $358,160 $266,546 $310,468
Indirect operating expenses, net of corporate income 31,285 28,811 26,675
Investments and investment management 11,737 7,030 4,834
[nrerest expense, net 97,545 109,184 125,171
General and administrative expense 28,494 24,767 25,761
Equity in income of unconsolidated entities {59.169) (7,453) (7,198}
Minority interest in consolidared partnerships 1,585 573 1,481
Depreciation expense 179,549 160,442 156,455
Gain on sale of real estate assets (107,032) (£10,930) (199,766)
{ncome frem discontinued operations (4,005) {5,618) (19,126)
Net operating income $538,149 $473,350 $424,755

The NOI increases in both 2007 and 2006, as compared to the priar year petiod, consist of changes in the following categories:

2007 2006
(Doltars in thousands) [ncrease Increase
Established Communities $29,866 $32,083
Other Stabilized Communities 10,185 5,379
Development and Redevelopment Communities 24,748 11,133
Total $64,799 $48,595

The NOI increases in Established Communicies in 2007 were largely due to continued favorable apartment market fundamentals. During
2007, we continued to focus on rental rate growth, while maintaining occupancy of at least 95% in all regions. We anricipare that increases in
rental rates and overall rental revenue growth will moderate in 2008 as compared to 2007, as we expect a slower rate of job growth (demand)
and a decline in new rental completions in our markets (supply). We expect revenue growth from our Established Communities of 2.5%
10 4.0% in 2008 as compared to 2007. In addition, we continue to monitor and manage operating expenses to constrain expense growth.
We expect operating expenses ac our Established Communities to increase by 2.0% to 3.0% in 2008 as compared to 2007 from increasing
properry tax, laber and utility expenses. Overall, we anticipate growth in NOI from our Established Communities of 3.0% to 4.5% in 2008
as compared ta 2007.

The Company has given projected NOI growth in 2008 only for Established Communities and rot on a company-wide basis. The Company
believes that NOI growth of the Established Communities assists investors in understanding management’s estimate of the likely cantribution
to operations from Established Communities. However, the Company has not provided a projection of NOI growth on a company-wide
basis due to the difficulty in projecting the timing of new development starts, dispositions and acquisitions, as well as the complexities
involved in projecting the allocation of corporate-tevel property management overhead, general and administrative costs and interest expense
to comumunities not yet developed, disposed or zcquired. NOI growth expected from Esrablished Communicies is noc a projection of the
Company’s projected consolidated financial performance or projected cash flow.

Rental and other income increased in 2007 as compared to the prior year due to increased rental rates for our Established Communicies,
coupled with additional rental income generated from newly developed communities.

Overall Porifatio — The weighted average number of occupied apartment homes increased to 38,436 apartment homes for 2007 as compared
to 37,716 apartment homes for 2006 and 36,520 apartment homes for 2005. This change is primarily the result of increased homes available
from newly developed and acquired communities, partially offset by communities sold in 2007 and 2006. The weighted average monthly
revenue per occupied aparcment home increased to $1,767 in 2007 as compared to $1,610 in 2006 and $1,516 in 2005.

Established Communiries — Rental revenue increased $34,257,000, or 5.5%, for 2007 and increased $35,871,000, or 6.8% in 2006. These
increases are due to increased average rental rates, partially offset by decreased economic occupancy. For 2007, the weighted average monthly
revenue per occupied apartment home increased 5.8% to $1,795 compared to $1,697 in 2006, primarily due tw increased market rents and
the decrease in the amortization of concessions. The higher amortization recognized in 2006 was due to the higher levels of concessions
granted in periods prior to 2006. The average economic occupancy decreased 0.3% to 96.3% in 2007. Economic occupancy takes inco
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS {CONTINUED)

account the fact that apartment homes of different sizes and locations within 1 communiry have different economic impacts on a community’s
gross revenue. Economic occupancy is defined as gross potential revenue less vacancy loss, as a percentage of gross potential revenue. Gross
potential revenue is determined by valuing occupied homes at leased rates and vacant homes at market rents.

We experienced increases in Established Communities’ rental revenue in all six of our regions in 2007 as compared to 2006. The largest
increases in rental revenue were in the Pacific Northwest, Northern California and the Mid-Atlantic, with increases of 11.1%, 8.6% and 5.9%,
respectively, between years. The Northeast and Norchern California regions comprise the majority of our Established Community revenue,

and therefore are discussed in more derail below.

Northern California, which represented approximarely 24.6% of Established Community rental revenue during 2007, experienced
an increase in rental revenue of 8.6% in 2007 as compared to 2006. Average rental rates increased by 8.3% to $1,699, and economic
occupancy increased 0.3% te 97.0% in 2007. Apartment fundamentals remain strong in Northern California. We expect Northern
California to see continued but moderating revenue growth during 2008 at growth levels in excess of those expected in other markets.

The Northeast region, which accounted for approximately 42.3% of Established Community renral revenue during 2007, experienced
an increase in rental revenue of 3.2% in 2007 as compared to 2006. Average rencal rates increased 3.5% to $2,129, and economic
occupancy decreased 0.3% to 96.2% in 2007. We expect overall aparument fundamentals in the Northeast region will be balanced
during 2008, with slower job growth and except in the Bosten area, minimal net new rental supply. Supply-demand fundamentals for
New York City and surrounding areas should remain healthy, although changes in employment levels in the financial services induscry
could cause economic growth to decelerate. Boston will continue to lay the region in revenue growth, as we expect the net new supply
from apartment deliveries will ourpace improvement in the region’s economy. These factors support our expectation for moderate reneal
rate growth in 2008.

In accordance with GAAR, cash concessions are amaortized as an offset 1o rental revenue over the approximate lease term, which is generally ene
year. As a supplemental measure, we also present rental revenue with concessions stated on a cash basis to help investors evaluate che impace of
both current and historical concessions on GAAT based rental revenue and to more readily enable comparisons to revenue as reported by other
companies. Rental revenue with concessions stated on a cash basis also allow: investors to understand historical trends in cash concessions, as

well as current rental market condirions.

The following table reconciles total rental revenue in conformity with GAAP to total rental revenue adjusted to state concessions on a cash
basis for our Established Communities for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 (dollars in thousands). Informartion for the year
ended December 31, 2005 is not presented, as Established Communiry classification is not comparable prior to January 1, 2006. See Note 9,
“Segment Reporting,” of our Consolidated Financial Statements.

For the year ended

(Dollars in thousands) 12-31-07 12-31-06
Rental revenue (GAAP basis} $652,129 $617,872
Concessions amortized 6,119 12,336
Concessions grantt:d (6,234) (6,236)
Rental revenue adjusted to state concessions on a cash basis $652,014 $623,972
Year-over-year % change—GAAD revenue 5.5% nfa
Year-over-year % change—cash concession based revenue 4.5% nfa

Management, development and other fees decrcased $117,000, or 1.9% in 2007 and increased $1,955,000 or 45.4% in 2006. The
decrease in 2007 was due 10 lower development and redevelopment management fees, coupled with the loss of fees due to the disposition of
our interest in a joint venture, partially offser by increased property management fees from the Fund, as additional communities are acquired.
The increase in 2006 over 2005 was due to a full year of management fees from the Fund, which was formed in March 2005.

Direct property operating expenses, excluding property taxes increased $16,411,000 or 9.3% and $14,014,000 or 8.7% in 2007 and
20006, respectively, primarily due to the addition of recently developed and acquired apartment homes coupled with expense growth in our
Established Communiries.

For Established Communities, direct property operating expenses, excluding property taxes, increased $1,661,000, or 1.1%, and $3,030,000,
or 2.4%, to $148,628,000 and $131,106,000 in 2007 and 2006, respectively, due primarily to increases in other maintenance, marketing and
landscaping expenses offser by lower utility and redecorating costs,

Property taxes increased $8,126,000 or 12.2% and $2,811,000 or 4.4% in 2007 and 2006, respectively, due to overall higher assessments
and the addition of newly developed and redeveloped apartment homes. Property taxes are impacted by the size and timing of suceessful tax
appeals in both years.
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For Established Communities, property taxes increased by $2,618,000, or 4.5%, and $721,000, or 1.4% in 2007 and 2006, respectively, due
to higher assessments throughout all regions. Year over year changes are impacted by the size and timing of successful tax appeals. Overall,
we expect property taxes in 2008 to increase from 2007 levels due to increased valuations and the addition of newly developed communities.
Despite the potential decreases in real estate property values for tax purposes, there is generally a lag to the ultimate recognition of any savings
in the real estate tax assessments. In addition, property tax increases are limited by law {Proposition 13) for communities in California. We
evaluate property tax increases internally, as well as engage third-party consultants, and appeal increases when appropriate.

Corporate-level property management and other indirect operating expenses increased by $4,450,000, or 13.0% and $2,934,000, or
9.4%, in 2007 and 2006, respectively, over the prior year periods due primarily to increased costs relating to corporace initiatives focused
on increasing efficiency and enhancing controls at our operating communities, coupled with increased compensation and relocatien costs.
The 2007 expense includes the set up costs related to the office in Virginia Beach, Virginia that we opened in 2007. This office will be
used to centralize certzin community-related accounting, administrative and customer service functions. The transition began during the
third quarter of 2007, when certain community-related accounting functions were relocated to our Virginia Beach office and is expected
to continue through the end of 2008. Expenses in this category increased in 2006, primarily due to the addition of recendy developed and
acquired apartment homes coupled with expense growth in our Established Communities,

Investments and investment management reflects the costs incurred for investment acquisitions, investment management and abandoned
pursuit costs, which inchude costs incurred for development pursuits not yet considered probable for development, as well as the abandonment
or impairment of development pursuits, acquisition pursuits and disposition pursuits. Investments and investment management costs
increased in 2007 as compared to 2006 due primarily 1o increased 2bandoned pursuit costs. Abandoned pursuir costs were $6,974,000 in
2007, $2,115,000 in 2006 and $816,000 in 2005. Abandoned pursuit costs can be volatile, and the costs incurred in any given period may
vary significantly in future periods.

Interest expense, net decreased $11,639,000 or 10.7% in 2007 and $15,987,000 or 12.8% in 2006 due primarily to higher levels of
capitalized interest in connection with our increased development activity and increased interest income, partially offset by an increase in the
average outstanding balance on our unsecured credit facility. Interest income increased in 2007 due to higher invested cash balances from our
January 2007 equity offering as well as increases in the interest rate earned on cash deposits, offset partially by interest income in 2006 from
an escrow funded frem a disposition in 2005 that was used in a tax-deferred exchange.

Depreciation expense increased $19,107,000 or 11.9% in 2007 and $3,987,000 or 2.5% in 2006 primarily due to the completion of
development and redevelopment activities, primarily offset by the loss of depreciation from assets sold.

General and administrative expense (“G&A™) increased $3,727.000 or 15.0% in 2007 primarily due to increased compensation
costs. G&A expenses decreased $994,000 or 3.9% in 2006 primarily due to the incurrence in 2005 of the following: (i) separation costs
of approximarely $2,100,000 due to the deparrure of a senior executive: (i) the accrual of costs related to various litigation mateers of
approximately $1,500,000: and (iii) increased board of director fees due to the acceleration of equity awards with the resignation of a director
due to disability in 2005, partially offset by higher compensation costs in 2006.

Gain on sale of land in 2007 decreased from 2006 due to the volume and size of land parcels sold in each year. The increase in 2006 from
2005 is due to larger gains on sales in 2606,

Equity in income of unconsolidated entities in 2007 increased from 2006 due primarily to the recognition in 2007 of 2pproximately
$60,000,000 in gains from the disposition of two investments, partially offset by losses (after depreciation) associated with two unconsolidated
investments and the consolidation in 2007 of a community that was net consolidated as of December 31, 2006.

Minority interest in consolidated partnerships increased in 2007 as compared to 2006 due tw the recognirion of the sale of a 70% joine
venture partner interest in one of our consolidated communities {Se¢ Note 6, “Investment in Real Estate Entities”). This increase was partially
offset by the conversion and redemption of limited partnership units, thereby reducing outside ownership interests and the allocation of net
income to outside ownership interests, The year over year decrease in 2006 was due to the conversion of limited partnership units, reducing
the outside ownership interests.

Income from discontinued operations represents the net income generated by communities sold or qualifying as discontinued operations
during the period from January 1, 2006 through December 31, 2007. It decreased in 2007 and 2006 due to fewer communities sold or
classified as discontinued operations. See Note 7, “Real Eseate Disposition Activities,” of our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Gain on sale of communities increased in 2007 due to the higher volume of dispositions in 2007. The decrease in 2006 as compared to
2005 is due to the volume and size of dispositions in the respective years relative to our basis in the assets. The amount of gain realized in any
given reporting period depends on many factors, including the number of communities sold, the size and carrying value of those communities
and the sales prices, which are driven by local and national market conditions.
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Funds from Operations Attributable to Common Stockholders (“FFO")

FFO is considered by management to be an appropriate supplemental measure of our operating and financial performance. In calculating
FFO, we exclude gains or losses related to dispositions of previously depreciated property and exclude real escare depreciation, which can
vary among owners of identical assets in similar condition based on historical cost accounting and useful life estimates. FFO can help one
compare the operating performance of a real estate company berween periods or as compared to different companies. We believe that in
order to understand our operating results, FFQ should be examined with net income as presented in our Consolidated Financial Statements
included elsewhere this report. For a more detailed discussion and presentation of FFO, see “Selected Financial Daea,” included elsewhere in
this report.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Factors affecting our liquidity and capital resources are our cash flows from operations, financing activities and investing activities, as well
as general economic and market conditions. Operating cash flow has histarically been determined by: (i) the number of apartment homes
currently owned, (ii} rental rates, (iii} occupancy levels and (iv) cperating expenses with respect to apartmenrt homes. The timing, source
and amount of cash flows previded by financing activities and used in investing activities are sensitive to the capital markets environment,
particularly to changes in interest rates. The timing and type of capiral markers activity in which we engage, as well as our plans for development,
tedevelopment, acquisition and disposition activity, are affected by changes in the capital markets environment, such as changes in interest
rates or the availability of cost-effective capiral.

We regularly review our liquidity needs, the adequacy of cash flows from operarions, and other expected liquidity sources to meer these needs.
We believe our principal short-rerm liquidicy needs are to fund:

* normal recurring operating expenses;
* debr service and maturity payments;
» preferred stock dividends and DownREIT partnership unit distributions;

* the minimum dividend payments on our common stock required to maintain our REIT qualification under the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986;

* development and redevelopment activity in which we are currently engaged; and

* capital calls for the Fund, as required.

Increased capiral market volatility in 2007 and constrained liquidity suggest that our liquidity needs may be met in 2008 from sources that
differ from historical sources. Increased use of secured debe and increased asser sales relative to our recent activity are expected for 2008.
Although general market liquidity is constrained, we anticipate chat we can satiify these needs from a combination of cash flow provided by
operating activities, proceeds from asset dispositions and borrowing capacity under our variable rate unsecured credit facility, as well as secured
financings and ocher public or private sources of liquidicy.

Cash and cash equivalents totaled $21,222,000 at December 31, 2007, an increase of $12,938,000 from $8,284,000 at December 31, 2006.
The following discussion relates o changes in cash due to operating, investing and financing activities, which are presented in our Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows included elsewhere in this report.

Operating Activities — Net cash provided by operating accivities increased o $455,825,000 in 2007 from $331,660,000 in 2006. The
increase was driven primarily by the additional NOI from our Established Communities’ aperations, as well as NO! from recently developed
communities.

Invessing Acriviries — Net cash used in investing acrivities of $809,247,000 in 2007 related to investments in assets through the development
and redevelopment of apartment communities, the acquisition of a communizy, and the acquisition of 17 land parcels, parially offser by
proceeds from the disposition of a land parcel, four communities and a partnership interest in an unconsolidared real estate investment.
During 2007, we invested $1,141,706,000 in the purchase and development of the following real estate and capital expenditures:

We completed the dcvelopmcnt of cigh( communities ¢ontaining a total of 1,749 apartment homes for a total mpitﬂ]ized cost,
including land acquisition cost, of $440,700,000.

We acquired 17 parcels of land in connection with Development Righs, for an aggregate purchase price of $311,691,000.

We had capital expenditures relating to current communities’ real estate assets of $13,851,000 and non-real estate capital expenditures
of $1,424,000.

We commenced the development of 12 communities which are expected 10 contain a total of 3,412 apartment homes for an expected
aggregate total capital cost of $1,279,800,000.
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Financing Activisies — Ne cash provided by financing activities totaled $366.360,000 in 2007. The net cash inflow is due primarily to the
proceeds from the issuance of 4,600,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at $129.30 per share, borrowings of $514,500,000 under
our unsecured credit facility and the issuance of two mortgage notes for approximately $59,126,000, offser by the repurchase of 2,480,616
shares of our common stock at an average price of $103.95 per share, the repayment of mortgage notes of approximately $27,256,000, the
repaymenc of unsecured notes at maturity of approximately $260,000,000 and dividend payments of $268,%66,000.

Variable Rate Unsecured Credit Facility In November 2007 we increased our borrowing capacity under our existing revolving variable
rate unsecured credit facility from $650,000,000 to $1,000,000,000. The facility is with a syndicate of commercial banks, to whom we pay,
in the aggregate, an annual facility fee of approximarely $1,250,000. The unsceured credir facility bears incerest ar varying levels based on
the London Interbank Offered Rare (“LIBOR”), our credic raring and on a marturity schedule selected by us, The current stated pricing is
LIBOR plus 0.40% per annum (3.54% on January 31, 2008). The spread over LIBOR can vary from LIBOR plus 0.325% co LIBOR plus
1.00% based on our credit rating. In addirion, a competitive bid option is available for borrowings of up to $422,500,000. This option allows
banls chat are part of the lender consortium to bid to provide us loans ac a rate that is lower than the stated pricing provided by the unsecured
credit facility. The competitive bid option may result in lower pricing if market conditions allow. We had no outstanding balance under this
competitive bid option at January 31, 2008. We are subject to and currently in compliance with certain customary covenants under the
unsecured credit facility, including, but noz limited o, maintaining certain maximum leverage ratios, a minimum fixed charges coverage ratio
and minimum unencumbered assets and equity levels. The credit facility matures in November 2011, assuming our exercise of a one-year
tenewal option. At January 31, 2008, $733,500,000 was outstanding on the credit faciliry, $57,000,000 was used to provide letcers of credit
and $209,361,000 was available for borrowing under the unsecured credir faciliry.

Future Financing and Capital Needs — Debt Marurities  One of our principal long-term liquidiry needs is the repayment of long-term
debr at the time that such debt marures. For unsecured notes, we anticipate that no significant portion of the principal of these notes will be
repaid prior to maturity. If we do not have funds on hand sufficient o repay our indebiedness as it becomes due, it will be necessary for us
1o refinance the debt. This refinancing may be accomplished by uncollaceralized private or public debr offerings, additional debt financing
that is collateralized by mortgages on individual communities or groups of communities, draws on our unsecared credir facility or by equity
offerings. Although we believe we will have the capacity o meet our long-term liquidity needs, we cannor assure you thar additienal debt
financing or debt or equity offerings will be available or, if availabte, that they will be on terms we consider satisfacrory.

The following financing acrivity occurred during the year ended December 31, 2007:

*+ we issued $16,926,000 of variable rate moregage debt for an operating community in June, maturing in May 2012;

.

we repaid $15,980,000 of mortgage debr, secured by the assets of an operating community in July;

we assumed $3,941,000 of fixed rate morrgage deb in conjunction with the acquisition of an operating communicy in July 2007 and
subsequently defeased the note in December 2007;

.

we issued $100,000,000 of varizble rate, tax-exempt debt for a development community in June, maturing in November 2040;

we repaid $150,000,000 in previously issued unsecured notes in August 2007, along with any unpaid incerest, pursuant to their
scheduled marurity;

we issued $42,200,000 of fixed rate, tax-exempt morrgage debrt for an operating community in September 2007, maruring in June
2047;

we were relieved of our obligations associated with $8,116,000 in mortgage debe in conjuncrion with the disposition of the associated
operating community in September 2007;

* we repaid $110,000,000 in previously issued unsecured notes in December 2007, along with any unpaid interest, pursuant 1o their
scheduled maturicy;

we borrowed $514,500,000 under our unsecured credic facility;

we increased our borrowing capacity under our unsecured credit facility by $350,000,000, to $1,000,000,000;

we issued 4,600,000 shares of common stock ar $129.30 per share for net proceeds of approximately $594,000,000 in conjunction
with the inclusion of sur common stock in the S&P 500 index in January 2007; and

we repurchased 2,480,616 shares of our common stack at an average price of $103.95 per share, for a rotal approximate purchase
price of $257.,854,000.

In February 2008, the Board of Directors authorized a further increase of $200,000,000 in the common stock repurchase program, increasing
the total amount the Company can acquire to $500,000,000, of which approximarely $300,000,000 has been used to repurchase our
common stock as of January 31, 2008. The decision to use the additional share repurchase authorizatien will depend on current capiral market
conditions and liquidity, our share price relative to the nee asset value per share and other uses of capital, including devetopment.
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The rable below details debt maturities for the next five years, excluding our unsecured credit facility, and amounts outstanding related to
communities classified as held for sale, for debt outstanding at December 31, 2007 (dollars in thousands, except foetnotes).

All-In Principal

interest maturity Balance outstanding Scheduled maturities
Community rate'! date 12-31-06  12-31-07 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Thereafter
Tax-exempt bonds
Fixed rare
CounttyBrook 6.30% Mar-2012 & 15990 % 15356 % 676 0§ 719 5§ 766§ Bi6 12379 5 —
Avilon at Symphony Glen 4.90% Jul-2024 9,780 9,780 — — —— — — 9,780
Avalon at Lexingten 6.55% Feb-2025 12,467 12,078 413 439 466 495 526 9,739
Avalon at Nob Hill 5.80% Jun-2025 18,116 — — — — — — —
Avalon Campbell 6.48% Jun-2025 32,776 31,8779 — — — — — 31,877
Avalon Pacifica 6.48% Jun-2025 14,867 14,460 — — — — — 14,460
Avalon Knoll 6.95% Jun-2026 11,957 11,654 324 347 371 398 426 9.788
Avalon Landing 6.85% Jun-2026 5.903 5,751 162 173 185 198 212 4,821
Avalon Fields 7.55% May-2027 10,483 10,224 256 275 295 316 339 8,743
Avalon Oaks 7.45% Jul-2041 17,205 17.077 137 147 157 168 180 16,288
Avalon QOaks West 7.48% Apr-2043 17,036 16,919 125 133 142 152 152 16,205
Avalon at Chestnue Hill 5.82% Oct-2047 — 42,149 314 331 349 368 388 40,399
166,580 187,325 2,407 2,564 2,731 2911 14,612 162,100
Variable raié®
The Promenade 4,88% Oct-2010 31,495 30,844 701 755 29,388 _ — —
Warerford 3.50% Jul-2014 33,100 33,100 _ _ — —_ — 33,100
Avalon a1 Mountain View 3.50% Feb-2017 18,300 18,300 — — — — —_ 18,300
Avalon at Foxchase I 3.50% Nov-2017 16,800 16,8004 _ — — — —_ 16,800
Avalon at Foxchase [[ 3.50% Nov-2017 9,600 9,600 — — — — — 9,600
Avalon at Mission Viejo 3.98% Jun-2025 7635 7,635 — - — — — 7,635
Avalon ar Neb Hill 3.46% Jun-2025 2,684 20,800 — —_ — — — 20,800
Avalon Campbell 3.46%  Jun-2025 6.024 6,923 — — — — — 6,923
Avalon Pacifica 3.46% Jun-2025 2,733 3,140 — — . — —_— — 3,140
Avalon at Fairway Hills [ 4.33% Jun-2026 11,500 11,500 — — - — — 11,500
Bowery Place [ 331% Nov-2037 93,800 93,800 521 576 636 703 777 90,587
Bowery Place IT 3.34% Nov-2039 48,500 48,500 — — 270 298 329 47,603
Avalon Acton 4,14% Jul-2040 45,000 45,000 — — — — — 45,000
Morningside Park 6.63% Nov-2040 — 100,000 — — 138 302 340 99,220
327,171 445,942 1,222 1,331 30,432 1,303 1,446 410,208
Conventional loans'®
Fixed rate
$150 million unsecured notes 5.18%  Aug-2007  § 150,000 § — ¢ — 35 - % -8 -5 -3 —
$110 millicn unsecured notes 7.13% Dec-2007 110,060 — — — — — — —
$50 rmillion unsecured notes 6.63% Jan-2008 50,000 50,0009 50,000 — — — — —_
$150 million unsecured notes 8.38% Jul-2008 146,000 " 146,000 146,000 — — — — —
$150 million unsecured notes 7.63% Aug-2009 150,000 150,000 — 150,000 — — — —
$200 million unsecured notes 7.66% Dec-2010 200,000 200,000 — — 200,000 —_ —_ —
$300 million unsecured notes 6.79% Sep-2011 300,000 300,000 — —_ — 300,000 — —
$50 million unsecured notes 6.31% Sep-2011 56,000 50,000 — — — 50,060 —_ —
$250 million unsecured notes 5.73% Jan-2012 250,000 250,000 — — — — 250,000 —
$250 million unsecured notes 6.26% Nov-2012 250,000 250,000 —_ —_ — — 250,000 —
$100 million unsecured notes 5.11%  Mar-2013 100,000 100,000 —_— —_ — — — 100,000
$150 million unsecured notes 5.52% Apr—ZDH 150,000 150,000 — — — s — 150,000
$250 million unsecured notes 5.89% Sep-2016 250,000 250,000 — — — — — 250,000
Wheatan Development Right 6.99%  Oec-2008 4,514 4.432 4,432 — — — — —
4600 Eisenhower Avenue 8.08% Apr-2009 4,402 4,293 118 4,175 — — — —
Twinbzook Development Righe 7.25% Qce-2011 8,200 8,007 207 222 239 7,332 — —
Tysons ‘West Development Right 5.55% Jul-2028 6,335 6,381 162 173 183 193 04 5,466
Avalott Orchards 7.65% Jul-2033 19,883 19,612 290 in 333 337 382 17,939
2,199,534 1,938,725 201,209 154,881l 200,755 357,889 500,586 523,405
Variable raté®
Avalon Ledges 5.68% May-2009 18,635 17,990 688 17.302 — — — —
Avalon at Flanders Hill 5.68% May-2009 21,245 20,510 784 19,726 —_ - - —
Avalon at Newton Highlands 5.62% Dee-2009 37,650 36,335 1,397 34,938 — — — —
Avalon ar Crane Brock 5.59% Mar-2011 33,935 32,560 1.045 1,106 1,169 29,240 — —
Avalon at Bedford Center 5.62%  May-2012 — 16.816% 468 497 527 560 14,764 —
1065 124,211 4,382 73,569 1,696 28,800 14,764 —
Total indebtedness—excluding
unsecured credic facilicy $2,804,350 $2,696,203  $209,220  $232,345  $235.614 $391,903 §531,408 §1,095713

(1) Trcludes credit enhancement fees, facility fees, trustees’ fees and other fees.

(2) Financed by veriable rate, tax-exempt debt, but the interest rate o a portion of this debr is effectively fixed at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006
through a swap agreement, The pertion of the debt fixed through a swap agreeinent decreases (and therefore the variable portion of the debr increases)
monthly as payments are made to a principal reserve fund.

(3) Variable rates are given as of December 31, 2007,

(4) Financed by variable race debt, but interest rate is capped through an interest rate protection agreement.

(5) Represents full amount of the debt as of December 31, 2007. Actal amounts drawn on the debr as of December 31, 2007 are $87,519,000 for Bowery
Place 1, $34,323,000 for Bowery Place 11, $12,156,000 for Avalon Acton and $0 for Morningside Parl.

(6) Balances outstanding represent rotal amounts due at maturity, and are not net of $2,501 of debt discount as of December 31, 2007 and $2,922 of debt
discount s of December 31, 2006, as reflected in unsecured notes on our Consolidated Balance Sheets included elsewhete in this report.

(7) These notes were repaid at their scheduled maturity in January 2008.
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Future Financing and Capital Needs — Portfolio and Other Activity  As of December 31, 2007, we had 21 new communities under
construction, for which a roral estimated cost of 943,679,000 remained to be invested. [n addition, we had eight communities which we
own, or in which we have a direct or indirect interest, under reconstruction, for which a rotal estimated cost of $53,836,000 remained to be
invested. Substantially all of the capital expenditures necessary to complete the communiries currently under construction and reconstruction,
as wefl as development costs relared to pursuing Development Rights, will be funded from:

cash currently on hand invested in highly liquid overnight money market funds and repurchase apreements, and shore-term investment

vehicles;

the remaining capacity under our current $1,000,000,000 unsecured credit facilicy;

the net proceeds from sales of existing communities;

retained operating cash;

the issuance of debt or equity securities; and/or

private equity funding.

Before planned reconstruction activity, including reconstruction activiry related to communities acquired by the Fund as discussed below,
or the construction of a Development Right begins, we intend to arrange adequare financing to complete these undertakings, although we
cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain such financing. In the event thart financing cannot be obtained, we may have to abandon
Development Rights, write-off associated pre-development costs that were capitalized and/or forego reconstrucrion activity. In such instances,
we will not realize the increased revenues and earnings that we expected from such Development Rights or reconstruction activity and
significant losses could be incurred.

We have invested in the Fund, a private, discretionary investment vehicle that acquires and operates apartment communities in our markets.
The Fund has invested $777,568,000 as of December 31, 2007. Management of the Fund expects to tnvest approximately $46,000,000
of additional funds to redevelop the assets acquired, at which time the Fund will become fully invested. The Fund has nine institutional
investors, including us, with a combined capital equity commitmenc of $330,000,000. A significant pottion of the investments made in the
Fund by its investors have been made through AvalonBay Value Added Fund, Inc., a Maryland corporation that qualifies as a REIT under the
Internal Revenue Code (the “Fund REIT”). A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company is the general partner of the Fund and has commited
$50,000,000 to the Fund and the Fund REIT (of which approximarely $32,035,000 has been invested as of January 31, 2008) representing a
15.2% combined general partner and limited parener equiry interest. As of January 31, 2008, the Fund has committed to invest approximarely
$818,367,000. We are exploring varicus potential sources for funding future acquisitions after the Fund is fully invested.

From time 1o time we usc joint ventures w0 hold or develop individual real estate assets, We generally employ joint ventures primarily to
mirtigate asset concentration or marker risk or secondarily as a source of liquidity. We may also use joint ventures related to mixed-use land
development opportunities where our partners bring development and operational expertise to the venture. Each joint venture or partnership
agreement has been and will continue to be individually negoriated, and our ability to operate and/or dispose of a community in our sole
discretion may be limited to varying degrees depending on the terms of the joint venture or partnership agreement. We cannot assute you that
we will achieve our objectives through joint ventures.

In evaluating our allocation of capital within our markets, we sell assets that do not meet our long-term investment criteria or when capical and
ceal estate markets allow us 1o realize a portion of the value created over the past business ¢ycle and redeploy the proceeds from those sales w
develop and redevelop communities. [n response to real estate and capital markets conditions, we sold four communities and one partnership
tnterest in an unconsolidared entitiy for an aggregate sales price of $268,096,000 from January 1, 2007 through January 31, 2008. Because
the proceeds from the sale of communities may not be immediately redeployed into revenue generating assets, the immediate effect of a sale
of a community for a gain is to increase net income, but reduce future total revenues, rotal expenses and NOL. However, we believe that the
absence of future cash Aows from communities sold will have a minimal impact on our ability to fund future liquidity and capital resource
needs. During 2008, we intend to dispose of berween $700,000,000 and $1,000,000,000 in assets. However, actual disposition volume will
depend on marker conditions and other variables, which are subject to change in 2008.
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Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

In addition to the investment interests in consalidaced and uncensolidared real estate entities, we have certain off-balance sheet arrangements
with the entities in which we invest, Additional discussion of chese entities can be found in Note 6, “Investments in Real Estate Entities,” and
Note 8, “Commitments and Conrtingencies,” of our Consolidared Financial Statcments located elsewhere in this report.

* CVP I, LLC has ourstanding eax-exempt, variable rate bonds maturing in November 2036 in the amount of $117,000,000, which
have permanent credit enhancement, We have agreed to guarancee, under limited circumstances, the repayment to the credic enhancer
of any advances it may make in fulfiliment of CVP I, LLC’s repayment: obligations under the bonds. We have also guaranteed to
the credit enhancer thac CVP 1, LLC will obtain a final certificare of occupancy for the project (Chrystie Place in New York City)
overall once tenant improvements related to a retail tenanc are complete, which is expected in the first half of 2008. Our 80% partner
in this venture has agreed char it will reimburse us its pro rara share of any amounts paid relative to these guaranteed obligations.
The estimated fair value of, and our obligation under these guarantees, both at inception and as of December 31, 2007 were nat
significant. As a result we have not recorded any obligation associated with these guaranrees at December 31, 2007,

MVT 1, LLC execured a construction loan in the amount of $94,000,000¢ to finance the development of Avalon ac Mission Bay
North 1L In conjunction with the construction management services thar the Company pravided to MVP I, LLC, the Company
provided a construction completion guarantee to the construction loan lender in order to fulfill their standard financing requirements
related to construction financing. In the fourth quarter of 2007, all of the lender’s standard completion requirements were satisfied
and the obligation of the Company under this guarantee terminated. In December 2007, MVP [, LLC repaid the construction loan,
concurrently executing a seven-year, fixed rate convenrional foan,

The Fund has 20 loans secured by individual assets with amouats outstinding in the aggregate of $447,166,000. These mortgage
loans have varying marturiry dates {or dates after which the loans can be prepaid), ranging from October 2011 to September 2016,
These mortgage leans are secured by the underlying real estate. [n addition, the Fund had amounts outstanding of $47.,400,000 as of
December 31, 2007 under ics credit facilities, all of which is under an unsecured faciliry maturing in December 2008. The Fund did
not have any amounts outstanding at December 31, 2007 under the Fund's credit facility secured by uncalled capital commitments
that matured in January 2008. The mortgage loans and the credi facility are payable by the Fund with operating cash flow from the
underlying real estate, and the credit facility is secured by capital commitments. We have not guaranteed the debt of the Fund, nor do
we have any obligation to fund this debt should the Fund be unable o do so.

In addition, as part of the formation of the Fund, we have provided to one of the limited partners a guarantee. The guarantee provides
that if, upon final liquidation of the Fund, the total amount of all distributions o that partner during the life of the Fund {whether
from operating cash flow or propetty sales) does not equal a minimum of the total capiral contributions made by that partaer, then we
will pay the partner an amount equal to the shorcfall, but in no event more than 10% of the total capital contributions made by the
partner {maximum of approximately $6,510,000 as of December 31, 20077). As of December 31, 2007, the fair value of the real estate
assets owned by the Fund is considered adequate to cover such potential payment to that partner under a liquidation scenario. The
estimated fair value of, and our obligation under chis guarantee, both ac inception and as of December 31, 2007 was not significant
and therefore we have not recorded any obligation for this guarantee as of December 31, 2007.

In connection with the pursuit of 2 Development Right in Pleasant Hili, California, $125,000,000 in bond financing was issued by
the Contra Costa County Redevelopment Agency (the “Agency™) in connection with the possible future construction of a multifamily
rental community by PHVP I, LLC. The bond proceeds were immediately invested in their entirety in a guaranteed investment
contract (“GIC") administered by a trustee. This Development Right is planned as a mixed-use development, with residential, far-
sale, rerail and office components. The bond proceeds will remain in the IC until August 2008, at which time a loan will be made
to PHVT 1, LLC to fund construction of the multifamily portion of the development, or the bonds will be redeemed by the Agency.
We are currently in discussions 1o extend both the term until the bond financing proceeds must be used for development of the
multifamily portion of the project, and the GIC until August 2008, when construction of the multifamily portion of the development
is now expecred to begin. Although we do not have any equity or economic interest in PHVP I, LLC at this time, we do have an
option to make 2 capital coneribution to PHVT [, LLC in exchange for a 99% general partner interest in the entity. Should we decide
not to exercise this option, bond proceeds will be released from escrow, the bonds will be redeemed withour penalty and a loan will
not be made to PHVP I, LLC. The bonds are payable from the proceeds of the GIC and are non-recourse to both PHVT I, LLC and
to us. There is no loan payable outstanding by PHVP T, LLC as of December 31, 2007.
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in addition, as part of providing construction management services te PHVP I, LLC for the consteuction of a public garage, we have
provided a construction complerion guarantee to the related lender in order to fulfill their standard financing requirements related
to the garage construction financing. Our obligations under this guarantee will terminate following construction completion of the
garage once all of the lender’s standard completion requirements have been sarisfied, which we currently expect to oceur in the first
half of 2008. In the third quarter of 2006, significant modifications were requested by the local transit authoriry o change the garage
structure design. We do not believe thar the requested design changes impact the construction schedule. However, it is expected that
these changes will increase the original budget by an amount up to $5,000,000. We believe that substantially all potential additional
amounts are reimbursable from unrelated third parties. At this time we do not believe that it is probable that we will incur any
addirional costs. The estimated fair value of, and cur obligation under this guarantee, both at inception and as of December 31, 2007
was not significant and therefore we have not recorded any obligation for this guarantee as of December 31, 2007.

In the fourth quarter of 2006, we admitted a 70% venture partner to the Avalon De! Rey Apartments, LLC for an investment of
$49,000,000, including the assumption of debt. In conjunction with this investment, we provided an operating guarantee to the joint
venzure partner which stated that if the initial year recurn earned by the joint venture parcner was less than a thresheld recurn of 7% on
its initiat equity investment, we would pay the join venture partner an amount equal to the shortfall, up to the 7% threshold return
required. In the fourch quarter of 2007, the initial year return earned by the joint venture partner was determined 1o be in excess of
the guarantee threshold thereby satisfying all provisions of the Company under this guaranree.

There are no other lines of credit, side agreements, financial guarantees or any other derivative financial instruments related to or berween our
unconsolidated real estate entities and us. In evaluating our capital structure and overall leverage, management takes into consideration our

proportionate share of this unconsolidated dehe.

Contractual Obligations

We currently have contracrual obligations consisting primarily of long-term debt obligations and lease obligations for certain land parcels
and regional and administrative office space. During the second quarrer of 2007, we entered into an operating lease for 20,000 square feet
of office space in Virginia Beach, Virginia. We began 1o utilize this space for certain of our communiry-related accounting and customer
service functions in the third quarter of 2007. There have not been any other material changes outside the ordinary course of business o
our contractual obligations during 2007. Scheduled contractual obligations required for the next five years and thereafter are as follows as of
December 31, 2007 (dellacs in thousands):

Payments due by period

Toal Less than 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years  More than 5 Years
Debt Obligations™ $3,210,703 $723,720 $467,959 $923,311 $1,093,713
Operaring Lease Obligations® 2,142,739 14,412 29,108 29,268 2,069,951
Total $5,353,442 $738,132 $497,067 $952,579 $3,165,664

(1) Includes $514,500 ourstanding under our varizble rate unsccured credit facility as of December 31, 2007. The cable of cantractual obligations assumes
repaymene of this amount in 2008 - Sec *Liquidity and Capital Resources.” Amounts exclude interest payable as of December 31, 2007.

{2) Includes land lcases expiring between November 2028 and March 2142. Amounts do not include any adjustment for purchase options available under the
land leases.

Inflation and Deflation

Substantially all of our apartment leases are for a term of one year or less. [n an inflationary environment, this may allow us to realize increased
rents upon renewal of existing leases or the beginning of new leases. Short-term leases generally minimize our risk from the adverse effects of
inflacion, although these leases generally permir residents to leave at the end of the lease term and therefore expose us to the effect of a decline
in market rents. In a deflationary rent environment, we may be exposed to declining rents more quickly under these shorter-term leases.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS {CONTINUED)

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report contains “forward-looking statements” as that term is defined under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

You can identify forward-looking scatements by our use of the words “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “estimare,” “assume,” “project,”
B Y P! p pro)

“plan,” “may,” “shall,” “will” and other similar expressions in this Annual Repert, that predict or indicate future events and trends and that do not

report historical marters. These stacements include, among other chings, statements regarding our intent, belief or expectacions with respect to:

* our potentia] deve]opment, redevelopmcm, acquisition or dispositiun of communities;

the timing and cost of completion of apartment communities under construction, reconstruction, development or redevelopment;

the riming of lease-up, occupancy and stabilization of apartment communities;

the pursuir of land on which we arc considering future development;

.

the anticipated operating performance of our communicies;

cost, yield and earnings estimares;

-

our declaration or payment of distributions;

our joins venture and discretionary fund acrivities;

our policies regarding investments, indebtedness, acquisitions, dispositions, financings and other marters;

our qualificarion as 2 REIT under che Internal Revenue Code;

the real estate markets in Northern and Southern California and markers in selected states in the Mid-Atlantic, Northeast, Midwest
and Pacific Northwest regions of the United States and in general;

the availability of debt and equity financing;

interest rates;

general economic conditions; and

* trends affecting our financial condition or results of operations.

We cannot assure the fiture results or outcome of the marters described in these statements; rather, these statements merely reflect our currenc
expectations of the approximate outcomes of the matters discussed. You should not rely on forward-looking statements because they involve
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, some of which are beyond our control. These risks, uncertaincies and other factors
may cause our actual results, performance or achievements 1o differ materially from the anticipated future results, performance or achievements
expressed ot implied by these forward-looking statements. These risks, uncerrainties and other factors are discussed in our Annual Reporcon Form
10-K for 2007 in the section dided “Risk Factars” and in other reports and documents filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

In addition, these forward-looking statements represent our estimates and assumptions only as of the dace of this report. We do not
undertake a duty to update these forward-looking statements, and therefore they may not represent cur estimates and assumptions after the

dare of this report.

Some of the factors that could cause our actual results, performance or achievements to differ matertally from those expressed or implied by
these forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, the following:

* we may fail 10 secure development opperrunities due to an inability to reach agreements with third parties to obrain Jand ar atcractive
prices or 10 obtain desired zoning and other local approvals;

we may abandon or defer development opportunities for a numbes of reasons, ineluding changes in local markert conditions which
make development less desirable, increases in costs of development and increases in the cost of capital, resulting in losses;

construction cests of a community may exceed our original estimates;

we may not complete construction and lease-up of communities under development or redevelopment on schedule, resulting in
increased interest costs and construction costs and a decrease in our expecied rental revenues;

occupancy rates and market rents may be adversely affected by competition and local economic and market conditions which are

beyond our control;

.

financing may not be available on favorable terms or at all, and our cash flows from operations and access to cost effective capital may
be insufficient for the development of our pipeline which could limit our pursuit of opportunities;

our cash flows may be insufficient to meert required payments of principal and interest, and we may be unable to refinance existing
indebredness or the terms of such refinancing may not be as favoratle as the terms of existing indebtedness;

we may be unsuccessful in our management of the Fund and the Fund REIT; and
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Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAPD requires management to use judgment in the application of accounting
policies, including making estimates and assumptions. If our judgment or interpretation of the facts and circumstances relating to various
transactions had been different, or different assumptions were made, it is possible thar different accounting policies would have been applicd.
resulting in different financial results or a different presentation of eur financial statements. Below is a discussion of the accounting policies
that we consider critical to an understanding of our financial condition and operating results that may require complex or significant judgment
in their application ot require estimates abour matters which are inherently uncertain, A discussion of our significant accounting policies,
including furcher discussion of the accounting policies described below, can be found in Note 1, “Organization and Significant Accounting
Policies” of our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Principles of Consolidation  We may enter into various joint venture agreements wich unrelated third parties to hold or develop real estate
assets. We must determine for each of these ventures, whether to consolidate the entity or account for our investment under the equity or

cost basis of accounting,

We determine whether to consolidate cerrain entiries based on our rights and obligations under the joint venture agreements, applying the
guidance of FIN 46{R), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (as revised) and Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 04-5, “Determining
Whether a General Partner, or the General Pareners as a Group, Controls a Limited Partnership or Similar Entity When the Limited Partners
Have Certain Rights.” For investment interests that we do not consolidate, we look to the guidance in AICPA Statement of Position 78-9,
“Accounring for Investments in Real Estate Ventures®, Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 18, “The Equity Method of Accounting
for Invesements in Common Stock”, and Emerging Issues Task Force Topic D-46, “Accounting for Limited Partnership Investments™, to
determine the accounting framework to apply. The application of these rules in evaluarting the accounting treatment for each joint venture is
complex and requires substantial management judgment. Therefore, we believe the decision to choose an appropriate accounting framework

is a critical accounting estimate,

If we were to consolidate the joint ventures that we accounted for using the equity method ar December 31, 2007, our assers would have
increased by $1,029,093,000 and our liabilities would have increased by $739,806,000. We would be required to consolidate those joint
ventures currently not consolidated for Anancial reporting purposes if the facts and circumstances changed, including but not limited to the
following reasons, none of which are currently expected 1o occur:

« For entities not cansidered to be variable interest entities under FIN 46(R}, the nature of the entity changed such that it would be
considered 3 variable interest entigy.

« For entities in which we do not hold a controlling voting andfor variable interest, the contractual arrangement changes resulting in
our investment interest being either 2 controlling voting and/or variable interest.

We evaluare our accounting for investments on a quarterly basis or when a significant change in the design of an entity occurs.

Cost Capiralization  We capiralize costs during the development of assets beginning when we determine that development of a future asset
is probable until the asset, or a portion of the asset, is delivered and is ready for its intended use. For redevelopment efforts, we capiralize
costs beginning either (1) in advance of taking homes out of service when significant renovation of the commeon area has begun until the
redevelopment is completed, or (i) when an apartment home is taken out of service for redevelopment until the redevelopment is completed
and the apartment home is available for a new resident. Rental income and operating expenses incurred during the initial lease-up or post-
redevelopment lease-up period are fully recognized as they accrue.

During the development and redevelopment efforts we capitalize alt direct and those indirece costs which have been incurred as a result of
the development and redevelopment activities. These costs include interest and retated loan fees, property taxes as well as other direct and
indirect costs. Interest is capitalized for any project specific financing, as well as for general corporate financing to the extent of our aggregate
investment in the projects. Indirect project costs, which include personnel and office and administrative costs, thar are clearly associated with
our development and redevelopment effores are also capitalized. The estimation of the direct and indirect costs to capitalize as part of our
development and redevelopment activities requires judgment, and as such, we believe cost capitalization to be a eritical accounting eszimate.

There may be a change in our operating expenses in the event that there are changes in accounting guidance governing capitalization or
changes to development or redevelopment activiry. If changes in the accounting guidance limit our ability to capiralize costs or if we reduce our
development and redevelopment activities without a corresponding decrease in indirect project costs, there may be an increase in our operating
expenses. For example, if in 2007 our development activities decreased by 10%, and there were no corresponding decrease in our indirect
project costs, our operating expenses would have increased by $2,748,000.

We capiralize pre-development costs incurred in pursuit of Development Rights for which we currently believe future development is probable.
These costs include legal fees, design fees and relared overhead costs, Future development of these pursuits is dependent upon various factors,
including zoning and regulatory approval, rental market condirions, construction costs and availability of capital. Pre-development costs
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incurred in the pursuit of Development Rights for which future development is ot yet considered probable are expensed as incurred. In
addition, if the status of a Development Right changes, making future development no longer probable, any capitalized pre-developmen:
costs are written-off with a charge to expense.

Due to the subjecrivity in determining whether a pursuir will result in the acquisition or development of an apartment commuaity, and
therefore should be capiralized, the accounting for pursuit costs is a critical accounting escimate. If it were determined that 10% of our
capitalized pursuits were no longer probable of occurring, net income for the year ended December 31, 2007 would have decreased by
$6,100,000.

Asser Impairment Evaluation We apply the provisions of SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets”, to determine the need for performing impairment analyses, as well as to measure the loss if an impairment has occurred on a regular
basis, considering qualitative economic factors, Because each asset is unique, requiring significant management judgment, we believe that the
asset impairment evaluation is a critical accounting estimate.

Management judgment is required both to determine if a significant event has occurred, such thar an impairment analysis is necessary, as well
as for the assessment and measurement of any potential impairment. To perform the impairment analysis, we must estimate the undiscounted
future cash flows assoctated with the asser, which in the case of an apartment communiry would be the NOI, as well as potential disposition
proceeds for a given asser. Forecasting cash flows requires assumptions about such variables as the estimated holding period, rental rates,
occupancy and operating expenses during the holding period as well as disposition proceeds, In addition, when an impairment has occurred, we
must estimate the discount factor, or marker capitalization rate to apply to the undiscounted cash flows to derive the fair value of the position.
The market capitalization rate is influenced by many facrors, including national and local economic conditions, as well as the location and
quality of the asser.

Changes in the future cash flows associated with an asset have a direct, lincar relationship 1o the fair value of the position. For example, if
there is a 10% decline in the estimated NOI for a community, there would bt a corresponding decrease in the fair value of that asset of
10%. Changes in the marker capitalization rate have an inverse relationship with the fair value of an asset, with a decrease in the market
capitalization rate resulting in an increase in the fair value of the asser. For example, an asser that is valued ac $80,000,000 when using a five
percent market capitalization rate will increase in value to $100,000,000 if the market capiralization rate decreases by one percent to four
pereent, and to $133,000,000 if the market capitalization rate decreases by two percent, to a three percent marker capitalization rate.

For the year ended December 31, 2007, we did not recognize any impairment in value associated with our investments or long-lived assets,
We cannot predict the occurrence of furure events that may canse an impairment assessment to be performed.

REIT Status We are a Maryland corporation that has elected to be treated, for federal income tax purposes, as a REIT. We elected to be
caxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (“the Code”), as amended, for the year ended December 31, 1994 and have not
revoked such election. A corporate REIT is a legal entity which holds real estate interests and must meet a number of organizational and
operational requirements, including a requirement that it currently distribute ar Jeast 90% of its adjusted taxable income to stockholders. As
a REIT, we generally will not be subject to corporate level federal income tax on raxable income if we discribute 100% of taxable income to
our stockholders over time periods allowed under the Code. If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, we will be subjecr to federal
and state income raxes at regular carporate rates (subject to any applicable alternative minimum rax) and may noz be able to elect to qualify
as a REIT for four subsequent taxable years. For example, if we failed to qualify as a REIT in 2007, cur net income would have decreased by
approximately $119,800,000.

Our qualification as a REIT requires management to excrcise significant judgment and consideration with respect to operational marters and
accounting treacmenc. Therefore, we believe our REIT status is a critical accounting estimare.
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Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to certain financial market risks, the most predominant being interest rate risk. We monitor interest rate risk as an integral parc
of our overall risk management program, which recognizes the unpredicability of financial markets and seeks to reduce the potentially adverse
effect on our results of operations. The effect of interest rate fluctuarions historically has been small relative to other factors affecting operating
results, such as rental rates and occupancy. The specific market risks and the potential impact an our operating results are described below.

Our operating results are affected by changes in interest rates as a result of borrowings under our variable rate unsecured credit facility
as well as ourstanding bonds with variable interest rates, primarily associated with short-term interest rates such as LIBOR. We had
$1,084,653,000 and $426,795,000 in variable rate debr outstanding (excluding variable rate debr effectively fixed through swap agreements}
as of December 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively. If interest rates on the variable rate debt had been 100 basis points higher chroughout 2007
and 2006, our annual interest costs would have increased by approximately $6,417,000 and $3,027,000, respectively, based on balances
outstanding during the applicable years.

We currently use interest rare protection agreements {consisting of interest rate swap and interest rate cap agreements) to reduce the impact of
interest rate Auctuations on certain variable rate indebredness, not for trading or speculative purposes. Under swap agreements:

* we agree to pay ta a counterparty the interest thar would have been incurred on a fixed principal amount at a fixed interest rate
(generally, che interest rate on a particular treasury bond on the date the agreement is entered into, plus a fixed incremenc); and

« the counterparry agrees to pay to us the interest that would have been incurred on the same principal amount at an assumed floating

interest rate tied to a particular marker index.

As of December 31, 2007, the effect of interest rate swap agreements is to fix the interest rate on approximately $46,340,000 of our variable
rate, tax-exempt debr. The incerest rate procection provided by cerrain swap agreements on the consolidated variable rare, tax-exempr debt
was not electively entered into by us but, rather, was a requirement of either the bond issuer or the credit enhancement provider related to
certain tax-exempt bond financings. Had these swap agreements not been in place during 2007 and 2006, cur annual interest costs would
have been approgimately $931,000 and $1,182,000 lower, respectively, based on balances outstanding and reported interest rates during the
applicable years. Additionally, if the variable interest rates on this debr had been 100 basis points higher throughout 2007 and 2006 and
these swap agreements had not been in place, our annuat interest costs would have been approximately $248,000 lower in 2007 and $37.000
higher in 2006.

Because the counterparties providing the swap agreements are major financial institutions which have an A+ or better credit rating by the
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group and the interest races fixed by the swap agreements are significandly higher than current market rates for
such agreements, we do not believe there is exposure at this rime to a default by a counterparty provider.

In addition, changes in incerest rates affect the fair vatue of our fixed rate debt, computed using a discounted cash flow model considering
our current market yields, which impacts the fair value of our aggregate indebtedness, Debt securities and notes payable (excluding amounts
outstanding under our variable rate unsecured credit facility) with an aggregate carrying value of $2,696,203,000 ac December 31, 2007 had an
estimated aggregate fair value of $2,756,890,000 ac December 31, 2007, Fixed rate debt (excluding our variable race debr effectively fixed through
swap agreements) represented $2,079,713,000 of the carrying value and $2,140,400,000 of the fair value at December 31, 2007. If interest rates
had been 100 basis poines higher as of December 31, 2007, the fair value of this fixed rate debt would have decreased by $84,459,000.

We do not have any expostre to foreign currency or equity price risk, and our exposure to commodity price risk is insignificant.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended

{Dollars in thousands, except per share data} 12-31-07 12-31-06 12-31-05
Revenue;
Rental and other income $806,599 $715,170 8650,907
Management, development and other fees 6,142 6,259 4,304
Total revenue 812,741 721,429 655,211
Expenses:

Operating expenses, excluding property taxes 242,702 217,134 197,990

Property taxes 74,912 66,786 63,975

Interest expense, net 97,545 109,184 125,171

Depreciation expense 179,549 160,442 156,455

General and administrative expense 28,494 24,767 25,761

Total expenses 623,202 578313 569,352
Equity in income of unconsolidated entities 59,169 7.455 7,198
Minority interest in consolidated partnerships (1,585) (573) (1,481)
Gain on sale of land 545 13,519 4,479
[ncome from continuing operations 247,668 163,517 96,055
Discontinued operations;

Income from discontinued operations 4,005 5,618 19,126

Gain on sale of communities 106,487 97.411 195,287

Total discontinued operations 110,492 103,029 214,413
Net income 358,160 266,546 310,468
Dividends attributable to preferred stock (8,700) {8,700} (8,700)
Net income available to common stockholders $349,460 $257,846 $301.768
Other comprehensive income:

Unrealized gain on cash flow hedges 213 891 2,626
Comprehensive income $349,673 $258,737 $304,394
Earnings per common share—basic:

Income from continuing operations

(net of dividends attributable to preferred stock) $ 304 3 209 $ 120
Discontinued operations 1.40 1.39 2.94
Net income available to common stockholders $ 444 $ 348 3 414
Earnings per common share—diluted:
Income from continuing operations
(nec of dividends attribucable to preferred stock) § 3.00 $ 206 3 118

Discontinued operations 1.38 1.36 2.87

Net income available to common stockholders $ 438 $§ 342 3§ 4.0

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Stasements,

AvalonBay Communities, Inc. 33



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated Accumulated
Shares issued Addinonal eamings other Total
Preferred Common Preferred  Common paid-in less comprehensive  stockholders'

{Dellats in thousands) stack stock stock stack capital dividends loss cquity
Balance at December 31, 2004 4,000,000 72,582,076 $40 $726 32,380,852 $(21,159) 3(7.096) $2,353,363
Net income — — — — —— 310,468 — 310,468
Unrealized gain on

cash flow hedges - — — — — — 2,626 2,626
Change in redemprion value

of minerity interest — — — — — —_ — —
Dividends declared to commeon

and preferred stockholders —_ — — — —_ (216,982) — (216,981
Issuance of common stock —_ 1,080,972 — 11 40,378 (377} — 40,012
Amortization of

deferred compensation — — — —_ 8,338 — —_ 8,338
Balance at December 31, 2005 4,000,000 73,663,048 40 137 2,429,568 71,950 (4,470) 2,497,825
Nert income — — — — —_ 266,546 —_ 266,546
Unrealized gain on

cash flow hedges — — — — — — 891 8%
Change in redemption value

of minarity interest - — — — — {2,593) — (2,593)
Dividends declared to commeon

and preferred stockholders - — —_ —_ — (241,159 —_ {241,155}
[ssuance of common stock — 1,005,324 — 10 38,839 {1,318) — 37,531
Amortization of

deferred compensation — — — — 14,109 — — 14,109
Balance at December 31, 2006 4,000,000 74,608,372 40 747 2,482,516 93,430 {3,579 2,573,154
Net income — — — —_ — 358,160 — 358,160
Unrealized gain on

cash flow hedges —_ — —_ — —_ —_ 213 3
Change in redemption value

of minoriry interest —_— — — — — (6,124) — (6,124)
Dividends declared to common

and preferred stockholders — — _ -— — (276,823) — (276,823)
Issuance of common stock — 5,130,855 — 31 619,359 (1,741) — 617,669
Purchase of common stock —_ {2,480,610) — (15) (93,501) (164,403} — {257,929
Amortization of

deferred compensztion — — — —_ 18,334 — — 18,334
Batance at December 31, 2007 4,000,000 77,318,611 $40 $773  $3.026,708 0§ 2,49 $(3,366) 33,026,654

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended

{Dollars in thousands}) 12-31-07 12-31-06 12-31-05

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $358,160 $266,546 $310,468

Adjustments o reconcile net income to cash provided
by operating activities:

Depreciation expense 179,549 160,442 156,454
Depreciation expense from discontinued operations 2,176 3,687 6,842
Amortization of deferred financing costs and debt premium/discount 4,934 4,474 4,022
Amortization of stock-based compensation 14,353 10,095 4,292
Income allocated to minority interest in consolidated partnerships 1,585 573 1,481
Equity in income of unconsolidated entities, net of eliminations (58,122) (6,480} (6,565}
Return on investment of unconsolidated entities ’ 130 298 330
Gain on sale of real estate assets (107,032) (110,930) (199,766}
Increase in cash in operating escrows {7.403) (844) (4,344)
Decrease (increase) in resident security deposis,

prepaid expenses and other assets 8.747 (4,381} 8,547
Increase in accrued expenses, other liabilities

and accrued interest payable 58,748 28,180 24,487
Net cash provided by operating activities 455,825 351,660 306,248

Cash flows from investing activities:
Development/redevelopment of real estate assets including

land acquisitions and deferred development costs (1,112,590) (735,167) (382,871}
Acquisition of real estate assets, including partner equity interest (13,341) (74,924) (57.415}
Capital expenditures—-existing real estate assets (13,851) (21,289) (17,570}
Capital expenditures—non-real estate assets {1,424) (957) (1,520}
Proceeds from sale of real estate and technology investments,

including reimbursement for Fund communities, net of selling costs 261,089 272,213 469,292
Increase in payables for construction 32,348 34,542 5,198
Decrease (increase) in cash in construction escrows 54,149 19,572 {21,784)
Increase in investments in unconsolidated real estate entiries (15,127) (5.371) {13,091)

Ner cash used in investing activities (809,247) (511,371} {19,761}
Cash Aows from fnancing activities:
[ssuance of common stock 621,029 26,551 36,611
Repurchase of common stock (257,929) — -
Dividends paid (268,966) (234,958} (215,391)
Net borrowings (repayments) under unsecured credit facility 514,500 (66,800} (35,200)
Issuance of mortgage notes payable and draws on construction loans 59,126 113,849 26,269
Repayments of mortgage notes payable (27,256) (6,827) (41,932)
Issuance {repayment) of unsecured notes (260,000) 343,743 (50,000)
Payment of deferred financing costs {6,550) (12,698) (1,292}
Redemption of units for cash by minority partners {6,851) {80} (50)
Contributions from minority and profit-sharing partners 1,333 — -
Distributions to DownREIT partnership unitholders (280) (392) (1.194)
Distributions to joint venture and profit-sharing pareners {1,796) (108} (114}
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 366,360 162,280 (282,293}
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 12,938 2,569 4,194
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 8,284 5,715 1,521
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 21,222 $ 8284 $ 5715
Cash paid during year for interest, net of amount capiralized $ 98,594 $102,640 $121,526

See accempanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing and financing activities (dollass in thousands):
Duting the year ended December 31, 2007:

* As described in Note 4, “Stockholders’ Equiry,™ 79,231 shares of common stock valued ar $10,971 were issued in connection with
stock grants, 2,929 shares valued at $365 were issued through the Company’s dividend reinvestment plan, 41,000 shares valued at
$4,381 were withheld to satisfy employees’ tax withholding and other Labilities and 8,609 shares valued ac $231 were forfeited, fora
net value of $6,724. In addition, the Company granted 331,356 aptions for common stock, nec of forfeitures, at a value of $7,518.

19,231 units of limited partnership, valued at $887, were presented for redemption to the DownREIT partnerships that issued such
units and were acquired by the Company in exchange for an equal number of shares of the Company’s common stock.

The Company recorded a decrease to other liabilities and a corresponding gain to other comprehensive incame of $213 to adjust che
Company's Hedging Derivarives (as defined in Nate 5, “Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”) to their fair value,

The Company issued $100,000 of variable-rate tax-cxemprt debr relating to Avalon Morningside Park. The proceeds were placed in
an escrow account until requisitioned for construction funding, none of which has been drawn for use in the development of the

commuaity.

Commeon and preferred dividends declated but not paid cotaled $67,909.

The Company recorded an increase of $6,124 to minority interest with a corresponding decrease to accumulared earnings less
dividends to adjust the redemprion value associated with a put option held by a joint venture partner. This put option allows our
partner 1o put their interest in the investment to the Company ar the future fair marker value.

During the year ended December 31, 2006:

* As described in Note 4, “Stockholders’ Equiry,” 122,172 shares of common srock valued ar $12,368 were issued in connection with
stock grants, 2,306 shares valued ar $256 were issued through the Company’s dividend reinvestment plan, 47,111 shares valued ar
$3,449 were withheld o sacisfy employees’ rax withholding and other liabilities and 5,910 shares valued at $193 were forfeited, fora
net value of $9,182. In addition, the Company granted 849,769 options for comman stack, net of forfeitures, at a value of $9,946.

* 308,345 units of limited partnership, valued at $14,166, were presented for redemption to the DownREIT partnerships thar issued
such units and wese acquired by the Company in exchange for an equal number of shares of the Company’s common stock.

* The Company issued $187,300 of variable rate, tax-exempr debt, of which $107,451 in proceeds were not received, but placed in an
escrow until requisicioned for construction funding.

* ‘The Company recorded a decrease to other liabilities and a corresponding gain to other comprehensive income of $891 to adjust the
Company'’s Hedging Derivarives (as defined in Note 5, “Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”) to their fair value.

+ The Company recorded an increase of $2,593 1o minority interest with a corresponding decrease to accumulated earnings less
dividends to adjust the redemprion value associated with a put option held by a joint venture partner. This put aptien allows our
partner to put their interest in the investment to the Company at the furure fair markec value.

+ Common and preferred dividends declared but not paid totaled $60,417.
During the year ended December 31, 2005:

+ 165,790 shares of common stock were issued in connection with stock grants, 1,295 shares were issued through the Company's
dividend reinvestment plan, 8,971 shares were issued to a member of the Board of Directors in fulfillment of a deferred stock award,
50,916 shares were withheld 10 satisfy employees’ wax withholding and other liabilities and 9,965 shares were forfeited, for a net value
of $9,317. In addition, the Company granted 696,484 options for commaon stock, net of forfeitures, at a value of $4,521.

» 49,263 units of limited parcnership, valued ar $2,202, wete presented for redemption to the DownREIT partnerships that issued such
units and were acquired by the Company in exchange for an equal number of shares of the Company’s common stock.

= The Company deconsolidated mortgage notes payable in the aggregate amount of $24,869 upon admittance of outside investors into
the Fund (as defined in Note 6, “Investments in Unconsolidated Entities”).

* The Company assumed fixed rate debt of $4,566 as part of the acquisition of an improved land parcel.

* The Company recorded a decrease to other liabilities and a corresponding gain 1o other comprehensive income of $2,626 to adjusc
the Company’s Hedging Derivatives to their fair value.

« Common and preferred dividends declared but not paid toraled $54,476.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Dotlars in thousands, except per share data)

1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies

Organization  AvalonBay Communities, Inc. (the “Company,” which term, unless the context otherwise requires, refers to AvalonBay
Communities, Inc. together with its subsidiaries), is a Maryland corporation thar has elected 1o be taxed as a real estare investment trust
{(“REIT") under the [nternal Revenue Code of 1986 (“the Code™), as amended. The Company focuses on the ownership and operation of
apartment communities in high barrier-to-entry markers of the Unired Staces. These markers are located in the Northeast, Mid-Adantic,
Midwest, Pacific Northwest, and Northern and Southern California regions of the country.

At December 31, 2007, the Company owned or held a direct or indirect ownership interest in 163 operating apartment communities
containing 45,932 aparrment homes in ten states and the District of Columbia, of which eight communities containing 2,231 aparimenc
homes were under reconstruction. The operations of 139 of these communities, containing 40,509 apartment homes are consolidated for
financial reporring purposes. In addition, the Company owned or held a direct or indirect ownership interest in 21 communities under
construction chat are expected to contain an aggregate of 6,816 apartment homes when completed. The Company alse owned or held a direct
or indirect ownership interest in rights to develop an additional 48 communities that, if developed as expected, will contain an estimated
13,656 apartment homes.

Principles of Consolidation  The Company is the surviving corporation from the merger (the “Merger”) of Bay Apartment Communities,
Inc. (“Bay”) and Avalon Properties, Inc. ("Avalon”} on Junc 4, 1998, in which Avalon shareholders received 0.7G83 of a share of common stack
of the Company for each share owned of Avalon commeon stock. The Merger was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting,
with the historical financial statements for Avalon presented prior to the Merger, At that time, Avalon ceased 1o legally exist, and Bay as the
surviving legal entity adopted the historical financial statements of Avalon. Consequendly, Bay'’s assets were recorded in che historical financial
statements of Avalon at an amount equal to Bay's debrt ourstanding at thar time plus the value of capital stock rewained by the Bay stockholders,
which approximates fair value. In connection with the Merger, the Company changed its name from Bay Apartment Communities, Inc. to

AvalonBay Communities, Inc.

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned partnerships, certain
joint venture partnerships, subsidiary partnerships structured as DownREITs and any variable interest entities consolidated under FASB
Interpretation No. 46 (*FIN 46(R}"), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entitics, an Interpretation of ARB No. 51,” as revised in December
2003. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Company assesses consolidation of variable interest entities under the guidance of FIN 46(R). The Company accounts for joint venture
entities and subsidiary partnerships, including those structured as DownREITS, thar are not variable interest entities, in accordance with
EITF Issue No. 04-5, “Determining Whether a General Partner, or the General Partners as 2 Group, Controls a Limited Partnership or
Similar Entity When the Limited Partners Have Certain Rights,” Statement of Position (“SOP”) 78-9, “Accounting for Investments in Real
Estate Venrures,” Accounting Principles Board (“APB”} Opinion No, 18, “The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Coramon
Stock” and EITF Topic D-46, “Accounting for Limited Partnership Investments.” The Company uses EITF Tssue No. 04-5 to evaluate the
partnership of each joint venture entiry and determine whether control over the partnership, as defined by the EITE, lies with the general
partner, or the limited partners, when the limited partners have certain rights. The general partner in a limited partnership is presumed to
concrol thar limited partnership, unless that presumption is overcome by the limited partners having cither: (i) the substantive abiliry, cither
by a single limited partner or through a simple majority vote, to dissolve the limited partnership or otherwise remove the general partner
without cause; or (i) substantive participating righrs. 1f the Company is the general partner and has control aver the partnership, or if the
Company's limited partnership ownership includes the ability to dissolve the partnership, or has substantive parricipating rights, as discussed
above, the Company consolidates the investmencs. If the Company is not che general partner, or the Campany's partnership interest does not
contain either of the above terms which overcome the presumption of control in a limited partnership residing with the general parcner, the
Company then looks to the guidance in SOP 78-9, APB No. 18 and EITF Topic D-46 o determine the accounting framework to apply. The
Company generally uses the equity method to account for these investments unless its ownership interest is so minor that it has virtally no
influence over the partnership’s aperating and financial policies, Investments in which the Company has litde or no influence are accounced
for using the cost method.

In each of the partnerships structured as DownREITS, either the Company or one of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries is the general
partner, and there are one or more limited partners whose interest in the partnership is represented by units of limited partnesship interest.
For each DownREIT partnership, limited partners are entitled 1o receive an initial distribution of current cash Row before any distribution
is made to the general partner. Although the partnership agreemencs for each of the DownREITs are different, generatly the distributions per
uniz paid to the holders of units of limited partnership interests have approximated the Company’s current common stock dividend per share.
The holders of units of limited partnership interests have the right o present all or some of their anits for redemption for a cash amount as
determined by the applicable partnership agreement and based on the fair value of the Company's common stock. In lieu of cash redemption,
the Company may elect to exchange such units for an equal number of shares of the Company’s commeon stock.
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In conjunction with the acquisition and development of investmenss in unconsolidated entities, the Company may incur costs in excess of its
equity in the underlying assets. These costs are capicalized and depreciated over 1he life of the underlying assets o the extent chat the Company

expects to recovet the costs.

If there is an event or change in circumstance chat indicates a loss in the value of an investment, the Company’s policy is to record the loss and
reduce the value of the investment to its fair value. A loss in value would be indicated if the Company could not recover the carrying value of the
invesement or if the investee could not sustain an earnings capacity that would justify the carrying amount of the investment, The Company did
f10T TECOgNIzZE an impairment loss on any of its invesuments in unconsolidated entities during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 or 2005.

Revenue and Gain Recognition  Rental income related to leases is recognized on an accrual basis when due from residents in accordance
with SEC Staff Accouncing Bulletin No. 104, “Revenue Recognition,” and Stztement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”™) No. 13,
“Accounting for Leases.” In accordance with the Company’s standard lease terms, rental payments are generally due on a monthly basis. Any
cash concessions given at the inception of the lease are amortized over the approximate life of the lease, which is generally one year.

The Company accounts for sales of real estate assets and the related gain recognition in accordance with SFAS No. 66, “Accaunting for Sales

of Real Estate.”

Real Estate  Operating real estate assets are stated ar cost and consist of land, buildings and improvements, furnicure, fixcures and equipment,
and other costs incurred during cheir development, redevelopment and acquisition. Significant expenditures which improve or extend the life
of an asset are capiralized. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to operarians as incutred.

The Company’s policy with respect to capital expenditures is generally to capitalize only non-recurting expenditures. Improvements and
upgrades are capitalized only if the item exceeds $15, extends the useful life of the asset and is not related o making an apartment home ready
for the next resident. Purchases of personal properrty, such as computers and furniture, are capitalized only if the irem is a new addition and
exceeds $2.5. The Company generally expenses purchases of personal property made for replacement purposes.

The capirtalization of costs during the development of assets (including interest and relaced loan fees, property taxes and other direct and
indirect costs} begins when the Company has determined thar development of the future asser is probable and ends when the asset, or a
portion of an asset, is defivered and is ready for its intended use. For redevelopment efforts, we capitalize costs beginning either (i) in advance
of taking homes our of service when significant renovation of the common area has begun until the redevelopment is completed, or (ii) when
an apartment home is taken out-of-service for redevelopment until the redevelopment is completed and the apartment home is available for
a new resident. Rental income and operating costs incurred during che initial lease-up or post-redevelopiment lease-up period are secognized
as they accrue.

In a2ccordance with SFAS No. 67, "Accounting for Costs and Initial Rental Cperations of Real Estate Projects,” the Company capitalizes
pre-development costs incutred in pursuit of new development opportunities for which the Company currently believes furure development
is probable ("Development Rights”). Future development of these Development Rights is dependent upon various factors, including zoning
and regulatory approval, rental market conditions, construction costs and availzhility of capital. Pre-development costs incurred in the pursuit
of Development Righes for which furure development is nor yet considered probable are expensed as incurred. In addition, if the status of
a Development Right changes, making future development by the Company no longer probable, any capitalized pre-development costs
are written-off with a charge to expense. The Company expensed costs related to abandoned pursuits, which includes the abandonment or
impairment of Development Rights, acquisition pursuits and disposicion pursuits, in the amounss of $6,974 in 2007, $2,115 in 2006 and
$816 in 2005. These costs are included in operating expenses, excluding prop=tty raxes on the accompanying Consolidated Statermnents of
Operations and Other Comprehensive Income. Abandoned pursuit costs can vary greatly, and the costs incurred in any given period may be
significantly different in furure years.

The Company owns land improved with office buildings and industrial space occupied by unrclared third parties in connection with five
Development Rights. The Company intends to manage the current improvements uniil such time as all tenant obligations have been satisfied
or eliminated through negotiation, and construction of new apartment communities is ready 1o begin. As provided under the guidance of
SFAS No. 67, the revenue from incidental operations received from the current improvements in excess of any incremental costs are being
recorded as a reduction of total capitalized costs of the Development Right and not as part of net income.

In connection with the acquisition of an operating community, the Company performs a valuation, allocating to each asser and liabilicy
acquired in such rransaction, their estimared fair values at che dare of acquisition in accordance with SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations.”
The purchase price allocations to cangible assets, such as land, buildings and improvements, and furnizure, fixtures and equipment, are
reflected in real estate assecs and depreciated over their estimared useful Yives. Any purchase price aliocation to intangible assers, such as
in-place leases, is included in prepaid expenses and other assets on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets and amortized over the
average remaining lease term of the acquired leases. The fair vafue of acquired in-place leases is derermined based on the estimared cost to
replace such leases, including foregone rencs during an assumed re-lease period, as well as the impact on projected cash fow of acquired leases
with leased rents above or below current market rents.
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Depreciation is ealculated on buildings and improvements using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, which range from
seven to thirry years. Furniture, Axtures and equipment are generally depreciared using the straight-line method over their estimated useful
lives, which range from three years (primarily computer-related equipment) to seven years,

It is the Company’s policy to petform a quarterly qualitative analysis to determine if there are changes in circumstances thar suggest the
carrying value of a long-lived asser may not be recoverable. If there is an event or change in circumstance thac indicates an impairmenct in the
value of an operating communiry, the Company compares the current and projected operating cash flow of the community over its remaining
useful life, on an undiscounted basis, to the carrying amount of the communicy. If the carrying amount is in excess of the estimated projected
operating cash flow of the community, the Company would recognize an impairment loss equivalent to an amount required to adjust the
carrying amount to its estimated fair marker value. The Company did not recognize an impairment loss on any of its operating communities
during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 or 2005.

Income Taxes The Company elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Code, as amended!, for the year ended December 31, 1994 and has
not revoked such election. A corporate REIT is a legal entity which helds real estate interests and must meet a number of organizational and
operational requirements, including a requirement that it currently distribuce at least 90% of its adjusted taxable income to stockholders. Asa
REIT, the Company generally will not be subject to corporate level federal income tax on taxable income if it distributes 100% of the raxable
income over the time period allowed under the Code to its stockholders. Management believes thar all such conditions for the avoidance
of income taxes have been met for the periods presented. Accordingly, no provision for federal and state income taxes has been made. If
the Company fails to qualify as 2 REIT in any taxable year, it will be subject 10 federal income taxes ar regular corporate rates {including
any applicable alternative minimum tax) and may not be able to qualify as 2 REIT for four subsequent taxable years. Even if the Company
qualifies for raxation as a REIT, the Company may be subject to certain state and local taxes on its income and properrty, and ro federal income
and excise taxes on its undistributed taxable income. In addition, taxable income from non-REIT activities managed through taxable REIT
subsidiaries is subject to federal, state and local income taxes.

The following reconciles net income available to common stockholders to taxable net income for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006
and 2005:

2007 2006 2005

{Unaudited) Estimate Actual Actual
Net income available to commen stockholders $349,460 $257,846 $301,768

Dividends areributable o preferred srock,

not deductible for tax 8,700 8,700 8,700
GAAP gain on sale of communities less than tax gain 11,808 7,242 9,345
Depreciation/Amortization timing differences on real estate (49,971) {21,974) (13,503)
Tax compensation expense in excess of GAAP (29,067) {26,540) (18,969
Ocher adjustments 12,259 13,335 8,423
Taxahle net income $303,189 $238,609 $295,764

The following summarizes the tax components of the Company's common and preferred dividends declared for the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005:

(Unaudited) 2007 2006 2005
Ordinary income 35% 48% 9%
15% capital gain 54% 43% 77%
Unrecaprured $1250 gain 11% 0% 14%

Deferred Financing Costs Deferred financing costs include fees and other expenditures necessary to obtain debr financing and are
amortized on a straight-line basis, which approximates the effective interest method, aver the shorzer of the term of the loan or the related credit
enhancement facility, if applicable. Unamortized financing costs are written-off when deb is retired before the maturicy date. Accumulated
amortization of deferred financing costs was $19,368 at December 31, 2007 and was $16,179 at December 31, 2006,

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Cash in Escrow  Cash and cash equivalents include all cash and liquid investments with an original maturity
of three months or less from the date acquired. Cash in escrow consists primarily of construction financing proceeds that are rescricted for
use in the construction of a specific communizy. The majority of the Company’s cash, cash equivalents and cash in escrows are held at major
commercial banks.

Interest Rate Contracts The Company utilizes derivative financial instruments to manage interest rare risk and generally designates
these financial instruments as cash flow hedges under the guidance of SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivarive Instruments and Hedging
Activities,” as amended. This statement requires that derivatives be recorded on the balance sheet as either an assert or liability measured at its
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fair value, with changes in fair value recognized currercly in earnings unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met. For cash flow hedge
relationships, changes in the fair value of the derivative instrument that are deemed effective ar offserting che risk being hedged are reported
in other comprehensive income. For cash flow hedges where cthe cumularive changes in the fair value of the derivative exceed the cumulative
changes in fair value of the hedged item, the ineffective portion is recognizad in current period earnings. As of December 31, 2007 and
December 31, 2006, the Company had approximarely $213,108 and $262,000, respectively, in variable rate debr subject to cash flow hedges.
As of December 31, 2007, the Company did not apply hedge accounting for an additional $92,400 in variable rate debr which is subject to
interest rate caps. See Note 5, “Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” for further discussion of derivative financial instruments.

Comprehensive Income  Comprehensive income, as reflected on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive
Incotme, is defined as all changes in equity during each period except for those resulting from investments by or distributions to shareholders.
Accumulated other comprehensive loss as reflected on the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equiry reflects the effective portien of
the cumulative changes in the fair value of derivatives in qualifying cash flow hedge relationships.

Earnings per Common Share In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per Share,” basic earnings per share is
computed by dividing earnings available ro common stockholders by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period.
Other potentially dilutive common shares, and the related impact to earnings, are considered when calculating earnings per share on a diluted

basis. The Company’s earnings per common share are determined as follows:

For the year ended
12-31-07 12-31-06 12-31-05

Basic and diluted shares outstanding
Weighted average common shares—basic 78,680,043 74,125,795 72,952,492
Weighted average DownREIT units outstanding 105,859 172,255 474,440
Effecr of dilutive securities 1,071,025 1,288,848 1,332,386
Weighted average common shares—diluted 79,856,927 75,586,898 74,759,318
Calculation of Earnings per Share—basic
Net income available to common stockholders $ 349,460 $  257.846 $§ 301,768
Weighted average common shares—basic 78,680,043 74,125,795 72,952,492
Earnings per common share—basic $ 4.44 3 3.48 3 4.14
Calculation of Earnings per Share—dilured
Net income available to common stockholders % 349,460 $ 257,846 $ 301,768
Add: Minerity interest of DownREIT unitholders

in consolidated partnerships, including discontinued operations 280 391 1,363
Adjusted net income available to common steckholders $ 349,740 § 258,237 § 303,131
Weighted average common shares—diluced 79,856,927 75,586,898 74,759,318
Earnings per common share—dituted 3 4.38 pd 3.42 $ 4.05

Certain options to purchase shares of commeon stock in the amounts of 335,856 and 3,000 were ousstanding during the years ended
December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively, but were not included in the compuration of diluted earnings per share because in
applying the treasury stock method under the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R}, “Share Based Payments,” as discussed below, such options are
anti-dilutive. Employee options to purchase shares of common stock of 4,501 were outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2005,
buc were not included in the computation of dilured earnings per share because the options’ exercise prices were greater than the average
market price of the common shares for the period and therefore, are anti-dilutive,

Stock-Based Compensation Effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopred the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” as amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and
Disclosure — an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123,” prospectively to all employee awards granted, modified, or secled on or after
January 1, 2003. Awards under the Company’s stock option plans vest over a three-year period. Therefore, the cost related to stock-based
employee compensation for employee stock options included in the determination of net income for the years ended December 31, 2007 and
2006 is the same as the cost that would have been recognized if the fair value based method had been applied to all awards since the original
effective date of SFAS No. 123. However, the cost related to stock-based eraployee compensation for employee stock options included in
the determination of ner income for the year ended December 31, 2005 is less than that which would have been recognized if the fair value
based method had been applied 1o all awards granted since the original effective date of SFAS No. 123, If the fair value based method had
been applied to all outsranding and unvested awards in the year ended December 31, 2005, net income would have been $112 lower for the
year ended December 31, 2005. There would not have been any material impact on earnings per comimon shate — diluted for the year ended
December 31, 2005.
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The Company adopred the provisions of SFAS Ne. 123(R} using the modified prospective transition method on January 1, 2006, The adoption
of SFAS No. 123(R) did not have a material impact on the Company’s financiat position or resules of operations. However, the adoption of SFAS
No. 123(R) changed the service period for, and timing of, the recognition of compensation cost related to retiremen: eligibilicy, which will generally
result in accelerated expense recognition by the Company for its stock-based compensation programs. For the year ended December 31, 2005,
the Company recorded compensation cost over the vesting period, regardless of eligibility for retirement {see Note 8, “Commitments and
Contingencies,” for a discussion of the Company’s retirement plan). If the Company had recorded compensation cost based on retirement
eligibility, the increase to compensation cost during che year ended December 31, 2005 would not have been material.

Under the provisions of SFAS No. 123{R), the Company is required to estimate the forfeirure of scock options and recognize compensation
cast net of the estimated forfeitures, The estimated forfeitures included in compensation cast are adjusted to reflect actual forfeitures ar the
end of the vesting period. Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), option forfeitures were recognized as they occurred. The forfeiture rate
at December 31, 2007 was 2.3%. The application of estimated forfeitures did not marerially impact compensation expense for the year ended
December 31, 2007 or 2006.

Assets Held for Sale & Discontinued Operations  The Company follows SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal
of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144") which requires thar the assets and liabilities of any ¢communities which have been sold, or otherwise
qualify as held for sale, be presented separately in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. In addition, the results of operations for these assers
that meet the definition of discontinued operations are presented as such in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Other Comprehensive Income. Held for sale and discontinued operations classifications are provided in both the current and prior periods
presented. Real estate assets held for sale are measured ar the lower of the carrying amount or the fair value less the cost o sell. Both the
real estate assets and corresponding liabilities are presented separately in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Subsequent to
classification of a communiry as held for sale, no further depreciation is recorded. For those assets qualifying for classification as discontinued
operations, the community specific components of net income presented as discontinued aperations include net operating income, minority
interest expense, depreciation expense and interest expense, net. For periods prior to the asser qualifying for discontinued operations under
SFAS 144, the Company reclassified the results of operations to discontinued operations in accordance with SFAS 144, Subsequent to the
reclassification to discontinued operations, the impact of assets classified as discontinued operations on the Consolidazed Statements of
Operations and Other Comprehensive Income will include depreciatien. In addition, che net gain or loss (including any impairment loss)} on
the eventual disposal of communities held for sale will be presented as discontinued operations when recognized. A change in presentation for
held for sale or discontinued operations will not have any impact on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations. The Company
combines the operaring, investing and financing portions of cash flows attributable to discontinued operations with the respective cash lows

from continuing operations on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows,

Use of Estimates  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make cermain estimates and
assumptions. These estimates and assumpzions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the dates of the financial staternents and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting petiods. Actual results

could differ from thase estimares.

Reclassifications  Certain reclassifications have been made to amounts in prior years' financial statements ta conform to current year
presentations.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards The Company adopred the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48, "Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109,” (“FIN 487), on January 1, 2007. The Company did not have
any unrecognized tax benefits and chere was no material effect on cither the financial condition or results of operations of the Company as a
result of implementing FIN 48. We do not believe that there will be any material changes in our unrecognized tax positions over the next 12
months. The Company is subject to cxamination by the respective taxing authorities for the tax years 2004 through 2006.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements,” which standardizes the definition of fair value, establishes
a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures abour fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 applies under other accounting
pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements, and accordingly, this statement does not require any new fair value
measurements, SFAS No. 157 is effective for all fiscal years beginning afcer November 15, 2007. The Company does not believe that the
adoption of SFAS No. 157 will have any material impact on its financial position or results of operations.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 141(R), “Business Combinations.” This statement changes the accounting for acquisitions
specifically eliminating the step acquisition model, changing the recognition of contingent consideration from being recognized when it is
probable to being recognized at the time of acquisition, disallowing the capiralization of transaction costs and delays when restrucrurings
related to acquisitions can be recognized. The standard is effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2008 and will only impact the
accounting for acquisitions subsequent to adoption of che standard.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Sratement No. 160, “Accounting and Reporting of Nonconrrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements, an amendment of ARB No. 51." Under this statement, noncontrolling interests are considered equity and thus our practice of
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reparting minority interests in the mezzanine section of the consolidated balance sheet will be eliminated. Also, under the new standard, net
income will encompass the total income of all consolidared subsidiaries and there will be separate disclosure on the face of the consolidated
statement of operations and other comprehensive income of the attribution of that income between controlling and noncontrolling interests.
Las1, increases and decreases in noncontrolling interests will be treated as equity transactions. The standard is effective for fiscal years ending
after December 15, 2008.

In December 2007, the FASB ratified the consensus of Emerging [ssues Task Farce on Issue 07-6 “Accounting for the Sale of Real Estate
Subject to the Requirements of FASB Statement No. 66 (“SFAS 66") When the Agreement Includes 2 Buy-Sell Clause™ (“EITF 07-67).
EITF 07-6 addresses the impact of a buy-sell clause contained within a joint venture agreement on a seller’s continuing involvement in
the entity and correspending abilizy to recognize profit on a sale of real estate o the joint venture, in which they retain a partial ownership
interest, In EITF 07-6, the Task Force reached a consensus thar a buy-sell clause, in and of itself, does not constitute a prohibited form of
continuing involvement that would preclude partial sates treatment under SFAS 66. However, a buy-sell clause may constitute a prohibited
form of continuing involvement that precludes partial sales creatment if the buyer cannot act independently from the seller or if the seller
is economically compelled ro reacquire the other partner’s interest in the jointly owned entity. EITF 07-6 is effective for new arrangements
entered into in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2007 and interim pericds within those fiscal years.

2. Interest Capitalized

The Company capitalizes interest during the development and redevelopment of real estate assets in accordance with SFAS No. 34,
“Capiralization of Interest Cost.” Capitalized interest associated with communities under development or redevelopment totaled $73,118 for
2007, $46,388 for 2006 and $25,284 for 2005.

3. Notes Payable, Unsecured Notes and Credit Facility

‘The Company’s mortgage nores payable, unsecured notes and variable rate unsecured credit facility as of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006
are summarized below. The following amounts and discussion de not include the mortgage notes related to three communities classified as held
for sale as of December 31, 2006 as shown in the Consolidated Balance Sheets {see Note 7, “Real Estate Disposition Activities”).

12-31-07 12-31-06

Fixed rate unsecured notes'™ $1,893,499 32,153,078
Fixed rate mortgage notes payable—conventional and tax-exempt 230,050 210,114
Variable rate mortgage notes payable—conventional and tax-exempt 570,153 438,236
Total notes payable and unsecured notes 2,693,702 2,801,428
Variable rate unsecured credit facilicy 514,500 _
Total mortgage notes payable, unsecured notes and unsecured credit facility $3.208,202 $2,801,428

0 Balances ac December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006 include $2,501 and $2,922 of debt discount, respectively,
The following debt activity occurred during the year ended December 31, 2007:

* we issued $16,926 of variable rate mortgage debt for an operating community in June, maturing in May 2012;
* we repaid $15,980 of mortgage debt, secured by the assets of an operating community in July;

* we assumed $3,941 of fixed rate mortgage debt in conjunction with the acquisition of an operating communicy in July 2007 and
subsequently defeased the note in December 2007;

we issued $100,000 of variable rate, tax-exempt debe for a development community in September, maturing in November 2040;

we repaid $150,000 in previously issued unsecured notes in August 2007, along with any unpaid interest, pursuant to their scheduled
maturity;

* we issued $42,200 of fixed rate, tax-exempt morrgage debe for an operating community in September 2007, marturing in October 2047;

* in conjunction with the sale of a community we were relieved of our obligation related co the mortgage note secured by the assets of

the community in the amount of $8,116, as it was assumed by the purchaser in September;

* we repaid $110,000 in previously issued unsecured notes in December 2007, along with any unpaid interest, pursuant to their
scheduled maturity;

we borrowed $514,500 under our unsecured credic facility; and

* we increased our borrowing capaciry under our unsecured credir facility by $350,000, to $1,000,000.
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In the aggregate, secured notes payable mature at various dates from October 2008 through April 2043 and are secured by certain apartment
communities and improved land parcels {with a net carrying value of $1,202,135 as of December 31, 2007). As of December 31, 2007, the
Company has guaranteed approximately $108,575 of mortgage notes payable held by wholly owned subsidiaries; all such mortgage notes
payable are consolidated for Ainancial reporting purposes. The weighted average interest rate of the Company’s fixed rate mortgage notes
payable {conventional and tax-exempt) was 6.5% and 6.8% at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively. The weighted
average interest rate of the Company's variable rate mortgage notes payable and tts unsecured credit facility, including the effect of certain
financing related fees, was 5.4% at December 31, 2007 and 5.8% at December 31, 2006,

Scheduled payments and maturities of mortgage notes payable and unsecured notes outstanding at December 31, 2607 are as follows:

Secured notes Secured notes Unsecured notes Stated interest rate

Year payments maturities maturities of unsecured notes
2008 8,788 4,432 50,000 6.625%
146,000 8.250%
2009 6,204 76,141 150,000 7.500%
2010 6,226 29,388 200,000 7.500%
2011 5,324 36,579 300,000 6.625%
50,000 6.625%
2012 4,265 27,143 250,000 6.125%
250,000 5.500%
2013 4,610 — 100,000 4.950%
2014 4,988 33,100 150,000 5.375%
2015 5,396 — — —
2016 5.838 — 250,000 5.750%
2017 6,328 44,700 — —
Thereafter 253,707 237,046 — —

$311,674 $488,529 $1,896,000

The Company's unsecured notes centain a number of financial and other covenants with which the Company must comply, including, but
not limited to, limits on the aggregate amount of total and secured indebtedness the Company may have on a consolidated basis and limits
on the Company’s required debt service payments.

In November 2007 we increased our borrowing capacity under our existing revolving variable rate unsecured credis facility from $650,000 o
$1,000,000. The facility is with a syndicare of commercial banks, to whom we pay, in the aggregate, an annual facility fee of approximately
$1,250. The Company had $514,500 outstanding under the current credic facility and $61,689 outstanding in letters of credit on
December 31, 2007, At December 31, 2006 there were no amounts outstanding under the currenc facility and $38,713 outstanding in lecters
of credit. The unsecured credic facilicy bears interest at varying levels based on the London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR”), rating levels
achieved on the Company’s unsecured notes and on a marurity schedule selected by the Company. The current stated pricing is LIBOR plus
0.40% per annum (5.81% at December 31, 2007). The stated spread over LIBOR can vary from LIBOR plus 0.325% to LIBOR plus 1.00%
hased on the Company’s credit rating. In addition, the unsecured credit facility includes a competitive bid option, which allows banks that
are pare of the lender consortium to bid to make loans to the Company at a rate that is lower than the stated rate provided by the unsecured
credit facility for up to §422,500. The competitive bid option may result in lower pricing than the stated rate if market conditions allow. The
Company did not have any amounts outstanding under this competitive bid option as of December 31, 2007. The Company is in compliance
with certain customary covenants under the unsecured credit facility; including, bur not limited to, maintaining certain maximum leverage
ratios, 2 minimum fixed charges coverage ratio and minimum unencumbered assets and equiry levels. The credit facility matures in November
2011, assuming exercise of a one-year renewal option by the Company.

4. Stockholders’ Equity

As of both December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company had authorized for issuance 140,000,000 and 50,000,000 shares of common and
preferred stock, respectively. As of December 31, 2007, the Company has the following series of redeemable preferred stock outstanding ata
stated value of $100,000. This series has no stated marurity and is not subject to any sinking fund or mandatory redemptions.

Shares outstanding Payable Annual Liquidation Non-redeemable
Series December 31, 2006 quarterly rate preference prior to
H 4,000,000 March, fune, September, 8.70% $25.00 October 15, 2008
December
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Dividends on the preferred stock are cumulative from the date of original issue and are payable quarterly in arrcars on or before the 15th day
of each month as stated in the table abave. The preferred stock is not redeemable prior ro the date stated in the table above, but on or after
the stated date, may be redeemed for cash at the option of the Company in whole or in part ar a redemprion price of $25.00 per share, plus
all accrued and unpaid dividends, if any.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company:

{i)  issued 4,600,000 shares of common stock in connection with an equity offering;
it} issued 474,496 shares of common stock in connection with stock options exercised;
iii) issued 19,231 shares of common stock to acquire an equal number of DownREIT limited partnership units;

iv) issued 2,929 shares through the Company’s dividend reinvestmens plan;

vi) issued 8,577 common shares through the Company’s employee stack purchase program;
vil) had 8,609 shares of restriceed stock forfeired;

(

(

(

(v} issued 75,231 common shares in connection with stock grants;

(

(

(viii) withheld 41,000 shares to satisfy employees’ tax wichholding and cther liabilices; and
(

ix) purchased 2,480,616 shares through the Company’s stock repurchase program,

In addition, the Company granted 344,429 options for commeon stock to employees. As required under SFAS No. 123(R), any deferred
compensation related to the Company’s stock option and restricred stock grants during che year ended December 31, 2007 is not reflected on
the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheert as of December 31, 2007 and will not be reflected until earned as compensation <ost.

Dividends per common share were $3.40 for the year ended December 31, 2007, $3.12 for the year ended December 31, 2006 and $2.84 for
the year ended December 31, 2005. The average dividend for afl non-redeemed preferred shares during 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $2.18 per
share. No preferred shares were redeemed in 2007, 2006 or 2005,

In 2004, the Company resumed its Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan (the "DRIP”). The DRIP allows for helders of the
Company’s common stock or preferred stock to purchase shares of common stock through either reinvested dividends or optional cash
payments. The purchase price per share for newly issued shares of common stock under the DRIP will be equal to the last reported sale price
for a share of the Company’s commeon stock as reported by the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) on the applicable investment date.

In January 2007, the Company filed a new shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission, allowing the Company to
sell an undetermined number or amount of certain debt and equity securities as Jefined in the prospectus. In addition, in conjunction with its
inclusion in che S&P 500 Index in January 2007, the Company issued 4,600,000 shares of its common stock at $129.30 per share, resulting in
net proceeds in the amount of approximately $594,000.

During 2007, the Company announced that its Board of Directors increased to $300,000 the Company’s common stock repurchase program
for purchases of shares of its common stock in open market or negotiated transactions. From August 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007, the
Company repurchased 2,480,616 shares at an average price of $103.95 per share through this program. The Company did not have any
purchases under chis program prior to August 1, 2007.

5. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company enters into interest rate swap and interest rate cap agreements (collectively, the "Hedging Derivatives™) to reduce the impace
of interest rate fluctuations on its variable rate, tax-exempt bonds and its varizble rate conventional secured debt {collectively, the “Hedged
Debt™). The Company has nort entered into any interest rate hedge agreements ror its conventional unsecured debt and does not enter into
derivative transactions for trading or other speculative purposes. The following table summarizes the consolidated Hedging Derivarives ar

December 31, 2007:

Interest Interest
{Dollars in thousands} Rate Caps Rate Swaps
Notional balance $235,973 $46,337
Weighted average interest rate (" 5.0% 6.5%
Weighted average capped interest rate 7.5% nfa
Earliest maturiry date May-09 Jun-10
Latest maturity dare Mar-14 Jui-10
Estimated fair value, asset/(liability) 3 115 ${2.808)

™ For interest rate caps, this represents the weighted average interest rate on the debs,
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At December 31, 2007, the Company had nine derivatives designated as cash flow hedges and four derivatives not designaced as hedges.
For the derivative positions that the Company has determined qualify as effective cash Aow hedges under SFAS No. 133, the Company has
recorded the effective portion of cumulative changes in the fair value of the Hedging Derivatives in other comprehensive income. Amounts
recorded in other comprehensive income will be reclassified into earnings in the periods in which earnings are affected by the hedged cash
flow, To adjust the Hedging Derivatives to their fair value, the Company recorded unrealized gains in other comprehensive income of $213,
$891 and $2,626 during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. These amounts will be reclassified into carnings
in conjunction with the periodic adjustment of the floating rates on the Hedged Debt, in interest expense, net. The amount reclassified into
carnings in 2007, as well as the estimated amount included in accumnulaced other comprehensive income as of December 31, 2007, expecred
to be reclassified into earnings within the next twelve months o offser the variability of cash Aows of the hedged items during this period are

not material.

The Company assesses both at inception and on an on-going basis, the effectiveness of qualifying cash flow hedges. Hedge ineffectiveness,
reported as a component of general and administrative expenses, did not have a material impact on earnings of the Company for any prior
period, and the Campany does not anticipate that it will have a material effect in the future. The fair values of the Hedging Derivarives are
included in accrued expenses and other liabilities on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Derivative financial instruments expose the Company to ¢redit risk in the event of nonperformance by the counterparties under the terms
of the Hedging Derivatives. The Company minimizes its credir risk on these transactions by dealing wich major, creditworthy financial
institutions which have an A+ or better credit rating by the Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group. As part of its on-going conrrel procedures, the
Company monitors the credit ratings of counterparties and the exposure of the Company to any single entity, thus minimizing credic risk
concentration. The Company believes the likelihood of realizing losses from counterparty non-performanee is remorte.

6. Investments in Real Estate Entities

Investments in Unconsolidated Real Estate Entities  The Company accounts for its investments in unconsolidated real estate entities in
accordance with the literature as discussed in Note 1, “Organization and Significant Accounting Policies”, under Principles of Consolidation.

In October 2007, the Company completed the sale of its partnership interest in Avalon Grove to its third—party venture partner for $63,446
with a gain in accordance with GAAP of $56,320 reported as a component of equity in income of unconsolidated entities on the Consolidared
Staternents of Qperations and Other Comprehensive Income. Avalon Grove, located in the Fairfield-New Haven market of Connecticur,
was previously reported as an unconsolidated real estate investment. The Company will continue to manage this communicy for a customary

property management fee.
As of December 31, 2007, the Company had investments in the fo]lowing real cstate entities:

* Arna Valley View LP — In connection with the municipal approval process for the development of a consolidated community, the
Company agreed 1o parcicipate in the formation of a limited partnership in February 1999 to develop, finance, own and operate
Arna Valley View, 2 101 apartment-home community located in Arlington, Virginia, This community has affordable rents for 100%
of apartment homes related to the tax-exempt bond financing and tax credits used to finance construction of the community. A
subsidiary of the Company is the general partner of the partnership with a 0.01% owneeship interest, The Company is responsible
for the day-to-day operattons of the community and is the management agent subject to the terms of 2 management agreement. As
of December 31, 2007, Arna Valley View has $5,633 of variable rate, tax-exempt bonds outstanding, which mature in June 2032, In
addition, Arna Valley View has $4,938 of 4% fixed rate counry bonds outstanding that mature in December 2030. Arna Valley View's
debt is neither guaranteed by, nor recoursed to the Company. Due to the Company’s limited ownership in this venrure and the terms
of the management agreement regarding the rights of the limited partners, it is accounted for using the cost method.

CVP I, LLC — In February 2004, the Company entered into a joint venture agreement with an unrelated third-party for the
development of Avalon Chrystic Place, a 361 apartment-home community locared in New York, New York, for which construction
was completed in late 2005. The Company has contributed $6,270 to this joint venture and holds a 20% equiry interest {wich a right
o 50% of distributions after achievement of 2 threshold recurn, which was achieved in 2007). The Company is the managing member
of CVP [, LLC, however, property management services at the community are performed by an unrelated third party. In connection
with the construction management services that the Company provided to CVP I, LLC during the development of Avalon Chrystie
Place, the Company provided a construction completion guarantce to the construction loan lender in order to fulfill their standard
financing requirements related to the construction financing. Upon completion of the construction of Avalon Chrystie Place in 2006,
the Company was released from all obligations associated with this guarantee.

As of December 31, 2007, CVP |, LLC has tax-exempt variable rate bonds in the amount of $117,000 outstanding, which have
a permanent credit enhancement and mature in February 2036. The Company has guaranteed, under limited circumstance, the
repayment to the credit enhancer of any advance in fulfiltment of CVP I LLC's repayment obligations under the bonds. The Company
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has also guaranteed the credic enhancer that CVP [, LLC will obtain a final certificate of occupancy for the project overall once
tenant improvements related to a retail tenant are complete, which is expected in the first half of 2008. The Company’s maximum
obligation under this guarantee at December 31, 2007 was $121,000. The Company’s 80% partner in this venture has agreed that
it will reimburse the Company its pro rara share of any amouncs paid relacive to these guaranteed obligations. The Company does
not currently expect to incur any liabilicy under cicher of these guarantees. The estimated fair value of, and the Company's obligation
under these guarantees, both at inception and as of December 31, 2007 were not significant. As a result the Company has not
recorded any obligation associated with these guarantees at December 31, 2007. This community is unconsolidated for financial

reporting purposes and is accounted for under the equiry method.

Avalon Del Rey Aparsmenss, LLC — In March 2004, the Company entered into an agreement with an unrelated third party which
provided that, upon construction completion, Avalon Del Rey would be owned and operated by a joint venture between the Company
and the third-party. Avalon Del Rey is 2 309 apartment-home community located in Los Angeles, California. Construction for Avalon
Del Rey was completed during the third quarter of 2006. During the fourth quarter of 2006, the third-party venture partner invested
$49,000 and was granted a 70% ownership interest in the venture, with the Company retaining a 30% equity interest (see Note 7,
“Real Estate Disposition Activities”). The Company will continue to be responsible for the day-to-day operations of the communiry
and witl be the management agent subject to the terms of a management agreement. Avalon Del Rey Apartments, LLC has a variable
rate $50,000 secured construction loan, of which $40,845 is outstanding as of December 31, 2007 and which matures in Seprember
2009, subject to the exercise of an additional one-year extension opiion. In conjunction with the construction management services
thac the Company provided to Avalon Del Rey Apartments, LLC, the Company has provided a construction completion guarantee to
the construction loan lender in order to fulfill their standard financing requirements related to construction financing, Although the
obligation of the Company under this guarantee exists at December 31, 2007, the Company does not have any potential liabilicy at
December 31, 2007, as construction has been completed. This guarentee will terminate following satisfaction of the lender’s standard
completion requirements, which the Company expects to occur in 2008.

In conjuncrion with the admittance of the joint venture partner to the LLC, the Company provided the third-party investor an
operating guarantee. This guarantee, which extended for one year, provided that if the one-year return for the initial year of the joint
veniure partner’s investment is less than a threshold return of 7% on its initial equizy investment, that the Company would pay the
joint venture partner an amount equal to the shortfall, up to the 7% threshold return required. Over the guarantee period, the cash
flows and return on investment for Avalon Del Rey exceeded the inital year threshold return required by our joinc venture partner,
satisfying all obligations of the Company under this guarantee.

Concureent with the satisfaction of the operating guarantee in the {ourth quarter of 2007, the Company recognized the sale of the
70% ownership interest in the entity that owns Avalon Del Rey, reporting a gain of $3,607 as a component of equity in income of
uncensolidated entities on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income. Therefore, in the fourth
quarter of 2007, che Company began to account for its investment in the joint venture under the equiry method of accounting,

* Juanita Construction, Ine. — In April 2004, a taxable REIT subsidiary of the Company entered into an agreement to develop Avalon
at Juanira Village, a 211 apartment-heme community located in Kirkland, Washington, for which construction was complered in late
2005. Avalon at Juanica Village was developed through Juanita Construction, Inc., a wholly-owned taxable REIT substdiary and was
sold 1o a joint venrure in the first quarter of 2006, ac which peint, the subsidiary was reimbursed for all the costs of construction and
recained a promoted residual interest in the profits of the joine venture. The third-party joint venture partner received a 100% equity
interest in the joint venture and will control the joint venture. The Company was engaged to manage the community for a property

management fee, This community is unconsolidated for financial reporting purposes effective with the sale o the joint venture.

Aria at Hathorne LLC — In the second quarter of 2007, a wholly owned taxable REIT subsidiary entered into an LLC agreement
with a joint venture partner to develop 64 for-sale townhomes with a total capital cost of $23,636 in Danvers, Massachusetts. The
homes will be developed during 2008 and 2009 on an outparcel adjacent to our Avalen Danvers rental apartment community. The
outparcel was zoned for for-sale activity, and was contributed to the LLC by the subsidiary of the Company in exchange for a 50%
ownership interest. The LLC has $726 outstanding on a variable rate $5,400 secured construction loan and $2,744 ousstanding on a
$3,200 variable rate development loan as of December 31, 2007. The Company’s joint venture partner has provided a payment and
completion guarantee to both the acquisition and development and the construction loan lender. The Company accounts for this
investment under the equity mechod.

MVP I, LLC — In December 2004, the Company entered into a joint venture agreement with an unrelated third-party for che
development of Avalon at Mission Bay North I1. Construction for Avalon at Mission Bay North [1, a 313 apartment-home community
located in San Francisco, California, was completed in December 2006. The Company has contributed $5,902 to chis venture and
holds a 25% equity interest. The Company is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the community and is the management
agent subject to the terms of a management agreement. To fund the construction of Avalon at Mission Bay North II, MVP [, LLC
executed a variable race $94,400 secured construction loan. In conjunction with the construction management services thar che
Company provided to MVP 1, LLC, the Company provided a construction completion guarantee to the construction loan lender
in order to fulfill their standard financing requirements related to construction financing, In the fourth quarter of 2007, alt of the
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lender’s standard completion requirements have been sarisfied and the obligation of the Company under this guarantee terminared.
In December 2007, MVP I, LLC repaid the construction loan, concurrently executing a seven-year, fixed rate conventional loan. This
community is uncansolidated for financial reporting purposes and is accounted for under the equicy method.

s AvalonBay Value Added Fund, LF (the “Fund”) — In March 2005, the Company admitted outside investors into the Fund, a private,
discretionary investment vehicte, which will acquire and operate communities in the Company's markets. The Fund will serve, until
March 16, 2008 or until 80% of its commicted capiral is invested, as the principal vehicle threugh which the Company will acquire
apartment communiries, subject 1o certain exceprions. The Fund has nine instiwutional investors, including che Company, and a
combined equity capital commitment of $330,000. A significant portion of the investmencs made in the Fund by irs investors are
being made chrough AvalonBay Value Added Fund, Inc., a Maryland corporation that qualifies as a REIT under the [nternal Revenue
Code (the “Fund REIT™). A wholiy-owned subsidiary of the Company is the general partner of the Fund and has committed $50,00¢
to the Fund and the Fund REIT, representing a 13.2% combined general partner and limited partner equiry interest, with $43,399
of this commitment funded as of December 31, 2007. The Fund has invested $777,568 as of December 31, 2007. Management of
the Fund expects to invesr approximately $46,000 of addirional funds ro redevelop the assets acquired, at which time the Fund wil
become fully invested. Upon the admitcance of the outside investors, the Fund held four communities, containing a total of 879
apartment homes with an aggregate gross real estate value of $112,852, chat were acquired in 2004. Prior to the admittance of outside
investors, the Fund was ditectly or indirectly whoily-owned by the Company, and therefore the revenues and expenses, and assers
and liabilities of these four communities were consolidated in the Company’s results of operations and financial position. However,
upon admirrance of the outside investors in March 2005, the Company deconsolidated the revenue and expenses, and assets and
liabilities of these four communities and accounts for its 15.2% equity interest in the Fund under the equity method of accounting.
The Company teceived net proceeds of $87,948 as reimbursement for acquiring and warchousing these communities. The Company
receives assce management Fees, property management fees and redevelopment fees, as well as a promoted interest if certain thresholds
are met (which were nor achieved in 2007).

As of December 31, 2007, the Fund owns the following 20 communities, subject to certain mortgage debr. In addition, as of December 31, 2007,
the Fund has $47,400 outstanding under its variable rate credit facility, which matures in January 2008. The Company has not guaranteed
any of the Fund debt, nor daes it have any obligacion to fund this debt should the Fund be unable to do so.

s Avalon at Redondo Beach, a 105 apartmenc-home community located in Los Angeles, California. As of December 31, 2007, Avalon
at Redondo Beach has $16,765 in 4.8% fixed rate debt ourstanding, which matures in October 20115

Avalon Lakeside, 2 204 apartment-home community located in Chicago, lllingis. As of December 31, 2007, Avalon Lakeside has
$12,056 in 5.7% fixed rate debr outstanding which matures in March 2012; ‘

Avalon Columbia, a 170 apartmenc-home community locared in Baltimore, Maryland. As of December 31, 2007, Avalon Cotumbia
has $22,275 in 3.5% fixed rate debt ourstanding, which martures in Apeil 2012;

Avalon Redmond, a 400 apartment-home community located in Seatde, Washington. As of December 31, 2007, Avalon Redmond
has $36.,500 in 5.0% fixed rate debr outstanding, which matures in July 2012,

Avalon at Poplar Creek, a 196 apartment-home community located in Chicago, IHinois. As of December 31, 2007, Avalon at Poplar
Creek has $16,500 in 4.8% fixed rate debt outstanding, which matures in October 2012;

Avalon Sunser, an 82 apartment-home cemmunity located in Los Angeles, California. As of December 31, 2007, Avalon Sunset has
$12,750 in 5.4% fixed rate debt ourstanding, which matures in February 2014;

Avalon at Civic Center, a 192 apartment-home communicy located in Norwalk, California. As of December 31, 2007, Avalon at
Civic Center has $23,806 in 5.3% fixed rate debt outstanding, which matures in August 2013;

Avalon Paseo Place, a 134 apartment-home community located in Fremont, California. As of December 31, 2007, Avalon Paseo Place
has $11,800 in 5.7% fixed rate debr outstanding, which matures in November 2013;

Avalon Yerba Buena, a 160 apartment-home community located in San Francisco, California. As of December 31, 2007, Avalon
Yerhz Buena has $41,500 in 5.9% fixed rate debr outstanding, which matures in March 2014;

Avalon at Aberdeen Station, 2 290 apartmenc-home community located in Aberdeen, New Jersey. As of December 31, 2007, Avalon
ar Aberdeen Station has $34,456 in 5.7% fixed rate debr outstanding, which matures in Seprember 2013;

The Springs, a 320 apartment-home communiry located in Corona, California. As of December 31, 2007, The Springs has $26,000
in 6.1% fixed rate debr outstanding, which matures in October 2014;

‘The Covingron, a 256 apartment-home community located in Lombard, llinois. As of December 31, 2007, The Covington has
$17,243 in 5.4% fixed rare debr outstanding, which macures in January 2014;

Avalon Cedar Place, a 156 apartment-home community located in Columbia, Maryland. As of December 31, 2007, Avalon Cedar
Place has $12,000 in 5.7% fixed rate debr outstanding, which marures in February 2014;
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Avalon Centerpoint, a 392 aparunent-home community located in Baltimore, Maryland. As of December 31, 2007, Avalon
Centerpoint has $45,000 in 5.7% fixed rare debt ourstanding, which martures in December 2013;

.

Middlesex Crossing, a 252 apartment-home community located in Billerica, Massachusetts. As of December 31, 2007, Middlesex
Crassing has $24,100 of 5.5% fixed rate debt outstanding, which matures in Decemnber 2013;

Avalon Crystal Hill, a 168 apartment-home community located in Ponoma, New York. As of December 31, 2007, Avalon Crystal
Hill has $24,500 of 5.4% fixed rate debt outstanding, which matures in December 2013;

.

Skyway Terrace, a 348 apartment-home community located in San Jose, California, As of December 31, 2007, Skyway Terrace has
$37,500 of 6.1% fixed rate debt outstanding, which marures in Maich 2014;

Avalon Rutherford Station, a 108 apartment-home community located in East Rutherford, New Jersey. As of December 31, 2007,
Avalon Rutherford Station has $20,653 of 6.1% fixed rate debt outstanding, which matures in September 2016;

Seuth Hills Apartments, an 85 apartment-home community located in West Covina, California. As of December 31, 2007, South
Hills Apartments has $11,762 of 5.9% fixed rate debt outstanding, which matutes in December 2013; and

Colonial Towers/South Shore Manor, a 211 apartment-home community located in Weymouth, Massachusetts. Colonial Towets/
South Share Manor had no debt outstanding at December 31, 2007

In addition, as part of the formation of the Fund, the Company provided a guarantee to one of the limited partners, The guarantee provides
chat, if, upon final liquidation of the Fund, the toral amounr of all distributions to that partner during the life of the Fund (whether from
operating cash flow or property sales) does not equal the total capiral conuibutions made by that partner, then the Company will pay the
pariner an amount equal to the shorefall, but in no event more than 10% of the total capiral contributions made by the partner (maximum
of appreximately $6,510 as of December 31, 2007}. As of December 31, 2007, the fair value of the real estate assets owned by the Fund is
considered adequate to cover such potential payment under a liquidation scenario, The estimated fair value of and the Company’s obligation
under this guarantee, both at inception and as of December 31, 2007 was not significant and therefore the Company has not recorded any
obligation for this guarantee as of December 31, 2007,

The following is a combined summary of the financial position of the entities accountzed for using the equity method, as of the dates presented:

12-31-07 12-31-06
(unaudited) (unaudited)
Assets:
Real estate, net $ 997,319 $724,795
Qther assets 31,774 55,716
Total assets $1,029,093 $780,511
Liabilities and partners’ capital:
Mortgage notes payable and credic facility 3 719310 $510,784
Other liabilities 20,496 51,108
Partners’ capital 289,287 218,619
Total liabilities and partners’ capital $1,029,093 $780,511

The following is a combined summary of the operating results of the enrities accounted for using che equity method, for the years presented:

For the year ended

12-31-07 12-31-06 12-31-05
(unaudired} (unaudiced) {unaudited}

Rental income $ 92,075 $67,207 $35.826
Operating and other expenses (40,000) (30,913) {19.582)
Gain on sale of communities — 26,661 —
Interest expense, net (40,791) (23,545) (7.648)
Depreciation expense (26,622) (18,054} (8,482)

Ner income (loss) $(15,428) $21,356 § 114
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In conjunction with the acquisition and development of the invesrments in unconsolidated entities, the Company incurred costs in excess
of its equity in the underlying net assets of the respective investments. These costs represent $5,375 at December 31, 2007 and §7,491 at
December 31, 2006 of the respective investment balances.

Investments in Unconsolidated Non-Real Estate Entities [n February 2005, the Company sold its interest in a technology venture
that was accounted for under the cost method. As a result of this transaction, the Company received net proceeds of approximarely $6,700
and recognized a gain on the sale of this investment of §6,252, which is reflected in equity in income of unconsolidated entities on the
accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income for the year ended December 31, 2005. Under the
terms of the sale, certain proceeds were escrowed to secure the purchaser’s rights to indemnification. Any amounts not used for this purpose
were distributed to the former investors in the venture in 2006. For the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company recognized $433 for

the final installment of the gain on this sale upon release of this escrow.

The following is a summary of the Company's equity in income (loss) of unconsclidated entities for the years presented:

For the year ended

12-31-07 12-31-06 12-31-05

Town Grove, LLC $57.821 $1.457 31,286
Avalon Del Rey, LLC 3,616 — —
CVP L LLC 567 (68) {339
Town Run Associates 107 298 266
Avalon Terrace, LLCW 22 6,736 58
MVP ], LLC {1,261) (662) (57
AvalonBay Value Added Fund, L.P. (1,775) (799 (341)
AvalonBay Redevelopment LLC — — 73
Rent.com — 433 6,252
Constellation Real Technologies 72 60 —
Total'? $59,169 $7,455 $7.198

8 Equity in income from this entity for 2006 includes a gain of $6,609 for the Company’s 25% share of the gain from the fourth quatter disposition of Avalon
Bedford, the sole asset held by Avalon Terrace, LLC.

@ This table does not include Aria at Hathorne. As a development community, all costs are being capitalized, resulting in no reportable income.

7. Real Estate Disposition Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company sold four communities: Avalon View, located in Wappingers Falls, New Yerk, San
Marino, located in San Jose, California, Avalon West, located in Westborough, Massachuserts and Avalon at Stevens Pond, located in Saugus,
Massachusetts. These four communities contained a total of 982 apartment homes and were sold for an aggregate sales price of $204,650.
The Company also sold its interest in Avalon Grove, which contained 402 apartment homes for a sales price of $63,446. The sale of these
communities and partnership interest resulred in a gain in accordance with GAAP of $162.807. Details regarding the communiey asset sales

are summarized in the following table:

Period Apartment Gross sales Net
Community Name Location of sale homes Deb price proceeds
Avalon View Wappingers Falls, NY Q307 288 5 — $ 54,000 $ 53,293
San Marino San Jose, CA Q307 248 — 55,000 54,333
Avaton West Westborough, MA Q307 120 8.116 18,000 9,585
Avalon at Stevens Pond Saugus, MA Q407 326 — 77,650 76,784
Avalon Grove® Stamford, CT Q407 402 - 63,446 63,401
Total of all 2007 asset sales 1,384 $ 8116 $268,096 $257,396
Torat of all 2006 asset sales 1,036 $37,200 $261,850 $218.492
Toral of all 2005 asser sales 1,305 5 - $351,450 $344,185

" The Company held and sold its 50% ownesship interest in the LLC that developed, owned and operated Avalon Grove. The Company will continue to manage

this community for a custemary property management fee.
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As of December 31, 2007, the Company had no communities that qualified as discontinued operations or held for sale under che provisions
of SFAS No, 144,

In accordance with the requirements of SFAS Mo, 144, the operations for any communities sold from January 1, 2005 through
December 31, 2007 and the communities that qualified as discontinued operations as of December 31, 2007 have been presented as
discontinued operations in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements. Accordingly, certain reclassifications have been made in

prior periods o reflect discontinued operations consistent with current period presentation.
The following is a summary of income from discontinued operations for the periods presented:

For the year ended

12-31-07 12-31-06 12-31-05

Rental income $10.911 $17,658 $42,336
Operating and other expenses (4,043) (6.491) (14,441)
Incerest expense, net {687) (1,862) (1,927}
Depreciation expense (2,176} (3,687) (6,842)
Income from discontinued operations $4,005 $5,618 $19,126

The Company’s Consolidared Balance Sheets include other assets (excluding ner real estate) of $0 and $3,821 as of December 31, 2007 and
December 31, 2006, respectively, and other liabilities of 30 as of December %1, 2007 and $69,100 as of December 31, 2006, relating 1o real
estate assets sold or classified as held for sale.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company sold one parcel of land through a taxable REIT subsidiary, located in the Mid-
Aulantic, for a sales price of $5,800, resulting in a gain of $545 under GAAP. The Company had gains on the sates of land parcels of $13,519
in 2006, and $4,479 in 2005,

8. Commitments and Contingencies

Employment Agreements and Arrangements  As of December 31, 2007, the Company had employment agreements wich four executive
officers. The employment agreements provide for severance payments and generally provide for accelerated vesting of stock options and
restricred stock in the event of a termination of employment (excepe for a termination by the Company with cause or a voluntary termination
by the employee}. The current terms of these agreements end on dates that vary between November 2008 and June 2009. The employment
agreements provide for one-year automatic renewals (rwo years in the case of the Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ")) after the initial term
unless an advance notice of non-renewal is provided by either party. Upon a notice of non-renewal by the Company, each of the officers may
terminate his employment and receive a severance payment. Upon a change in control, the agreemencs provide for an automatic extenston of
up to three years from the date of the change in control. The employment agreements provide for base salary and ineentive compensation in
the form of cash awards, stock options and stock grants subject o the discretion of, and artainment of performance goals established by the
Compensation Commitree of the Board of Directors.

The Company’s stock incentive plan, as described in Note 10, “Stock-Based Compensation Plans,” provides that upon an employee’s
Retirement {as defined in the plan documents) from the Company, all outstanding stock options and restricted shares of stock held by the
employee will vest, and the employee will have up to 12 months to exercise any options held upon retirement. Under the plan, Retirement
means a terminacion of employment, other than for cause, after attainment of age 50, provided that (i) the employee has worked for the
Comipany for at least 10 years, (ii) the employec’s age at Retirement plus years of employment with the Company equals at least 70, {iii) the
employee provides at least six months written notice of his intent to retire, and {iv} the employee enters into a one year ron-compete and
employee non-solicitation agreement,

The Company also has an Officer Severance Program (the “Program”) for the benefis of those officers of the Company whe do not have
employment agreemencs. Under che Program, in the event an officer who is not otherwise covered by a severance arrangement is terminared
{other than for cause) within rwo years following a change in control (as d=fined) of the Company, such officer will generally receive a
cash lump sum payment equal to the sum of such officer’s base salary and cash bonus, as well as accelerated vesting of stock options and
restricted stock. Costs related to the Company’s employment agreements and the Program are accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 5,
“Accounting for Contingencies,” and therefore are recognized when considered by management to be probable and estimable.

Construction and Development Contingencies In connection with the pursuit of a Development Right in Pleasanc Hill, California,
$125,000 in bond financing was issued by the Contra Costa County Redevelopment Agency (the “Agency”} in connection with the possible
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future construction of a multifamily rental communiry by PHVP I, LLC. The bond proceeds were immediately invested in their entirery in
a guaranteed investment contract (“GIC”) administered by a trustee. This Development Right is planned as a mixed-use develepmen, with
residential, for-sale, retail and office components. The bond proceeds witl remain in the GIC uncil June 2008, at which time a loan will be
made to PHVP I, LLC to fund construction of the multifamily portion of the development, or the bonds will be redeemed by the Agency.
Although the Company daes not have any equity or economic interest in PHVP 1, LLC at this time, the Company holds an oprien to make
2 capiral contribution to PHVP T, LLC in exchange for a 99% general parter interest in the enrity. Should the Campany decide nor o
exercise this option, the bonds will be redeemed, and a loan will net be made o PHVP [, LLC. The bonds are payable from the proceeds
of the GIC and are non-recourse to both PHVP 1, LLC and to the Company. There is na loan payable outstanding by PHVP I, LLC as of
December 31, 2007.

In addition, as part of providing construction management services to PHVP [, LLC for the construction of a public garage, the Company
has provided a construction completion guarantee to the related lender in order to fulfill cheir standard financing requirements related to
the garage construction financing, The Company’s obligations under this guarantee wilt terminate following canstruction completion of the
garage ance all of the lender’s standard complerion requirements have been satisfied, which the Company currendy expects to occur in 2008.
In the third quatter of 2006, significant modifications were requested by the local transit authority to change the garage structure design. The
Company does not believe that the requested design changes will impact the construction schedule. However, it is expected thar these changes
will increase the original budger by an amount up to $5,000. The Company believes that substantially all potential addirional amounts are
reimbursable from unrelated third parcies. Ar this time, the Company does not believe that it is probable that it will incur any additional
costs. The estimared fair value of and the Company’s obligation under this guarantee, both at inception and as of December 31, 2007 was not
significant and therefore the Company has not recorded any obligation for this guarantee as of December 31, 2007.

Legal Contingencies The Company is currencly involved in litigation alleging that 100 communities currently or formerly owned by
the Company violated the zccessibility requirements of the Fair Housing Act and the Americans with Disabilities Act. The lawsuit, Equal
Rights Center v. AvalonBay Communities, Inc., was filed on September 23, 2005 in the federal district court in Maryland. The plaintiff seeks
compensatory and punitive damages in unspecified amouncs as well as injunctive relief (such as modificacion of existing communities), an
award of actarneys fees, expenses and costs of suit. The Company has filed 2 motion to dismiss all or parts of the suit, which has not been
ruled on yet by the court. The Company cannat predict or determine the outcome of this lawsuir, nor is it reasonably possible to estimare the
amount of loss, if any, that would be associated with an adverse decision.

During 2006, the Company determined that contaminated soil from imported fill was defivered to its Avalon Lyndhurst development site by
third parties. The contaminants ¢xceeded allowable levels for residential use under New Jersey stace and local regulations. The remediation
effort is complete. The nert cost associated with this remediatien effort, after considering insurance proceeds received 1o date and including
costs associated with construction delays, is approximarely $6,000. The Company is pursuing the recovery of these additional net costs from
the third parties involved, but no assurance can be given as ta the amount or timing of reimbursements to the Company. The Company
recarded these incremental costs as incurred, and is recording potential recoveries as they become certain or are received. Although che net
costs to complete construction of this community exceeded the original construction budget, the Company has determined that there is not
an impairment in the value of this asset which would require a write down in the carrying value, The Company will continue to review this
assessment based on changes in circumstances or market conditions.

In addition, the Company is subject to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business. These marters are
frequently covered by insurance. If ic has been determined that a loss is probable o occur, the estimated amount of the loss is expensed in
the financial statemencs. While the resolution of these matters cannot be predicted with cerrainty, management currently believes the final
outcome of such matters will not have a marerial adverse effect on the financial position or results of operations of the Company.

Lease Obligations The Company owns 11 apartment communities which are located on land subject o land leases expiring berween
November 2028 and March 2142, In addition, the Company leases certain office space. These leases are accounted for as operating leases
under SFAS No. 13, “Accounting for Leases.” These leases have varying escalation terms, and four of these leases have purchase cptions
exercisable between 2008 and 2095. The Company incurred costs of $15,516, $14,850 and $15,163 in the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively, related to these leases.

The following table details the furure minimum lease payments under the Company’s current leases:

Payments due by period
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Thereafter

314,412 $14,537 $14,571 314,613 $14,655 $2,069,951
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9. Segment Reporting

The Company’s repartable operating segments include Established Communities, Other Stabilized Communities, and Development/
Redevelopmene Communities. Annually as of January 1%, the Company determines which of its communities fall into each of these categories
and maintains that classification, unless disposition plans regarding a community change, throughout the year for the purpose of reporting

segment operations.

+ Established Communities (alse known as Same Store Communities) are communities where a comparison of operating results from the
prior year to the current year is meaningful, as these communities were owned and had stbilized occupancy and operating expenses
as of the beginning of the prior year. For the year ended December 31, 2007, the Established Communities are communicies thar
are consolidated for financial freparting purposes, had stabilized accupancy and operating expenses as ofjanuary 1, 2006, are not
conducting or planning to conduct substantial redevelopment activiries and are not held for sale or planned for disposition within the
current year. A community is considered to have stabilized occupancy at the carlier of (i) attainment of 95% physical occupancy or

(ii) the one-year anniversary of completion of development or redevelopment.

Other Stabilized Communities includes all other completed communicies that have stabilized occupancy, as defined above, Other
Stabilized Communities do not include communities that are conducting or planning te conduct substantial redevelopment activities

wichin the curtenc year.

Development/Redevelopment Communities consists of communities thet are under construction and have not received a final certificate
of occupancy, communities where subsrancial redevelopment is in progress or is planned to begin during the current year and

communities under lease-up, thar had not reached stabilized occuparcy, as defined above, as of January 1, 2007.
In addition, the Company owns land held for future development and has other corporate assets that are not allocated 1o an operating segment.

SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Informartion,” requires that segment disclosures present the
measure(s) used by the chief operating decision maker for purpeses of assessing such segments’ performance. The Company's chief operaring
decision maker is comprised of several members of its executive management team who use net operating income (*NOI”) as the primary
financial measure for Established Communities and Other Stabilized Communities. NOI is defined by the Company as total revenue less
direct property operating expenses. Although the Company considers NOI a useful measure of a community’s or communities” operating
performance, NOI should nor be considered an alternative to net income or net cash flow from operating activities, as determined in
accordance with GAAP. NOT excludes a aumber of income and expense categories as detailed in che reconciliation of NOI to net income.

A reconciliation of NOI to net income for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 is as follows:

For the year ended

12-31-07 12-31-06 12-31-05

Net income $358,160 $266,546 $310,468
Indirect operating expenses, net of corporate income 31,285 28,811 26,675
[nvestments and investment management 11,737 7,030 4,834
[nterest expense, net 97,545 109,184 125,171
General and administrarive expense 28,494 24,767 25,761
Equity in income of unconsolidated entities {59,169} {7,455) (7.198)
Minority interest in consolidated partnerships 1,585 573 1,481
Depreciation expense 179,549 160,442 156,455
Gain on sale of real estate assets (107,032) (110,930) (199,766)
Income from discontinued operations (4,005) (5,618) (19,126)
Net operating income $538,149 $473,350 $424,755

The primary performance measure for communities under development or redevelopment depends on the stage of completion. While under
development, management monitors actual construction costs against budgeted costs as well as lease-up pace and reat levels compared to budger.
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The table below provides details of the Company’s segment information as of the dates specified. The segments are classified based on the

individual community’s starus as of the beginning of the given calendar year. Therefore, each year the composition of communiries within

each business segment is adjusted. Accordingly, the amounts berween years are not directly comparable. The accounting policies applicable

to the operating segments described above are the same as those described in Note 1, “Organization and Significant Accounting Policies,”

Segment information for the years ended December 31 2007, 2006 and 2005 has been adjusted for the communities thae were sold from

January 1, 2005 through December 31, 2007, or otherwise qualify as discontinued operations as of December 31, 2007, as described in Note

7, “Real Estate Disposition Activities.”

Tortal % NOI change Gross
revenue NOI from prior year  real estate!™
For the year ended December 31, 2007
Established
Northeast $276,423 $184,643 3.7% $1,805,241
Mid-Adantic 114,144 71,882 6.4% 690,573
Midwest 12,070 7,286 2.3% 92,879
Pacific Northwest 33.594 23,111 17.1% 290,308
Naorthern California 160,442 116,516 12.6% 1,395,022
Southern California 56,091 40,219 5.9% 349,719
Total Established 652,764 443,657 7.2% 4,623,742
Other Stabilized 47,857 30,325 nfa 356,038
Development / Redevelopment 106,013 64,167 nfa 2,240,744
Land Held for Future Development nfa n/a nfa 288,423
Non-allocated® 6,107 n/a nfa 47,793
Total $812,741 $538,149 13.7% $7,556,740
For the year ended December 31, 2006
Established
Northeast $198,062 $134,001 5.2% $1,232,590
Mid-Adantic 100,462 61,870 14.9% 627,789
Midwest 11,478 7,121 7.4% 92,408
Pacific Northwest 33,103 21,819 13.0% 316,089
Northern California 149,531 104,588 11.6% 1,406,401
Southern California 57,632 41,115 9.3% 374,606
Total Established 550,268 370,514 9.4% 4,049,883
Other Scabilized 87,939 55,337 nfa 811,053
Development / Redevelopment 76,356 47,499 nfa 1,324,929
Land Held for Future Development nfa nia nfa 202,314
Non-allocated™® 6,866 nfa nfa 42,437
Toral $721,429 $473,350 11.4% 36,430,616
For the year ended December 31, 2005
Established
Northeast $161,399 $108,334 3.8% $1,032,589
Mid-Aclznric 68,575 48,613 3.9% 387,801
Midwest 11,113 6,627 7.1% 91,755
Pacific Northwest 30,080 19,312 8.0% 315,331
Northern California 143,070 97.434 3.5% 1,454,734
Southern California 48,800 35,319 6.7% 331,315
Total Established 463,037 315,639 4.4% 3,613,525
Other Stabilized 71,682 35,967 nfa 636,073
Development / Redevelopment 116,144 73,149 nfa 1,158,482
Land Held for Future Development nfa nfa nfa 179,739
Non-allocated™ 4,348 nfa n/a 30,741
Total $655,211 $424,755 9.3% $5,618,560

@ Daes not include gross rezl estate assets held for sale of $0, $184,977 and $321,586 as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

@ Revenue represents third-party management, accounting and developer fees and miscetlaneous income which are nor allocated 10 a reportable segment.
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10. Stock-Based Compensation Plans

The Company has a stock incentive plan (the 1994 Plan”), which was am:nded and restated on December 8, 2004, and amended on
February 9, 2006, December 6, 2006 and September 19, 2007, Individuals wao are eligible to participate in the 1994 Plan include officers,
other associates, outside directors and other key peesons of the Company and its subsidiaries who are responsible for or contribute to the
management, growth or profitability of the Company and its subsidiarics. The 1994 Plan authorizes (i) the grant of stock options thar qualify
as incentive stock options (“1SOs”) under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code, (ii) the grant of stock options that do not so qualify,
(iii) grants of shares of restricted and unrestricted common stock, (iv) grants of deferred stock awards, (v) performance share awards entitling
the recipient to acquire shares of commen stock and (vi) dividend equivalent rights.

Shares of common stock of 2,160,738, 1,791,861 and 2,066,308 were available for future option or restricted stock grant awards under the
1994 Plan as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Annually on January 1%, the maximum number available for issuance under
the 1994 Plan is increased by becween 0.48% and 1.00% of the total number of shares of common stock and DownREIT units aceually
outstanding on such date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the maximum number of shares of stock for which ISOs may be issued under the
1994 Plan shall not exceed 2,500,000 and no awards shall be granted under thz 1994 Plan after May 11, 2011, Options and restricted stock
granted under the 1994 Plan vest and expite over varying periods, as determinedt by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors.

Before the Merger, Avalon had adopted its 1995 Equity Incentive Plan (che “Avalon 1995 Incentive Plan”). Under the Avalon 1995 Incentive
Plan, a maximum number of 3,315,054 shares (or 2,546,956 shares as adjusted for the Merger} of common stock were issuable, plus any
shares of common stock represented by awards under Avalon’s 1993 Stock Optien and Incentive Plan (the “Avalon 1993 Plan”) that were
forfeited, canceled, reacquired by Avalon, satishied without the issuance of common stock or otherwise terminated {other than by exercise).
Options granted to officers, non-employee directors and associates under the Avalon 1995 Incentive Plan generally vested over a three-year
term, expire ten years from the dare of grane and are exercisable at the markes price on the date of grant.

In connection with the Merger, the exercise prices and the number of options under the Avalon 1995 Incentive Plan and the Avalon 1993 Plan
were adjusted to reflect the equivalent Bay shares and exercise prices based on the 0.7G83 share conversion ratio used in the Merger. Officers,
non-employee directors and associates with Avalon 1995 Incentive Plan or Avalon 1993 Plan options may exercise their adjusted number of
options for the Company’s common stock at the adjusted exercise price, As of June 4, 1998, the date of the Merger, options and other awards
ceased to be granted under the Avalon 1993 Plan or the Avalon 1995 Incentive Plan. Accordingly, there were no options to purchase shares of
common stock available for grant under the Avalon 1995 Incentive Plan or the Avalon 1993 Plan at December 31, 2007, 2006 or 2005.

[nformation with respect to stock aptions granted under the 1994 Plan, the Avalon 1995 Inceative Plan and the Avalon 1993 Plan is as follows:

Weighted Avalon 1995 Weighted
average and Avalon average
1994 Plan exercise price 1993 Plan exercise price
shares per share shares per share
Options Quistanding, December 31, 2004 2,276,818 $42.39 186,262 $36.23
Exercised {743,524) 41.89 (159,638) 37.82
Granted 725,988 7000 | — —
Forfeited (29,504} 55.66 — —
Options Outstanding, December 31, 2005 2,229,778 $51.40 26,624 $37.09
Exercised {592,308) 50.09 (22,384) 37.15
Granted 867,113 99.28 — —
Forfeited (17,344) 79.72 — —
Oprions Quistanding, December 31, 2006 2,487,239 $69.65 4,240 $36.81
Exercised (471,024) 56.57 (3.472) 36.86
Granted 344,429 147.39 - —
Forfeited (38,919) 110.28 — —
Oprions Qutstanding, December 31, 2007 2,321,715 $83.15 768 $36.61
Options Exercisable:
December 31, 2005 1,158,591 $42.45 26,624 $37.09
December 31, 2006 1,041,360 $47.99 4,240 $36.81
December 31, 2007 1,230,428 $60.84 768 $36.61
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For eptions outstanding at December 31, 2007 under the 1994 Plan, 673,426 options had exercise prices ranging between $31.50 and $59.99
and a weighred average remaining contracual life of 4.2 years, 533,560 options had exercise prices ranging between $60.00 and $89.99 and
a weighted average remaining contractual life of 7.1 years, 780,373 options had exercise prices berween $90.00 and $119.99 and a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 8.1 years and 334,356 options had exercise prices between $120.00 and $149.99 and 2 weighted average
remaining concractual life of 9.1 years. Options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2007 for the Avafon 1993 and Avalon 1995
Plans had an exercise price of $36.61 and a weighted average contractual life of less than one year with an intrinsic value of §44. Options
outstanding under the 1994 Plan at December 31, 2007 had an intrinsic value of $25,516. Options exercisable at December 31, 2007 under
the 1994 plan had a weighted average contracrual life of 5.7 years and an intrinsic value of $40,973. The intrinsic value of options exercised
during 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $17,895, $49,440 and $80,271, respectively.

The weighied average fair value of the options granted during the year ended December 31, 2007 is estimated at $21,83 per share on the
dare of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions: dividend yield of 4.0% over
the expected life of the option, volatility of 17.32%, risk-free interest rates of 4.73% and an expecred life of approximarety seven years. The
weighted average fair value of the options granted during 2006 is estimared at $11.47 per share on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
opticn pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions: dividend yield of 5.0% over the expected life of the option, volariliry
of 17.61%, risk-free interest rates of 4.55% and an expecred life of approximately seven years. The weighted average fair value of the options
granted during 2005 is estimated at $6.40 per share on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes optien pricing model with the following
weighted average assumpeions: dividend yield of 5.5% over the expecied life of che option, volatility of 17.56%, risk-free interest rates of
3.91%6 and an expected life of approximately seven years. The cost related to stock-based employee compensation for employee stock options
included in the determination of net income is based on estimated forfeitures for the given year. Estimated forfeirures are adjusted to reflect

actual forfeitures at the end of the vesting period.

The Company issued restricted stock as part of its stock-based compensation plan during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.
Compensation cost is recognized over the requisite service period, which varies, but does not exceed five years, The fair value of restricted stock
is the closing stock price on the date of the grant. Provisions of SFAS No. 123(R} require the Company to recognize compensation cost taking
into consideration retirement eligibility. The cost related to stock-based compensation for restricted stock included in the determination of
net income is based on actual forfeicures for the given year. Restriceed stock awards rypically vest over a five-year period with the exceprion of
accelerated vesting provisions. Restricted stock vesting during 2007 had fair values ranging from $36.66 to $147.75 per shase. The toral fair
value of shares vested was $8,590, $7.655 and $8,932 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Toral stock-based compensarion cost recognized in income was $13,502, $10,095 and $4,292 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively, and roral capitalized stock-based compensation cost was $5,106, $4,014 and $4,046 for the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively. At December 31, 2007, there was a toral of $8,480 and $10,850 in unrecognized compensation cost for unvested
stock options and unvested restricted stock, respectively. The unrecognized compensation cost for stock options does not take into account
estimared forfeitures. The unrecognized compensation cost for unvested stock options and restricted scock is expeceed to be recognized over a
weighted average period of 1.6 years and 2.3 years, respectively.

In Ocrober 1996, the Company adopted the 1996 Non-Qualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan (as amended, the “ESPP”). Initially
1,000,000 shares of common stack were reserved for issuance under this plan. There are currently 780,735 shares remaining available for
issuance under the plan. Full-time employees of the Company generally are eligible to participate in the ESPP if, as of the last day of the
applicable election period, they have been employed by che Company for at least one month. All other employees of the Company are eligible
to participate provided chat, as of che applicable election period they have been employed by the Company for 12 months. Under the ESPP,
eligible employees are permitted 1o acquire shares of the Company’s commeon stock through payroll deductions, subject ro maximum purchase
limitations. The purchase period is a period of seven months beginning each April 1 and ending each October 30. The purchase price for
common stock purchased under the plan is 85% of the lesser of the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the first day of
the applicable purchase period or the last day of the applicable purchase period. The offering dates, purchase dates and duration of purchase
periods may be changed, if the change is announced prior to the beginning of the affected date or purchase period. The Company issued
8,577 shares, 10,830 shares and 13,372 shares and recognized compensation expense of $158, $173 and $134 under the ESPP for the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The Company accounts for transactions under the ESPP using the fair value method
prescribed under SFAS No. 123(R), as further discussed in Note 1, “Organization and Significant Accounting Policies.”
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {CONTINUED)

11. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Cash and cash equivalent balances are held with various financial institutions and may at times exceed the applicable Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation limit. The Company monirors credit ratings of these financial institutions and the concentration of cash and cash equivalent balances
with any one financial institution and believes the likelihood of realizing material losses from the excess of cash and cash equivalent balances over

insurance limiss is remote.

The following estimated fair values of financial instruments were determined by management using available market informarion and
established valuation methodologies, including discounted cash flow. Accordingly, the estimates presented are not necessarily indicative of the
amounts the Company could realize on disposition of the financial instruments. The use of different market assumptions and/er estimation

methodologies may have 2 material effect on the estimared fair value amounts.

* Cash equivalents, rents receivable, accounts and construction payabt: and accrued expenses, and other liabilities are carried ac cheir

face amounts, which reasonably approximate their fair values.

+ Bond indebtedness 2nd notes payable with an aggregate outstanding par amount of approximarely $2,696,000 and $2,804,000 had
an estimated aggregate fair value of $2,756,890 and $2,910,078 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The Company reports all derivative instruments at fair value in accordance with SFAS No. 133, as amended. See Note 5, “Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” for furcher discussion.

12. Related Party Arrangements

Uncensolidated Entities The Company manages unconsolidated real estate entities for which it receives asset management, property
management, development and redevelopment fee revenue. From these entitics, the Company received fees of $6,142, $6,259 and $4,304 in
the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively. These fees are included in management, development and other fees on the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income,

In addition, in connection with the construction management services that the Company provided to MVP 1, LLC, the entity that owns
and developed Avalon at Mission Bay North 11, the Company funds certain construction costs that are expected ro be reimbursed through
construction financing within 30 to 60 days. Although construction was completed in 2006, final payments te vendors are still being funded.
The accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets reflect a receivable in prepaid expenses and other assets in the amounts of $939 as of
December 31, 2007 and $5,654 as of December 31, 2006, from MVP 1, LLC.

Director Compensation  Directors of the Company who are also employees receive no additional compensation for their services as a
dicector. Following each annual meeting of stockholders starting with the 2005 annual meeting, non-employee directors receive (i} a number
of shares of restricted stock (or deferred stock awards) having a value of $100 and (ii) a cash payment of $40, payable in quarterdy installments
of $10. After September 20, 2007, the cash paymenc increased to $50, payabl: in quarterly installments of $12.5. The value of the restricted
stock or deferred stock award will increase 1o $125 following the 2008 annual meeting. Until the 2007 annual meeting, the number of shares
of restricted stock {or deferred stock awards) was calculated based on the last reported sale price of the commeon stock on the New York Stock
Exchange (“NYSE") on the fifth business day following the prior year's annual meeting. Following the 2007 annual meeting, the number of
shares of restricted stock (or deferred stock awards) is calculated based on the closing price on the day of the award. Non-employee directors
may elect to receive all or a partion of cash payments in the form of a deferred stock award. In addition, the Lead Independent Director

receives an annual fee of $30 payable in equal monthly installments of $2.5.

The Company recorded non-employee director compensation expense relating to the restricted stock grants and deferred stock awards in the
amount of $855, $1,013 and $966 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 as a component of general and administracive
expense. Deferred compensation relating to these restricted stock grants and deferred stock awards was $766 and $778 on December 31, 2007
and Decemnber 31, 2006, respectively.
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13. Quarterly Financial Information {Unaudited)

The following summary represents the quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006:

For the three months ended

3-31.07 6-30-07 9-30-07 12-31-07
Total revenuet® $192,735 $199,498 $208,123 $212,385
Income from continuing opcrations“’ $ 45,383 § 49,319 $ 49,677 $103,289
Income from discontinued operationst" $ 1137 $ 1,733 $ 79,092 $ 28,530
Net income available to common stockholders § 44,345 $ 48,877 $126,594 $129,644
Net income per common share—basic? $ 057 3 062 $ 160 $ 166
Net income per commaon share—diluted® § 056 $ 061 $ 158 5 1L64

For the three months ended

3-31-06 6-30-06 9-30-06 12-31-06
Total revenuet™™ $171,284 $176,711 $183,646 $189,788
Income from continuing operations™ $ 43,586 3 33,833 $ 40,963 £ 45,135
Income from discontinued operations™ $ 67,528 $ 33,173 $ 1150 5 1,178
Net income available to common stockholders $108,939 3 64,831 § 39,938 $ 44,138
Net income per common share—basic 3 148 $ o087 3 054 3 059
Net income per common share—dilured § 145 $ 086 $ 053 $ 058

“ Amounts may not equal previously reported results due to reclassification berween income from continuing eperations and income from discontinued

operations.

@ Amounts may not equal full year results due 1o rounding.

14. Subsequent Events

In January 2008, the Company repaid $50,000 in previously issued unsecured notes, along with any unpaid interest, pursuant to their
scheduled marurity.

Also in January 2008, the Company purchased an additional 482,100 shares of its commaon stock in open market transactions under its share

repurchase program at an average price of $87.42.

In February 2008, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized an increase in the Company’s stock repurchase program. The increase
excended the aggregate purchase price of shares acquired in open marker or negotiated transactions up to $500,000, of which $200,000
remained available for future purchases as of February 22, 2008.

The Company announced on February 5, 2008 that its Board of Directors declared a dividend for the first quarter of 2008 of $0.8925 per
share of the Company's common stock {par value $0.01 per share). The declared dividend is a 5.0% or $0.0425 per share increase over the
Company's prior quarterly dividend of $0.85 per share.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of

AvalonBay Cemmunities, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of AvalonBay Communities, [nc. as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and
the related consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2007, Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Irem 15(a)(2).
These financial statements and schedule are the responsibiliy of the Company's management. QOur responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial stacements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audir to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstarement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidared financial position of AvalonBay
Communities, Inc. at December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2007 in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinien, the related
financial scarement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents faitly in all matertal

respects, the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Compasny Accounting Oversight Board (United States), AvalonBay
Communities, lnc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Trzadway Commission and our repore dated February 25, 2008
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon,

St ¥ MLLP
McLean, Virginia

February 25, 2008
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MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Qur common stock is traded on the NYSE under the ticker symbol AVB. The following table sets forth the quarterly high and low sales
prices per share of our common stock for the years 2007 and 2006, as repoited by the NYSE. On January 31, 2008 there were 813 holders
of record of an aggregate of 76,845,045 shares of our outstanding common stock. The number of holders does not include individuals or
entities who beneficially own shares but whose shares are held of record by a broker or clearing agency, but does include each such broker or
clearing agency as one record holder.

2007 2006

Sales Price Dividends Sales Price Dividends
High Low declared High Low declared
Quarter ended March 31 $149.94 $125.30 $0.85 $110.45 $ 8895 $0.78
Quarter ended june 30 $134.62 $115.38 $0.85 $112.00 $100.50 $0.78
Quarter ended September 30 $128.46 $105.91 $0.85 $125.21 $110.27 $0.78
Quarter ended December 31 $125.48 $ 88.97 $0.85 $134.60 $119.31 $0.78

We expect to continue our policy of paying regular quarterly cash dividends. However, dividend distributions will be declared ar the discretion
of the Board of Directors and will depend on actual cash from operations, our financial condition, capital requirements, the annual distribution
requirements under the REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code and other factors as the Board of Directors may consider relevant. The
Board of Directors may modify our dividend policy from time 1o time. In February 2008, we announced that our Board of Directors declared
a dividend on our common stock for the first quarter of 2008 of $0.8925 per share, a 5.0% increase over the previous quarteely dividend of
$0.85 per share. The increased dividend will be payable on April 15, 2008 to all commen stockholders of record as of April I, 2008,

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

{c) (d)
Toral Number of Maximum Deollar Amount
Shares Purchased that May Yet be Purchased
{a} (b) as Part of Under the Plans
Toral Number of ~ Average Price Paid  Publicly Announced or Programs
Shares Purchased per Share Plans or Programs (in thousands)
Period (1) (1) 2) (2}
Month Ended October 31, 2007 — $ — — $385,197
Month Ended November 30, 2007 1,120,900 $100.42 1,120,900 $272,639
Month Ended December 31, 2007 328,574 $ 9288 328,316 $242,145
Month Ended January 31, 2008 483,036 § 87.32 482,100 $200,000

(1) Includes shares surrendered 1o the Company in connection with employee stock option exercises or vesting of restricted stock as payment of exercise price
or 25 payment of taxes.

(2) On August 8, 2007, we announced that our the Board of Directors voted to increase the aggregate limit of eur common stock repurchase program 1o
$300,000,000. On February 6, 2008, we disclosed char our Board of Directors voted to further increase the authorized limit to $500.000,000. All amounts
presented in the table above include this further inctease. In determining whether to repurchase shares, we cansider a variery of factors, including our
liquidity needs, che then current marker price of our shares znd the effect of the shars repurchases on our per share earnings and FFO. There is no scheduled
expiration date ¢o this program.
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DEFINITIONS AND RECONCILIATIONS OF NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES AND OTHER TERMS

This Annual Repore, including the Lerter to Sharcholders, conrains certain non-GAAP financial measures and other terms, The definition
and calculation of these non-GAAP financial measures and other terms may differ from the definitions and methodologies used by other
REITs and, accordingly, may not be comparable. The non-GAAP financial measures referred to below should not be considered an alternative
to net income as an indication of our performance. [n addition, these non-GAAP financial measures do not represent cash generated from
operating activities in accordance with GAAP and therefore should not be considered as an alternative measure of liquidity ot as indicative of
cash available ro fund cash needs.

Net Asset Value (NAV} Per Share

The estimated market value of a company’s assets less the estimared marker vatue of all current and long-term liabilities divided by the number
of cutstanding common shares and operating partnership units.

Fixed Charge Coverage (Interest Coverage)

EBITDA from continuing operacions, excluding land gains and gain on the sale of investments in real estate joint ventures, divided by the
sum of interest expense, nex, and preferred dividends. Interest Coverage is presented by the Company because it provides rating agencies and
investors an additional means of comparing our ability to service debt obligations to that of other companies. EBITDA is defined by the
Company as net income before interest income and expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization.

A reconciltation of EBITDA and a calcularion of Interest Coverage for the fourth quarter of 2007 are as follows {dollars in thousands):

Net income $131,819
Interest expense, net 26,262
Interest expense {discontinued operations) —
Depreciation expense 47,179
Depreciation expense (discontinued operations) —
EBITDA $205,260
EBITDA from continuing operations $176,730
EBITDA from discontinued operations 28,530
EBITDA $205,260
EBITDA from continuing operations $176,730
Land gains —
Gain on the sale of investments in real estate joint ventures (59,927)

EBITDA from continuing operations, excluding land gains and

gain on sale of investments in real estate joint ventures $116,803
Interest expense, net 26,262
Dividends arrributable to preferred stock 2,175
Tnterest charges 28,437
Interest coverage 4.1

Funds From Operations {FFQ)

FFO is determined based on a definition adopted by the Board of Governors of the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts
("NAREIT"}. FFQ is calculared by the Company as net income or loss computed in accordance with GAAP, adjusted for gains or lesses on
sales of previously depreciated operating communities, excraordinary gains or losses {as defined by GAAP), cumulative effect of a change
in accounting principle and depreciation of real estate assets, including adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures.
Management generally considers FFO to be an appropriate supplemental measure of operating performance because, by excluding gains or
losses relared 10 dispositions of previously depreciated opetating communities and excluding real estare depreciation (which can vary among
owners of identical assets in similar condition based on historical cost accounting and useful life estimares), FFO can help one compare the
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operating performance of a company'’s real estate between periods or as compared to different companies. A reconciliation of FFO to net

income is as follows:

For the Year Ended

(Doliars in thousands) i2.31.07 | 12-31-06  12-31-05 1-3104 123103 123102 123101 123100 12-3199
Net income $358,160 | $266,546  $310,468 $207,779 3262503 $173,125 3248997  $210,604  $172.276
Dividends attributable 10 preferred stock (8,700) {8,700} (8,700) (8,700) (10,744)  {17,896) (40,0350 {39.779) (39.779)
Depreciasion—real estare assers,

including discontinued cperations and

joint venture adjustments 184,731 165,982 163,252 139,221 129,207 143,026 128,086 120,208 108,679
Minority interest expense, including

discontinued operations 280 391 1,363 3,048 1,263 1,601 1,559 1,759 1,975
Cumulative effecs of change in accounting

principle — — —_ 4,547) _— - - - _
Gain on sale of unconsolidated entities (59,927 {6,609) — — — — - _— .
Gain on sale of operating communiries (106487) 1 (97.411)  (195,287)  (121,287)  (159,756)  (48,893)  (62.852)  {40.779)  (47.093)
Funds from Operations aciributable

to common stockhotders $368,057 | $320,199  §271.096 $225514  $222473  §250963 8275785  $252,013  $196,058
Weighted average common shares

ourstanding—diluced 79856927 £75.586,898 74759318 7335495 70,203,467 70674211 69781,719 68,140,998 66,110,664
EPS—diluted $4.38 $3.42 $4.02 $2.75 $3.60 $2.22 $3.02 $2.53 $2.03
FFO per common share—diluted $4.61 $4.24 $3.63 §3.21 £3.17 $3.55 $3.95 $3.70 £297

Initial Year Market Capitalization Rate (Cap Rate)

Projected NOT of a single community for the first 12 months of operations {assuming no repositioning), tess estimates for non-routine
allowance of approximately $200-3300 per apartment home, divided by the gross sales price for the community. Projected NO1, as referred
to above, represents management’s estimate of projected rental revenue minus projected operating expenses before interest, income raxes (if
any), depreciation, amortization and extraordinary items. For this purpose, management’s projection of operating expenses for the community
includes 2 management fee of 3.09%-3.5%. The Initial Year Marker Cap Ratz, which may be determined in a different manner by others, is
a measure frequently used in the real estate industry when determining the appropriate purchase price for a property or estimating the value
for a propercy. Buyers may assign differenc Initial Year Marker Cap Rates to different communities when determining the apprapriate value
because they (i) may project different rates of change in operating expenses and capital expenditure estimares and {ii) may project different
rates of change in future rental revenue due to different estimates for changes in rent and occupancy levels. The weighted average Initial Year
Market Cap Rate is weighted based on the gross sales price of each communiry.

Leverage

Total debt as a percentage of Total Market Capitalization, Total Marketr Capitalization represents the aggregate of the market value of the
Company’s common stock, the market value of the Company’s operating partnership units outstanding (based on the market value of
the Company's common stock), the liquidation preference of the Company’s preferred stock and the oucstanding principal balance of the
Company's debt. Management believes that Leverage can be one useful measure of a real estate operating company's long-term liquidity and
balance sheet strength, because it shows an approximate relationship berween a company’s total debrt and the current total marker value of its
assets based on the current price at which the Company’s commen stock trades. Changes in Leverage also can influence changes in per share
results. A calculation of Leverage as of December 31, 2007 is as follows {dollazs in thousands):

Total debt $ 3,210,703
Common stock 7,278,774
Preferred stock 100,000
Operating partnership units 6,027
Total debt 3,210,703
Total Marker Capitalization 10,595,504
Debt as % of capitalization 30.3%
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Because Leverage changes with fluctuations in the Company's stock price, which occur regularly, the Company's Leverage may change even
when the Company’s earnings, interest and debr levels remain stable. Investors should also note that the nct realizable value of the Company’s
assets in liquidation is not easily determinable and may differ substantially from the Company’s Total Market Capializacion.

Multifamily Sector Average

The mulrifamily sector average is a weighted average based on Total Capialization per SNL Financial. The weighted average for Toral
Shareholder Return, FFO per Share, Operating Expenses and Common Dividend Growth per Share includes AEC, ATV, BRE, CI'T, EQR,
ESS, HME, MAA, PPS and UDR. The weighted average for Estimated NAV per Share Growth includes all companies under Green Streer
Advisors, Inc.’s coverage for which data is available during cach of the time periods presented and includes AEC, BRE, CPT, EQR, PPS
and UDR.

Net Operating Income (NOI)

Total property revenue less direct property operating expenses (including property taxes), and excludes corporate-level income {including
management, development and other fees), corporate-level property management and other indirect operating expenses, investments
and investment management, net interest expense, general and administrative expense, joint venture income, minoriry interest expense,
depreciation expense, gain on sale of real estate assets and income from discontinued operations. The Company considers NOI to be an
appropriate supplemental measure to net incame of operating performance of a community or communicies because it helps both investors
and management to understand the core operations of a community or communities prior to the allocation of corporate-level properry
management overhead or general and administrative costs. This is more reflective of the operating performance of a community, and allows
for an easier compatison of the operating performance of single assets or groups of assets. In addition, because prospective buyers of real estate
have different overhead structures, with varying marginal impact to overhead by acquiring real estate, NOI is considered by many in the real
estate industry to be a useful measure for determining the value of a real estate asser or groups of assets.

A reconciliation of NOI (from continuing operations) to net income is as follows:

For the Year Ended

{Dollars in thousands) 12-31-07 12-31-06 12-31-05
Nert income $358,160 $266,546 $310,468
Indirect operating expenses, ner of corporate income 31,285 28,811 26,675
Investments and investment management 11,737 7,030 4,834
Incerest expense, nec 97,545 109,184 125171
General and administrative expense 28,494 24,767 25,761
Equiry in income of unconsolidated entities (59,169) (7.455) (7.198)
Mirariry interest in consolidated partnerships 1,585 573 1,481
Depreciation expense 179,549 160,442 156,455
Gain on sale of real estate assets (107,032} (110,930) (199,766)
Income from discantinued aperations (4,005) {5,618) {19,126}

Net operating income $538,149 $473,350 $424,755

NOI as reported by the Company does not include the operating results from discontinued operations {i.e., assets sald during the period
January 1, 2006 chrough December 31, 2007). A reconciliation of NOI from communities sold or classified 2s discontinued operations to

net income for these communities is as follows:

For the Year Ended
(Dollars in thousands) 12/31/2007 12/31/2006
[ncome from discontinued operations $4,005 % 5,618
Interest expense, net 687 1,862
Depreciation expense 2,176 3,687
NOQI from discontinued operations $6,868 $11.167
NOI from assets sold $6,868 $11,167
NOI from assets held for sale — —
NOI from discontinued operations $6,868 $11,167
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Projected NOI

As used for certain Development and Redevelopment Communities and in ealculating the Initial Year Market Cap Rate for dispositions,
represents managements estimate, as of the date of this annual reporr (or a: of the date of the buyers valuation in the case of dispositions),
of projected stabilized rental revenue minus projected stabilized operating expenses. For Development and Redevelopment Communicies,
Projected NOI is calculaced based on the first year of Stabilized Operations, as defined below, following the completion of construction. In
calculating the Initial Year Market Cap Rate, Projected NOI for dispositions is calculated for the first ewelve menths following the date of the
buyer’s valuation. Projected stabilized rental revenue represents management’s estimate of projected gross potential (based an leased rents for
occupied homes and marker rents for vacant homes) minus projected econamic vacancy and adjusted for concessions. Projected stabilized
operating expenses do not include interest, income taxes (if any), depreciation or amortization, or any allocation of corporate-level property
management overhead or general and administrative costs, The weighted average Projected NOI as a percentage of Total Capital Cost is
weighted based on the Company’s share of the Total Capizal Cost of each community, based on its percentage ownership.

Management believes that Projected NOI of the development and redevelopment communities, on an aggregated weighted average basis, assists
investors in understanding management’s estimate of the likely impact on operations of the Development and Redevelopment Communicies
when the assets are complete and achieve stabilized cccupancy (before allocation of any corporate-level property management overhead, general
and administrative costs or interest expense}. However, the Company does not provide a projection of NOI on a company-wide basis. Given
the different dates and fiscal years for which NOI is projected for these communities, the projected allocation of corporate-tevel property
management overhead, general and administrative costs and interest expense t¢ communities under development or redevelopment is complex,
impractical to develop, and may not be meaningful. Projected NOI of these cemmunities is not 4 projection of the Company's overall financial
performance or cash flow. There can be no assurance thar the communities under development or redevelopment will achieve the Projected
NOI as described in chis annual repore.

Total Capital Cost

Includes all capitalized costs projected 1o be or actually incurred @ develop the respective Development or Redevelopment Communisy,
or Development Righs, including land acquisition costs, construction costs, real estate taxes, capitalized interest and loan fees, permits,
professional fees, allocated development overhead and other regulatory fees, all as determined in accordance with GAAP. For Redevelopment
Communities, Total Capital Cost excludes costs incurred prior to the start of redevelopment when indicaced, With respect to communities
where development or redevelopment was completed in the current or a prior period, Total Capital Cost reflects the actual cost incurred,
plus any contingency estimate made by management. Total Capital Cost for communities identifed as having joint venture ownership, either
during construction or upen construction completion, represents the total projected joint venture contribution amount. For joint ventures
not in construction, Toral Capital Cost is equal to gross real estate cost.

Economic Gain

The gain on sale in accordance with GAAP, less accumulated depreciation through the date of sale and any other non-cash adjustments thar
may be required under GAAP accounting, Management generally considers Economic Gain to be an appropriate supplemental measure to
gain on sale in accordance with GAAP because it helps investors understand the relationship between the cash proceeds from a sale and the
cash invested in the sold community. A reconciliation of Economic Gain te gain on sale in accordance with GAAP for the full year 2007 is
presenced below:

Accumulated
Number of Gross Sales Depreciation Economic
Communities Sold™” Price GAAP Gain and Other Gain
5 Communities, 1 Land Parcel $273,896 $163,352 $17.588 $145,764

0 Activity includes amounts related to the disposition of a partnership interest in which the Company held a 50% investment interest. Amounts exclude

dispositions to joint venture entities in which the Company rerains an ecenomic interest.

Same Store (Established) Communities

Identified by the Company as communities whete a comparison of operating results from the prior year to the current year is meaningful, as
these communicies were owned and had Stabilized Operations, as defined belcw, as of the beginning of the prior year. Therefore, for 2007,
Established Communities are consolidated communities chat have Stabilized Operations as of January 1, 2006 and are not conducting or
planning te conduct substantial redevelopment activities within the current year. Established Communities da net include communities that
are currently held for sale or planned for disposition during the current year.

64 AvalonBay Communities, Inc.



Stabilized/Restabilized Operations

The earlier of {i) attainment of 95% physical occupancy or (i} the one-year anniversary of campletion of development or redevelopment.

Dividend Payout Ratio
The percentage of earnings paid to shareholders in dividends, calculated as che yearly dividend per share divided by FFO per share. The payout

ratio provides an idea of how well carnings support the dividend payments.

Unleveraged IRR

Refers to the internal rate of rerurn on sold communities calculated by the Company considering the triming and amounts of (i) total revenue
during the period owned by the Company and (ii) the gross sales price net of selling costs, offset by (iii} the undepreciared capital cost of the
communities at the time of sale and (iv} total direct operating expenses during the period owned by the Company. Each of the items (i), (i),
(iii) and (iv) are calculated in accordance wicth GAAP

The calculation of Unleveraged IRR does not include an adjusement for the Company’s general and administrative expense, interest expense,
or corporate-level property management and other indirect operating expenses. Therefore, Unleveraged IRR is not a substitute for net income
as a measure of our performance. Management believes that the Unleveraged IRR achieved during the period a communiry is owned by
the Company is useful because it is ene indication of the gross value created by the Company’s acquisition, development or redevelopment,
management and sale of 2 communiry, before the impact of indirect expenses 2nd Company overhead. The Unleveraged IRR achieved on the
communities as cited in this annual report should not be viewed as an indication of the gross value created with respect to other communities
ownied by the Company, and the Company does not represenc that it will achieve similar Unleveraged IRRs upon the disposition of other
communities, The weighted average Unleveraged IRR for sold communities is weighted based on all cash flows over the holding period for

cach respective community, including net sales proceeds.

Stock Performance Graph

The stock performance graph provides a comparison, from December 2002 through December 2007, of the cumulative total sharcholder
return {assuming reinvestment of dividends) among the Company, the Standard & Poor’s (*S&P™) 500 Index, and a peer group index
composed of 15 publicly-traded apartment REITs, including the Company (the “FTSE NAREIT Apartment REIT Index”) based on an
initial purchase price of $100. The FTSE NAREIT Apartrment REIT Index includes only REITs thac invesc direcly or indirectly primarily
in the equiry ownership of multifamily residential apartment communiries. Upon written request to the Company's Secretary, the Company
will provide any stockholder with a list of REITs included in the FTSE NAREIT Apartment REIT Index. The historical information set forth
below is not necessarily indicative of future performance. Data for the FTSE NAREIT Apartment REIT Index and the S&P 500 Index were
provided to the Company by NAREIT.

STOCK PERFORMANCE
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2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

A AVB @ FTSE NAREIT Aparument REIT Index B S&P 500 Index
Source: NAREIT Benchmarked at 12/02=$100

Dec 2002 Dec 2003 Dec 2004 Dec 2005 Dec 2006 Dec 2007
S&P 500 Index $100 $129 $143 $150 $173 $183
FTSE NAREIT Apartment REIT Index 100 125 169 194 271 202
AvalonBay 100 130 215 264 395 295
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NYSE-AVH

This Annual Report, including the Leter
o Shareholders. contins “forward-looking
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Avalo

Co.\mu.\‘lfl 15, inc

r Avenué

2900 Fisenhow
« VA * '1?.314

site 300 ° Alexandris
v avalonbliy.comt



